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Washington, D.C. 20549
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OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

or
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ACT OF 1934
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each clas Name of each exchange on which register

Common Stock, $0.001 par valu NASDAQ Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) aie Act: NONE
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O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Sexti3 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wegjuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsite past 90 days. Yelx] No O



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of tthapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwas required to submit and post such filed)es No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (825 of this chapter) is not
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Act.
Large accelerated file Accelerated filel O
Non-accelerated file O Smaller reporting compar O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Acfyes O No

As of June 30, 2014, which was the last busineg®tithe registrant’s most recently completed seldistal quarter, the aggregate
market value of the registrant's common stock, @0.far value per share (the “Common Stock”) helddy-affiliates of the registrant on such
date was approximately $948.2 million. For purpasiethis calculation, only executives and directars deemed to be affiliates of the
registrant. At February 20, 2015, there were ontiitay 17,629,830 shares of the registrant’s Com8took.
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Iltem 1. Business
Overview

We are a leading global provider of digital teclogyl solutions to the oil and gas industry. Throagtontrolled and managed IP/MPLS
(Internet Protocol/Multiprotocol Label Switchinglofpal network, we deliver voice, data, video angeotcollaborative services under a multi-
tenant revenue model. Our customers use our seoarmunications and private extranet to managerimdition flows and execute mission-
critical operations primarily in remote areas whesaventional telecommunications infrastructureiieer unavailable or unreliable. We offer
our clients what is often the sole means of comiatiuns with their remote operations, includingsbfire and lantbased drilling rigs, offsho
and onshore production facilities, energy maritireesels and regional support offices. To ensurengeamum reliability demanded by our
customers, we deliver our services through our P8 global network, tuned and optimized for commaations with remote endpoints, that
serves oil and gas customers both in the Unite$tnd in international markets. As of Decembe2B14, we were the primary provider of
remote communications and collaborative servicempproximately 500 customers reaching about 1,26te sites located in approximately
50 countries on six continents. For the year erdkctember 31, 2014, our revenue generated from gesmutside of the U.S. represented
72.3% of total revenue.

The emergence of highly sophisticated processidgviaualization systems has allowed oil and gaspamies to make decisions base!
reliable and secure real-time information carrigcbr network from anywhere in the world to theamte offices. We deliver turkey solution:
and value-added services that simplify the managénfenultiple communications services, allowing customers to focus their attention on
their core oil and gas drilling and production ggms. Our customer solutions enable broadbara) daice and video communications with
quality, reliability, security and scalability thistsuperior to conventional switched transporivoeks. Key aspects of our services include:

. managed services solutions offered at a pey sir day subscription rate primarily through oostr agreements with terms that
typically range from one month to three years, witine customer agreement terms as long as five;

. enhanced end-to-end IP/MPLS global networknisuee significantly greater network reliabilitystar trouble shooting and service
restoration time and quality of service for varidosns of data traffic

. enhanced end-to-end IP/MPLS global network #tlatvs new components to be plugged into our ngtaod be immediately
available for use (plt-anc-play);

. a network designed to accommodate multipleacust groups resident at a site, including rig owr{drillers), operators, service
companies and p-pel-use individuals

. value-added services, such as remote videeoemfing, WAN acceleration and WiFi hotspots, bitingfthe multiple customer
groups resident at a si

. proactive network monitoring and managemerdugh a network operations center that actively gasaetwork reliability at all
times and serves as ar-bound call center for trouble shooting, 24 hounsdsg/, 365 days per ye:

. engineering and design services to determine theppate product and service solution for eachiarasr;

. telecoms systems integration services to desiggemble, install and commission turn-key sohgtifor customer
telecommunications systern

. installation of orsite equipment designed to perform in extreme andhhenvironments with minimal maintenance;

. maintenance and support through locally-depdogregineering and service support teams as wethashoused spare equipment
inventories,

We believe our solutions help our customers inadhsir revenue and better manage their costsemmdirce allocations through the
delivery, use and management of real-time inforamatiVe believe our commitment to our customersthacembedded nature of our solutions
strengthens and extends our customer relationships.
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We believe we have lower capital expenditures tither remote communications providers because wetlown or operate any
satellites, own terrestrial wireless facilities daddlines, or, as a general rule, own or operdaport facilities and data centers. In order to
provide our end-to-end services, we procure bantivifdm independent commercial satellite-serviggesrators and terrestrial wireless and
landline providers to meet the needs of our custsrte end-to-end IP-based communications. We gdigeswn the network infrastructure
and communications equipment we install at remibés sis well as co-located equipment in third ptetgport facilities and data centers, all of
which we procure through various high quality equémt providers. By owning the network infrastruetand communications equipment on
the customer premises, we are better able to etiseitEgh quality of our products and services diagnostically select the optimal equipment
suite and solution for each customer. Our netwak@mmunications services are designed to accomaad customers at remote oil and
gas sites including rig owners (drillers), operafaervice companies and pay-per-use individuat) as off-duty rig workers and visiting
contractors, vendors and other visitors. Our remotemunications services are initially offered tolers, and the initial capital investment is
scaled by up-selling communications services teroplarties present on the rigs, such as opera@rgce companies and pay-per-use
individuals, as well as through the cross-sellihgalue-added services.

For convenience in this Annual Report on Form 10/gNet”, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refr to RigNet, Inc. and its
subsidiaries taken as a whole, unless otherwissnot

Our Industry

The remote telecommunications industry is highlgnpetitive with a wide variety of companies and r@tential entrants from adjacent
vertical markets and from within the broader vathain. Within the remote telecommunications industre serve oil and gas companies that
operate their remote locations through global “glsvaonnected” networks driving demand for commutiices services and managed services
solutions that can operate reliably in increasingiyote areas under harsh environmental conditions.

The oil and gas industry depends on maximum réiippguality and continuity of products and seesc Oil and gas companies with
geographically dispersed operations are partigutadtivated to use secure and highly reliable comications networks due to several fact

. oil and gas companies rely on secure real-tiata collection and transfer methods for the saéeedficient coordination of remote
operations

. technological advances in drilling techniques, @nivy declining production from existing oil andsdeelds and strong hydrocarb
demand, have enabled increased exploitation ofiofésdeepwater reserves and development of uncbamehreserves (e.g.,
shales and tight sands) that require real-time aatass by personnel in field and head officeptomze performance and maintain
safety standards; ar

. transmission of increased data volumes andtimal data management and access to key decisikarmenable customers to
maximize operational results, safety and finang@aformance

While we experience competition in our markets bebeve that our established relationships with@uers and proven performance
serve as significant barriers to entry.

Operations

We are a global provider of managed remote commatioits, telecoms systems integration (project mamagt of turn-key engineered
telecommunications solutions) and collaborativeliappions dedicated to the oil and gas industrgufing on offshore and onshore drilling
rigs, energy production facilities and energy nigwét Our business operations are divided into thepertable segments: Eastern Hemisphere
Western Hemisphere and Telecoms Systems Integr@®i). For financial information about our repdifia segments, see Note 13Sefmen
Information” in our consolidated financial staterteimcluded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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. Eastern HemisphereOur Eastern Hemisphere segment provides remote cainations services for offshore and onshore dglli
rigs and production facilities, as well as, enesgpport vessels and other remote sites. Our Eadmisphere segment services
primarily performed out of our Norway, United Kinga, Qatar, and Singapore based offices for custoared rig sites located on
the eastern side of the Atlantic Ocean primarifitioé coasts of the United Kingdom, Norway, Westi@s, around the Indian
Ocean in Qatar, Saudi Arabia and India, aroundPtefic Ocean near Australia, and within the SdCitfina Sea

. Western HemisphereDur Western Hemisphere segment provides remote curications services for offshore and onshore dgl
rigs and production facilities, as well as, enesgpport vessels and other remote sites. Our Weldiemmsphere segment services
are primarily performed out of our United Stated &nazil based offices for onshore and offshoréamsrs and rig sites located on
the western side of the Atlantic Ocean primarilyhia United States, Canada, Mexico and Brazil waititin the Gulf of Mexico.

. Telecoms Systems Integration (T<. Our TSI segment designs, assembles, installeamanissions turn-key solutions for
customer telecommunications systems. TSI segméuticats are custom designed and engineered turrsédeyions based on the
customer’s specifications, as well as, internafiomdustry standards and best practices. TSI ptejaclude consultancy services,
design, engineering, project management, procurertesting, installation, and commissioning aneafiales service. Our TSI
segment services are primarily performed out ofldnited Kingdom and United States based officexfmtomers globally

As of December 31, 2014, we were serving 278 jacksami-submersible and drillship rigs which werappnate to be a 32.5% market
share of such rigs based on an IHS-Petrodata R@gBasent Activity report as of January 1, 2015diidnally, as of December 31, 2014, we
were serving 277 onshore drilling rigs in the Coatital U.S. We had approximately a 15.3% marketesfuet U.S. onshore drilling rigs based
on Spears and Associates Drilling and Productiotiocdk for December 2014. As of December 31, 20kd|ugling the sites acquired from
Inmarsat’'s Enterprise Energy business unit thaevpeimarily production facilities and energy supgpa@ssels, we were serving 307 strategic
initiative sites, which include production facidit, energy support vessels and international oasigs. As of December 31, 2014, we were
also serving 351 other sites, which include conimetacilities, remote support offices and supphgés.

Our Strategy
To serve our customers and grow our business, t@adrto pursue aggressively the following strategie
. expand our share of offshore and onshore drilligs;
. increase secondary customer penetration on ouirexiemote sites
. develop and market additional va-added products and services; i

. extend our market presence into complementary regmnhmunications segments through organic growdhsémategic acquisition

Expand our share of offshore and onshore drillinggs: We intend to expand our drilling rig market shayarxreasing our penetration
of the market for newly-built rigs, capturing exigf rigs from competitors because of our super@fgrmance, landing fleet-wide
opportunities with major drillers, capturing opporities made available as a result of potentidlimgirig industry consolidation and improvi
penetration in new and underserved geographic rsarBecause of our established relationships withcastomers, reliable and robust service
offerings and best-in-class customer service, vieveethat we are well-positioned to capture newdband reactivated stacked rigs that our
customers add to their fleets as well as to orgélygigain market share against other providersh@lgh management has observed the pace
cold stacking and scrapping of offshore rigs relgentreasing, management plans to aggressivelyusuhigher specification new build
offshore rigs. The table below presents globaldigaed floating rigs which, as of January 1, 2018,szheduled to be delivered between 2015
and 2018.
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Fixed and Floating Rigs Scheduled for Delivery
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Source: IHS-Petrodata RigBase Current Activity detaf January 1, 2015.

We intend to continue to expand our penetratiothefU.S. and international onshore drilling rig kedr Although, the Baker Hughes
U.S. land rig count has declined approximately 38%,310 in late February units since its receakps 1,931 in late November, we believe
we are well-positioned to increase our penetratidhis segment because of our experience in t&e @hshore drilling rig market, our in-depth
understanding of the needs of oil and gas custqrhigis quality of service and global data netwarkastructure.
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Increase secondary customer penetratidie intend to continue to scale our initial capitelestment with rig owners (drillers) by using
our incumbent position at remote sites to serveratisers on the rigs. We will seek to increasemaeevith low incremental capital costs by
up-selling our services to other parties on the, gyoduction platforms and energy support vessedijding drillers, operators, services
companies and pay-per-use individuals.

Develop and market additional value-added produatsl servicesWe intend to continue to serve our customers’ négds
commercializing additional products and serviced tomplement our wide array of available remotamainications services. We expect that
over the next several years our customer baseeqgllire a variety of advanced products such astireal functionality, videoconferencing,
software acceleration technology, WiFi hotspots mmedlia. These products will be further supportedimyacquired telecoms systems
integration solutions and other services designeddet the infrastructure needs of our customers.

Additionally, with the continuously growing demafad communication-based products and increasedarktapeed in the oil and gas
industry, we expect bandwidth requirements forexisting customers to continue to increase. Thraughtengineering expertise, technical
sales force and operational capabilities, we vafitihue to position ourselves to capture new busimpportunities and offer our customers a
full range of remote communications services dedit levels within customer organizations.

Extend our market presence into complementary reexobmmunications segments through organic growthdastrategic acquisitions:
Our market presence and proven quality of servifar significant organic growth opportunities indated adjacent upstream energy segment
where we are well positioned to deliver remote camitations solutions. Targeted segments includeeg® energy vessels (including
seismic and offshore support and supply vessdifshare fixed and floating production facilitiesdamternational onshore drilling rigs and
production facilities.

In addition, we will continue to look for and rewiepportunities in other remote communications ratiddjacencies that offer signific:
opportunities for growth and where we are well posed to take advantage of these opportunities.

We are also focused on expanding our competitivek@tgosition through strategic acquisitions. Asagatinue to focus on expanding
the target markets for our products, services ahdiens, we plan to selectively acquire compamied/or technologies that would be
complementary to our existing business. Strategfgigition opportunities may be pursued to enhanceoperations and further our strategic
objectives.

In 2014, with the acquisition of Inmarsat’'s EntésprEnergy business unit, we expanded our sertacieslude microwave and WiMAX
networks in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico serving drikeproducers and energy vessel owners, VSAT intere€anada, an M2M SCADA VSAT
network in the continental U.S. serving the pipelindustry, a worldwide telecommunications systérmegration business and a global L-banc
MSS retail energy business.

Additionally, we finalized an agreement with Inmetro be a distribution partner to deliver Inmass@lobal Xpress (GX) and L-band
services to the energy sector worldwide.
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Competitive Strengths
As a leading global provider of digital technolagplutions to the oil and gas industry, our compagistrengths include:
. missior-critical services delivered by a trusted providéhva global network and operatiot
. high-quality customer support with full time monitoriagd regional service cente
. operational leverage and multiple paths to growttpsrted by a plt-anc-play IP/MPLS global platforrr
. scalable telecoms systems using standardized equiptimat leverage our global infrastructt
. customized telecoms systems integration solutioogiged by expert telecoms systems engine
. flexible, provide-neutral technology platforn
. long-term relationships with leading companies in tHeand gas industry; ar

. the ability to design and implement a broadyeaaf communication solutions using a range ofdfesgies and modes of
communication

Mission-critical services delivered by a trustecopider with global operationsOur focus on the oil and gas industry provides iik an
in-depth understanding of the mission-critical reeetlour customers that enables us to tailor owiees to their requirements. Our network
reliability and responsive customer service, alatityy the high switching costs associated with cliag@ut remote communications providers,
provide us with a high rate of customer retenti@nr global presence allows us to serve our cliardsnd the world, except where U.S.
government restrictions may apply. Our global wrial network also allows us to provide qualitysefvice to prioritize various forms of data
traffic for a more pleasing end user experience. &bility to offer our customers such global coggraets us apart from regional competito
a time when our customers are expanding the gebigragach of their own businesses, exploring fband gas reserves in more remote
locations and seeking remote communications parthet can match the breadth of their global opmratand speed of deployment.

High-quality customer support with full-time moniting and regional service center©ur IP/MPLS global network allows us to
provide high quality customer care by enablingausibnitor the network end-to-end so that we cailyeasd rapidly identify and resolve any
network problems that our customers may experiehs@f December 31, 2014, we had 44 service omaraitenters and warehouses to
support and service our customermote sites. A Global Network Operations Centeated in Houston, Texas is staffed 24 hours pey 86f
days per year. We provide non-stop, end-to-end toong and technical support for every customeis phoactive network monitoring allows
us to detect problems instantly and keep our sesvianning at optimum efficiency. Fully managecdtedogy is a key reason why we can
support solutions that deliver high performance aew technologies that improve productivity. AdDefcember 31, 2014, our onshore service
were supported through a network of 15 field sendgenters and equipment depots, located in mdjandigas regions in the continental
United States. Our onshore footprint allows usepond with high quality same-day service for tharter drilling cycles inherent in onshore
drilling where rapid installation, decommissioniagd repair services are required. We maintain fisttinicians as well as adequate spare
and equipment inventory levels in these serviceeren

Operational leverage and multiple paths to growthpported by a plug-and-play IP/MPLS platforn®ur scalable, standardized
communications platform provides us with plug-ataypapabilities to easily expand or improve sexwfferings. Our IP/MPLS global
platform allows us the ability to add additionahdees to our standard offerings or change ouriserofferings on a rig, production platform or
energy support vessel with little incremental aoste installed onsite. We can offer these sentiwedl users of the rig, production platform or
energy support vessel, including drillers, opeigteervice companies and pay-per-use individuats) as off-duty rig workers and visiting
contractors, vendors and others. We expect thisgatipg leverage to help drive an expansion in odjusted EBITDA as we grow, which is
defined in Item 6. “Selected Financial Data” ofstlinnual Report on Form 10-K. We expect the denfandur products and services to
continue to increase as oil and gas producersragnto invest in the infrastructure needed to cornially produce deepwater and increasingly
remote reserves. Our IP/MPLS global platform givesn important advantage by offering greaterbgifg, scalability, flexibility and securit
than conventional switched transports and accdontshat we believe to be a key reason for the mtashare we have today of remote
installations on offshore and onshore drilling nigigh the potential that we can lift that markeashover time.
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Scalable systems using standardized equipment linagrages our global infrastructuréVe have built our global satellite and terrestria
network with a significant amount of excess capattitsupport our growth without substantial incremaé capital investment. Our knowledge
and capabilities can be applied to rigs and otberote sites located anywhere in the world. We instandardized equipment on each rig or
remote site, which allows us to provide support araintenance services for our equipment in a cifisient manner. Not all of the
components of equipment that we install on eaclamggthe same, but the components that vary ar@drm number and tend to be the same
for rigs located in the same geography. As of Ddmm31, 2014, we leased capacity from 44 satellited are cdecated in 26 teleports and
datacenters worldwide in order to provide our emaitd solutions. By leasing rather than owningretwork enablers and owning the on-site
equipment on each rig, we are able to both minirtheecapital investment required by the base ndtidrastructure and maintain the
flexibility to install high quality equipment on elarig tailored to its locale and environmental ditions. We do own and manage the IP layer
end-to-end. The standardized nature of our equipm@rimizes execution risk, lowers maintenance iavéntory carrying costs and enables
ease of service support. In addition, we are ablernain current with technology upgrades due tdbagk-end flexibility.

Customized telecoms systems integration solutiommiodled by expert telecoms systems engine€hsough the acquisition of Nessco
Group Holdings Ltd (Nessco) and Inmarsat's EntesgEnergy business unit, we now provide custontiziedoms systems integration
solutions. As the demand for additional telecomroatidons products and telecoms systems continuiesiease with each new technological
advance, the need for well-designed, efficient @tidble network infrastructures becomes incredginigal to remote communications
customers. Our telecoms systems integration solsidoe custom designed, built and tested by erpgiheers based on the customer’s
specifications and requirements, as well as intemal industry standards and best practices. Themdces provide customers with improved
telecoms system reliability, operational efficieranyd cost savings. For those customers requirirable remote communications services and
customized solutions for their network infrastrue) RigNet provides a one-stop-shop to satisfgaltmands.

Flexible, provider-neutral technology platfornrBecause we procure communications connections afwebrks and equipment from th
parties, we are able to customize the best solfitioaur customers’ needs and reduce our requixed ftapital investments. We aim to
preserve the flexibility to select particular seevproviders and equipment so that we may accekplayroviders and avoid downtime if any
of our initial providers were to experience anylpems. By procuring bandwidth from a variety of commications providers instead of own
our own satellites, we are able to minimize capitaéstment requirements and can expand our gebigrapverage in response to customers’
needs with much greater flexibility. Our productiaervice portfolio offers best-in-class technolpdptforms using the optimal suite
communications and networking capabilities for oostrs. This best-of-breed approach does contraéistsmime of our larger competitors who
are more backward integrated in the value chainhave a more limited solutions toolkit as a result.

Long-term relationships with leading companies ing oil and gas industryWe have established relationships with some ofatgest
companies in the global oil and gas industry. Sofreur key customers are the leading contractestslaround the globe, with combined
offshore fleets of hundreds of rigs, as well aslieg oil and gas companies, oilfield services figns engineering and construction companie:s
In most cases, these customers are investment gagadbcompanies with high standards of servicefthvar strategic providers such as RigNe:
and work in partnership with us to serve their reamaperations.

The ability to design and implement a broad rangecommunication solutions using a range of frequeies and modes of
communication:We have the ability to design and implement a bmaadje of communication solutions using a rangeesfuencies and mod
of communication. These modes of communicatioruidelwired, wireless satellite Ku, C, L and Ka baasgsvell as wireless WiMAX and
Line-of-Sight (LOS) microwave. This range of comrimations solutions allows us to offer competitivelaeliable communications solutions
in a broad range of remote geographic locationg&bar customer base of leading global drillinggleration and production and oilfield
service customers operate. This helps us meetustomers’ requirements for choosing their provisleb@sed on maximum reliability while
factoring price.
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Service Offerings

We offer a comprehensive communications packag®eiog, data, video, networking and real-time datamagement to offshore and land
based remote locations. We are a single sourcé@mdyprovider that links multiple offshore or retasite rigs and production facilities with
real-time onshore decision centers and applications

The main services we offer are high quality voieerelnternet-protocol, or VolP, data and high-spbgdrnet access. In addition, we
increasingly provide other value-added servicesh s1$ video conferencing solutions, TurboNet WA (fide area network) acceleration
solutions, real-time data management solutionsFiMietspots and Internet kiosks, wireless intercams handheld radios. The price for these
value-added services is generally included in tnerdte and becomes incorporated into the recuremgnue from our customers.

Telecoms Systems Integration

As the demand for additional telecommunicationglpots and telecoms systems continues to incredbeeatch new technological
advance, the need for well-designed, efficient mtidble network infrastructures becomes incredginigal to our customers. Our telecoms
systems integration solutions are custom desiggrggineered and built based on the customer’s $patifins and requirements, as well as
international industry standards and best practi€ash telecoms systems integration project indwmsultancy services, design, engineel
project management, procurement, testing, insimtiatommissioning and after-sales service. Thesdces provide our customers with
improved telecoms systems reliability, operaticgféitiency and cost savings.

Our telecoms systems integration services are gedvout of our custom built, 3,000 square footlites in Aberdeen, Scotland. This
facility has been specifically designed to factbtéhe end-to-end process of telecoms systems mieeh&abrication, build and assembly
through to final Telecoms Systems Integration Tes(SIT) and Factory Acceptance Testing (FAT). Waekshops are fully provisioned with
all the tools, equipment and the skilled enginema technicians necessary to complete all opesatiohouse, maintaining total control of both
of the engineering and quality of all the processeslved in the completion of each project.

Video Conferencing Solutions

The oil and gas industry increasingly uses vidatf@@ncing to save significant amounts of time gedlice costs. As an alternative to
excessive travel and traditional meetings, videtf@@ncing improves collaboration and expeditessitat making. We provide a complete,
high-performance video conferencing solution sdalédr a wide range of uses. Increasingly, we a@aling videoconferencing solutions to
remote sites, allowing our customers to conduatirgeand reliable videoconferences between theiresffand their remote sites.

We also offer high-resolution hand held wirelessieeas through our Remote View service that alloxgreds in offices to troubleshoot
equipment at remote sites, which can save custotineesand money, with recent successful deploymiantse Gulf of Mexico and the North
Sea.

TurboNet Solutions

Our customers are increasingly pushing softwardicaijpn use to the edge of their networks (rensites such as drilling rigs,
production facilities and vessels). While VSAT centions are reliable, many software applicatiomsrent designed to perform optimally over
highly latent satellite links. Working with Riverd&@ echnology, Inc., or Riverbed, we deploy infrasture appliances to improve the
performance of client-server interactions over WAN#hout breaking the semantics of the protocals,dystems or applications. Whether our
customers are copying a file from a distant fileveg getting mail from a remote exchange servackinmg up remote file servers to a main
datacenter or sending very large files to colleaqtéheadquarters, slow WANs cost time and monkg.cbsts are borne in redundant
infrastructure, over-provisioned bandwidth, and fp®ductivity.

Working with Riverbed’s appliances, RigNet's Turketiéolution can improve the performance, or thrgughof client-server
interactions over WANSs by up to 100 times, givihg £nd user the appearance that the server isridbar than remote. That degree of
apparent network speed improvement enables ounroess to centralize currently distributed resoutitesstorage, mail servers and file
servers and deliver new WAN-based IT servicesliage not been possible before. Not only do thevewé applications perform more as they
would in offices, but our customers may better mpte the use of expensive satellite bandwidth.
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Wi-Fi Hotspot and Internet Kiosk

We offer WiFi hotspot and Internet kiosk solutidhat facilitate access to the Internet by rig-bgsedonnel. This is advantageous for ri
owners (drillers) who seek to improve the qualityife for employees by providing Internet accesshie living quarters, and for service
companies that seek office-like connectivity fagititechnicians and engineers. The WiFi hotspotlatetnet kiosk solutions provide ready
access with a familiar user interface without reiqgi specialized equipment to connect to the servibiese solutions are generally paid for by
the business customer as a benefit to its remoptogees.

SOIL (Secure Qil Information Link)

In addition to the services we provide to offshanel onshore remote sites, we also operate a pragyriextranet, known as the Secure
Information Link (SOIL), enabling oil companies atiekir counterparties, such as rig owners (dri)lessrvice companies and application
service providers, to connect and collaborate bigh-speed, secure and reliable basis. As of DeeeBih 2014, SOIL’s value-added services
were being provided to more than 200 oil and gasaiprs, service companies and other industry gnsghroughout the North Sea region.
These customers use SOIL services to collaboratepairtners and suppliers or for internal compamymunications.

The SOIL network is a fully managed, high-performemmembers-only communications network hub thabkss collaborative partners,
suppliers and customers to transfer and shareqdiathly, reliably and securely. We believe thastbne-to-many private extranet is a cost
effective and easy-to-deploy alternative to buigdout point-to-point VPN (virtual private networ&pnnections. The network members do not
have to extend the extranet to other partnersmplgrs individually. With one link to SOIL, cliestare connected to all other members.

With a service level uptime commitment of 99.9%, ttuo SOIL nodes, which support a wide range ofdvedths from 64 Kbps to 10
Ghps, offering speed and reliability ideal for aigty of applications used in the oil and gas iriduas well as value-added services we provid
such as SOIL Meeting (video conferencing) and SBdisting (application hosting). SOIL offers cliewfgality of service and a guaranteed
bandwidth that may be increased or decreased angaairequirements.

We charge a monthly subscription fee for accesld&EOIL network depending on the desired accessdspn addition, we charge for
installation of the required equipment and valudeatiservices.

Customer Contracts

In order to streamline the addition of new projeuts solidify our position in the market, we haigned agreements with most custon
that define the contractual relationship with @itlagas producers, service companies and drillimgpamies for our offshore and land-based
telecommunications services. The specific sendiedsg provided are defined under individual serdogers that have a term of one to three
years with renewal options, while le-based locations are generally shorter term oritexibbe on short notice without penalty. Serviceensd
are executed under the customer agreements foidodi remote sites or groups of sites, and gelyemzy be terminated early on short notice
without penalty in the event of force majeure, bteaf the agreement or cold stacking of a drillirig

Customers

We have an international customer base comprisiagynof the largest drilling contractors, exploratemd production companies and
oilfield services companies. Although no singletooger accounted for 10.0% or more of revenue ird200r top 5 customers accounted for
22.9% of our total revenue for 2014.

Suppliers

Although we have preferred suppliers of telecomratibns and networking equipment, nearly all tedbapp utilized in our solutions is
available from more than one supplier. The staridaddequipment may be deployed across any sitig @m any geographic area.
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In addition, we do not rely on one satellite prevrior our entire satellite bandwidth needs exéeptertain instances in which only one
satellite bandwidth provider is available in an igieg location, which is typically due to licengirestrictions. This approach generally allows
us flexibility to use the satellite provider thdfess the best service for specific areas and smghk providers if one provider experiences any
problems.

Competition

The remote telecommunications industry is highlgpetitive. We expect competition in the markets tha serve to persist, intensify
and change. We face varying degrees of compefitton a wide variety of companies, including newepttal entrants from providers to
adjacent vertical markets and from forward inteigraby some of our suppliers deeper in the indusaitye chain, since successful service and
system development is not necessarily dependemt sytostantial financial resources.

Our primary global competitor in upstream oil aras @s Harris Corporation’s Harris Cap Rock Commatigns. In addition, there are a
range of regional providers serving smaller custsm®pecifically in our U.S. onshore operations,alg® face competition from: wireless
network providers; drilling instrumentation provideliving quarters companies; and other pure-playiders like us.

Our customers generally choose their provider(sgtan the quality and reliability of the serviceldhe ability to restore service quicl
when there is an outage. Pricing and breadth efaeofferings is also a factor. The oil and gatustry depends on maximum reliability,
quality and continuity of products and service.abfished relationships with customers and provefopeance serve as significant barriers to
entry.

Government Regulation

The provision of telecommunications is highly regatl. We are required to comply with the laws @gllations of, and often obtain
approvals from, national and local authoritiesammection with most of the services we providethim United States, we are subject to the
regulatory authority of the United States, primatile Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Ratigun of the telecommunications
industry continues to change rapidly. Our U.S. iseivare currently provided on a private carriegidband are therefore subject to light
regulation under the U.S. Communications Act amdrthes and regulations of the FCC. If the FCCrar or more state public utility
commissions determine that these services or thvéces of our subsidiaries or affiliates constitatenmon carrier offerings subject to comn
carrier regulations we may be subject to significsts to ensure compliance with the applicabdeipions of those laws and regulations. We
may be subject to enforcement actions including nioti limited to, fines, cease and desist ordarstleer penalties if we fail to comply with
those requirements.

In 2014, we completed the purchase of Inmarsattergrise Energy business unit. As part of the aitioh Inmarsat transferred licenses
with rights to the electromagnetic spectrum, inglgdixed microwave licenses, very small apertemarinal (VSAT) earth station licenses,
various private and commercial mobile radio serlimenses, broadband radio licenses and leasegifeless communications service licenses
Failure to maintain licenses could subject RigNdiries imposed by the FCC. RigNet also acquirgtiarization to provide intrastate
telecommunications services in two states: Texdd.auisiana. As a result of these additional prédund service offerings and the multiple
licenses acquired from Inmarsat, RigNet was sultgentore expansive, and in some cases, more sttimggulation than in the past.

We are subject to export control laws and reguatiocrade and economic sanction laws and reguktibthe United States with respect
to the export of telecommunications equipment amdises. Certain aspects of our business
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are also subject to state and local regulationtyieally have to register to provide our teleconmications services in each country in which
we do business. The laws and regulations govethiege services are often complex and subject togehaith little notice. At times, the rigs
or vessels on which our equipment is located amdhich our services are provided will need to opeea a new location on short notice and
we must quickly register to provide our servicesuigh country. Failure to comply with any of thevéaand regulations to which we are subject
may result in various sanctions, including finessl of authorizations and denial of applicatiomsnfaw authorizations or for renewal of exist
authorizations. We are also subject to the For€igmupt Practices Act, which prohibits payment nbés or giving anything of value to
foreign government officials for the purpose ofabing or retaining business or gaining a competitidvantage.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately 688ime employees consisting of 60 employees lassand marketing, 157
employees in finance and administration, 460 eng®gyin operations and technical support and 21mrees in management.

Effective January 1, 2014 we initiated matchingtdbntions in our 401(k) plan pursuant to whictgédie employees may make
contributions through a payroll deduction. We medagching cash contributions of 100% of each empdtsyeontribution up to 2.0% of that
employee’s eligible compensation and 50% of eacpl@yee’s contribution between 2% and 6% of suchleyge’s eligible compensation, up
to the maximum amount permitted by law.

We believe our employee relations are good.

Geographic Information

See Note 13—“Segment Information,” to our consaéddinancial statements included elsewhere inAhisual Report on Form 10-K
for more information regarding geographic areaseme.

Other Information
Corporate Structure and History

We were incorporated in Delaware on July 6, 2004. edecessor began operations in 2000 as Rigidetd Texas corporation. In July
2004, our predecessor merged into us. The comntigrsaservices we provide to the offshore drillangd production industry were establis
in 2001 by our predecessor, who established irofi@rations in the Asia Pacific region. We havesievolved into one of the leading global
providers of remote communications services indffighore drilling and production industry.

Our continued organic growth has also been complieteby several strategic acquisitions which haymeded our service offerings. In
2014, with the acquisition of InmarsaEnterprise Energy business unit, we expandedeices to include microwave and WiMAX netwo
in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico serving drillers, prodirs and energy vessel owners; VSAT interests ira@anan M2M SCADA VSAT network
the continental U.S. serving the pipeline industryyorldwide telecommunications systems integratiosiness; and a globallland MSS rets
energy business.

Principal Executive Offices

Our principal executive offices are located at 188Mairy Ashford, Suite 300, Houston, Texas 77@0r main telephone number is +1
(281) 674-0100.

Company Website

The Company’s internet website is www.rig.net. Th@mpany makes available free of charge on its iebginual Reports on Form 10-
K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, current reportd~orm 8-K, and amendments to those reports éitddrnished pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934am&nded.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardkimg statements, within the meaning of Section ?7#e Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Bgehact of 1934, as amended, that are subjechtor@er of risks and uncertainties, many
of which are beyond the Company’s control. Theategtents may include statements about:

. new regulations, delays in drilling permits or athbanges in the drilling industr

. competition and competitive factors in the marketahich we operate

. demand for our products and servic

. the advantages of our services compared to ot

. changes in customer preferences and our abiliépt our product and services offerir

. our ability to develop and maintain positive redaships with our customet

. our ability to retain and hire necessary employsesappropriately staff our marketing, sales astribution efforts
. our cash needs and expectations regarding casHridowoperations and capital expenditul

. our ability to manage and grow our businessettute our business strategy, including expandimgenetration of the U.S. and
international onshore and offshore drilling ri

. our strategy
. our upcoming resource reallocation activities aaldted expenst
. our financial performance, including our abilityegpand Adjusted EBITDA through our operationakiage; ant

. the costs associated with being a public comp

These forward-looking statements may be foundamli. “Business;” Iltem 1A. “Risk Factors;” Item“Klanagement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems” and other items within this Annual Repartform 10-K. In some cases, forward-
looking statements can be identified by terminoleggh as “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “expegt“plan,” “project,” “intend,”
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “pential,” “pursue,” “target,” “continue,” the negee of such terms or other comparable
terminology that convey uncertainty of future eweot outcomes. All of these types of statementgrahan statements of historical fact

included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, arexfard-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements contained in thim#al Report on Form 10-K are largely based on Comeaxpectations, which reflect
estimates and assumptions made by Company managérhese estimates and assumptions reflect managsnbest judgment based on
currently known market conditions and other fact®ithough the Company believes such estimatesaasdmptions to be reasonable, they ar
inherently uncertain and involve a number of rigksl uncertainties beyond its control. In additimanagement’s assumptions may prove to b
inaccurate. The Company cautions that the forwaodtihg statements contained in this Annual Reportorm 10-K are not guarantees of
future performance, and it cannot assure any rahdéesuch statements will be realized or the fodaaoking statements or events will occur.
Future results may differ materially from thoseigipated or implied in forward looking statementsedo factors listed in the “Risk Factors”
section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on FDAK. If one or more of these factors material@eif any underlying assumptions prove
incorrect, our future results, performance or agieents may vary materially from any future resyderformance or achievements expressec
or implied by these forward-looking statements. Tdravard-looking statements speak only as of thte deade, and other than as required by
law, the Company undertakes no obligation to pliblipdate or revise any forward-looking statemeritether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

13



Table of Contents

About Third-Party Information

In this report, the Company relies on and refeisflarmation regarding industry data obtained frorarket research, publicly available
information, industry publications, and other thirarties. Although the Company believes the infdiomais reliable, it cannot guarantee the
accuracy or completeness of the information ane mt independently verified it.
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

Our business has many risks. Factors that couldmalfly affect our business, financial positiongogting results or liquidity and the
trading price of our common stock are describedweT his information should be considered carefulhgether with other information in this
report and other reports and materials we file with Securities and Exchange Commission, or the. SEC

We are subject to the volatility of the global @ihd gas industry and our business is likely to ftuate with the level of global activity for
oil and natural gas exploration, development andogiuction.

Our business depends on the oil and natural gastrydand particularly on the level of activity foit and natural gas exploration,
development and production. Demand for our remoierounication services and collaborative applicatidaepends on our customers’
willingness to make operating and capital expeme#uo explore, develop and produce oil and nagaalin the regions in which we operate ol
may operate. Our business will suffer if these exiteres decline. Our customers’ willingness tolexg develop and produce oil and natural
gas depends largely upon prevailing market constibat are influenced by numerous factors oveclvhie have no control, including:

. the supply and demand for oil and natural |

. the supply and demand for drilling rigs and sersj

. oil and natural gas prices and expectations ahdutd prices

. the expected rate of decline in producti

. the discovery rate of new oil and gas reser

. the ability of the Organization of Petroleum ExjrogtCountries, or OPEC, to influence and maintaodpction levels and pricing
. the level of production in n-cOPEC countries

. the worldwide political and military environmieimcluding uncertainty or instability resultingpfn an escalation or additional
outbreak of armed hostilities or other crises imoinatural gas producing areas of the Middle Bast other crude oil and natural
gas producing regions or further acts of terrorigiihe United States, or elsewhe

. the political and legislative framework govergithe activities of oil and natural gas companiesduding the impact of changing
regulations and environmental and safety rulespatidies, changes to regulations, rules and pdjdialowing oil spills and other
pollution by the oil and gas industry, and legiskatand regulatory interest to limit or further vdate drilling and hydraulic
fracturing activities

. advances in exploration, development and produd¢&ohnology:
. the global economic environment; &

. the price and availability of alternatives to fd$sels.

The level of activity in the oil and natural gagpkration and production industry has historicddéen volatile and cyclical. A material
decline in oil and natural gas exploration, deveiept or production activity levels could harm ousimess, financial condition and results of
operations.

If oil prices experience further price declines,amarket price for our stock may be adversely imieac

Oil prices have undergone a significant and susthdecline during the second half of 2014 and oairig into 2015. Recent volatility
has seen WTI oil prices drop from a high of $1086&lune 20, 2014, to a low of $44.08 on Januay®@85. During this time, the closing
price for our common stock as reported by NASDAQIlided from a high of $57.04 on July 14, 2014 fow of $32.16 on January 28, 2015.
This near term volatility may affect future priages2015 and beyond. The volatility of the energyrkets make it difficult to predict future oil
and natural gas price movements with any certaftiiough we believe our customers will be dependgon real-time voice and data
communication services and systems integratiortisolsito optimize their oil and gas production aleselopment in an environment with
lower energy prices, a prolonged significant reaburcin the price of oil and natural gas will likedffect drilling and production levels and
therefore could affect demand for the communication
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services and systems integration solutions we geovin addition, a prolonged significant reductiorenergy prices could make it more
difficult for us to collect outstanding account ea@bles from our customers. As such, if oil pritase continued stagnation or experience
further price declines, our results of operationd the market price of our stock could be adversepacted which could subject our
shareholders to losses and us to takeover bidsadrtb action by NASDAQ.

An impairment of goodwill or intangibles could reae our earnings and stockholders’ equity.

As of December 31, 2014, our consolidated balaheetancludes $30.1 million in goodwill and $21.1lion of intangible assets. Refer
to Note 5 — “Goodwill and Intangibles” in our cotigated financial statements included in this AririReport on Form 10-K. Goodwill is
reviewed for impairment at least annually with aiddial evaluations being performed when eventsroumstances indicate that the carrying
value of these assets may not be recoverable.@lyilmpairment testing is performed on intangibléhen events or circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of the assets may not beverable. If we were to determine that any of retnaining balance of goodwill or intangib
was impaired, we would record an immediate non-chsinge to earnings with a corresponding redudtigzoodwill or intangibles, as
applicable, which could reduce our earnings anck$tolders’ equity.

In 2014, we recognized $2.7 million in impairmehgoodwill related to the TSI reporting unit. Suafpairment was a result of a
significant decline in oil prices and global oilchgas activity for which an impairment test wasf@ened as of December 31, 2014. This
circumstance resulted in a reduction in our caslv fbrojections in the revision of internal forecaspecifically the TSI segment was impactec
by declining contracted backlog, which reducedesiémated fair value of our TSI reporting unit lvelibs carrying value.

During our interim December 31, 2014 impairment, tée fair value of goodwill held by our North Aniea Land reporting unit, in our
Western Hemisphere reportable segment, exceedadncpralue by 5.1%. As of December 31, 2014, tbedyvill balance held by our North
America Land reporting unit was $10.9 million. Afuture downturn in our business could adverselyaathe key assumptions in our
goodwill impairment test. While we believe thatréa@ppears to be no indication of current or futtmeairment, historical operating results
may not be indicative of future operating resuttd avents and circumstances may occur causinggeting event in a period as short as three
months.

Our resource reallocation activities may negativétypact our operations.

In the first quarter of 2015, we commenced a s&ieseasures designed to reduce costs and improveompetitive position. As part of
these measures, we expect to record approximaée®yriillion of pre-tax expense in the first quadéf015, consisting primarily of employee
separation costs and costs associated with clagirigin company locations. Reductions in personragl adversely affect or delay various
sales, marketing and product development progranrd®perational activities and could have negatffects on our internal control over
financial reporting. These resource reallocatiaiviies could be disruptive to our business andeha material adverse effect on our financial
results.

Additionally, the Company may have additional f@t@ost saving activities, which could be disruptov®ur business and have a mate
adverse effect on our financial results.
Our ability to retain our existing customers dependn many factors, including:

. our successful execution of marketing and sstiegegies, including the acceptance of our vploeposition; service delivery and
customer care activities, including new accounugeand billing; and our credit and collection pas;

. our ability to successfully obtain additional firtamg for the continued operation and b-out of our systems and networl
. actual or perceived quality and coverage of owvogks;
. public perception about our brant

. our ability to anticipate and develop new onamced technologies, products and services thatteetive to existing or potential
customers
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. our ability to access additional bandwidth at cotitipe rates;
. our ability to attract, hire and maintain qualifipdrsonnel to meet custor’'s needs
. our ability to maintain and develop new sites fa placement of our equipment to provide our ses;

. our ability to anticipate and respond to vas@ompetitive factors affecting the industry, irdihg new technologies, products and
services that may be introduced by our competitdranges in consumer preferences, demographicstrendnomic conditions, a
discount pricing and other strategies that maynggeémented by our competitol

Our industry is highly competitive and if we do nobmpete successfully, our business, financial ciimeh and results of operations will be
harmed.

The telecommunications industry is highly compe¢itiwe expect both product and pricing competitmpersist and intensify. Increas
competition could cause reduced revenue, pricectezhs, reduced profits and loss of market shate.i@ustry is characterized by
competitive pressures to provide enhanced fundiigrfar the same or lower price with each new gatien of technology. As the prices of «
services decrease, we will need to sell more ses\and/or reduce the per-site costs to improveadntain our results of operations.
Historically, our primary global competitor has hegarris Corporation’s Harris CapRock CommunicatidRecently ITC Global, backed by a
private equity investment firm, has begun to exp@m@resence as an active provider of satellitaroanications service to the oil and gas,
mining and maritime markets. We also compete watfianal competitors in the countries in which wemgpe. Some of our competitors have
longer operating histories, substantially greatearfcial and other resources for developing newtgwis as well as for recruiting and retaining
qualified personnel. Their greater financial resegrmay also make them better able to withstanchtiowns in the market, to expand into new
areas more aggressively or to operate in develapidkets without immediate financial returns. Iliéidn, in certain markets outside of the
U.S., we face competition from local competitoratthrovide their services at a lower price duetedr overhead costs, including lower costs
of complying with applicable government regulati@msl their willingness to provide services for wéo profit margin. Strong competition a
significant investments by competitors to develeprrand better solutions may make it difficult ferto maintain our customer base, force |
reduce our prices or increase our costs to devedapsolutions.

Furthermore, competition may emerge from compathiaswe have previously not perceived as compstiboiconsolidation of our
industry may cause existing competitors to becoiggds and stronger with more resources, market emems and market share. As we expan
into new markets and geographic regions we mayrexpee increased competition from some of our cditgee that have prior experience or
other business in these markets or geographicnegin addition, some of our customers may de@dedource some of the communications
services and managed services solutions that wederdn particular our terrestrial communicati@nsces (e.g., terrestrial Line-of-Sight
(LOS) transport, microwave, Worldwide Interoperapifor Microwave Access, or WiMAX), which do nogquire the same level of
maintenance and support as our other servicesst@aess will depend on our ability to adapt to ¢hesmpetitive forces, to adapt to
technological advances, to develop more advanaadlipts more rapidly and less expensively than oorpetitors, to continue to develop and
deepen our global sales and business developmewntmeand to educate potential customers aboubémefits of using our solutions rather
than our competitors’ products and services opirreed solutions. Our failure to successfully regpto these competitive challenges could
harm our business, financial condition and reflisperations.
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Our industry is characterized by rapid technologlazhange, and if we fail to keep up with these clus or if access to
telecommunications in remote locations becomes easr less expensive, our business, financial cdiali and results of operations may
be harmed.

The communications industry is characterized bydrapanges in technology, new evolving standantgrging competition and freque
new product and service introductions. As an examptechnological change that could impact ouir®ss, some remote communications
providers are offering the use of Ka-band satedigevice, instead of or in addition to the Ku-bamdl C-band satellite space segments used
today. When this Ka-band service is made availatéch is expected to be in 3Q 2015, we may hawadtpt to its use, contracting with other
satellite operators, which might impair our busgg®ther providers are more successful in usiagidnd services to meet customer needs
than us.

Our future business prospects largely depend omloility to meet changing customer preferenceanticipate and respond to
technological changes and to develop competitioelyets. If alternative telecommunications servicesemote locations becomes more ree
accessible or less expensive than our servicefuminess will suffer. New disruptive technologiesild make our VSAT-based networks or
other services obsolete or less competitive thay #ne today, requiring us to reduce the pricesvtieaare able to charge for our services or
causing us to undergo expensive transitions totrewsport technologies. We may not be able to ssfaly respond to new technological
developments and challenges or identify and respoméw market opportunities, services or prodoffered by competitors. In addition, our
efforts to respond to technological innovations aathpetition may require significant capital invesnts and resources. Furthermore, we ma
not have the necessary resources to respond téecbwological changes and innovations and emei@intpetition. Failure to keep up with
future technological changes could harm our busirfagancial condition and results of operations.

Many of our potential clients are resistant to nesslutions and technologies which may limit our grttw

Although there is a strong focus on technology tgment within the oil industry, some of the comiesnin the upstream oil and gas
industry are relatively conservative and risk agesith respect to adopting new solutions and teldwies in the area of remote
communications due to these services being soraitaghighly-complex drilling, completion and praction operations. Some drilling
contractors, oil and gas companies and oilfieldisercompanies may choose not to adopt new sokiamd technology, such as our remote
communications and collaboration applications $ohg, which may limit our growth potential.

We have contractual commitments, under certain cd@imhs, for the purchase of GX space segment, andhie event that the GX Ka bar
service does not perform as expected or is not pteek by our customers, we may not be able to rdkellcapacity or may only be able to
make sales at prices that impair our margins anddncial results.

We do not own, lease or operate satellites. Weisegpace segment capacity from various providdistorically, we have purchased
space segment, on a regional basis, in contractiat®iop to $5.0 million, primarily C band and KundaWe have historically had multiple
contracts with each provider. In 2014, we entendéd &an agreement with Inmarsat to purchase, uraféaio conditions, up to $65.0 million of
Ka segment on Inmarsat’'s GX system over five yekns commitment is subject to a number of tecHracal other requirements, which if not
met, reduce the company'’s obligations below $651Bom. This capacity is expected to come onlin@#15 and is expected to supplement a
portion of existing Ku and C band services. In¢lrent that the new GX service does not perfornkxpeaed, is not accepted by a portion of
our customers as expected or is not sold at adaleppaices, our margins and financial results cdaddadversely impacted. The GX system
deployment will require capital expenditures tocglmew equipment with our customers, and if theggatem is not successful, we will not be
able to earn the financial returns consistent witbr investments and our margins and financialltssould be adversely impacted.

Our information systems and network are protecteddertain cyber security measures, and in the evibiatt the cyber security measures
fail or are otherwise not adequate, our systems rhaydamaged which could harm our business, finar@anditions and results of
operations.

We have in place layered cyber security systemigded to protect against certain events, includigntional or unintentional
disruption, failure, misappropriation or corruptiohour network and information systems. Eventthaf type might be caused by computer
hacking, malware, computer viruses, worms and atkstructive or disruptive software, “cyber-attdcksd other malicious activity, as well as
natural disasters, power outages, terrorist attankissimilar events. Such events could have anrsghimpact on us and our customers,
including degradation of service,
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service disruption, excessive call volume to caliters and damage to our facilities, equipmentdata. In addition, we could be adversely
affected by the theft, destruction, loss, misappation or release of confidential customer datantellectual property. Operational or business
delays may result from the disruption of networkrdormation systems and the subsequent remediatitivities. Moreover, these events may
create negative publicity resulting in reputatiorbcand damage with customers. In addition, thevagkts and information systems of our third-
party service providers and our customers may beevable to the events described above. Our custoamdracts, in general, do not contain
provisions which would protect us against liabilitythird-parties with whom our customers condugdibess. Although we have implemented
and intend to continue to implement industry stadagber practices and cyber security systemsgethgstems may prove to be inadequate ar
result in the disruption, failure, misappropriatiencorruption of our network and information syste We may be required to expend
significant resources to protect against thesetswvarto alleviate problems, including reputationaim and litigation, caused by these even
the failure or inadequacy of our security systewtsch could have a material adverse effect on agiress, financial condition and results of
operations.

Information technology infrastructure and securitgre critical to supporting our accounting and baakfice functions; failure of our
information technology infrastructure to operate fefctively could adversely affect our business, fitéal conditions and results of
operations.

We depend heavily on information technology infrasture to achieve our back office functions of@atting, invoicing, purchasing,
requisitioning, performing management’s analysigesilts and payroll. We continue to update andeod our information systems. If a
problem occurs that impairs or compromises thisastfucture, including security breaches or malisiattacks, or problems with systems
upgrades and/or new systems implementations, sudtireg disruption could impede our ability to perh accounting, invoice, process orders,
protect sensitive data of the Company, our custenuenr suppliers and business partners, or otherweiery on business in the normal course.
Any such events could cause us to lose customeérsrarevenue and could require us to incur sigaifteexpense to remediate, including as a
result of legal claims or proceedings. Additionalyy such events could adversely harm our legabunting and compliance capabilities
including but not limited to: our ability to timeljle reports with the Securities and Exchange Cassimn (SEC); timely file financial
statements required by certain statutes; timedyddmpliance reports with our lenders under ouditegreement; and timely file income taxes
with the IRS, foreign taxing authorities, and wiitleal taxing authorities.

The implementation of a new enterprise resourcerpiing (ERP) system could cause disruption to ther@many’s operations.

The Company is in the process of implementing a eetgrprise resource planning (ERP) system andcexpeat it will transition to the
new system as early as the second quarter of JBESCompany estimates that it may spend approxijn$6e0 million during the
implementation of the new ERP. The Company antiefpthat significant internal and external resosingi#l be required. However, if the
implementation of the ERP does not proceed as ¢geit could negatively impact the Company’s coti@perating service levels, require
additional resources and significant financial cdtrmants, result in potential transition delays, edp the Compang’ability to order material
generate management reports, invoice customergangly with laws and regulations. Any of thesedypf disruptions could have a material
adverse effect on the financial position and thartial results of the Company.

Our revenue and earnings are largely dependent ba award of new contracts that we do not directontrol.

A substantial portion of our revenue and earnisggeinerated from large-scale and increasinglynatenal project awards. The timing
of when project awards will be made is unpredicabid largely outside of our control. We operatkighly competitive markets where it is
difficult to predict whether and when we will reeeiawards since these awards and projects oftatvimeomplex and lengthy negotiations
bidding processes. These processes can be imgactedide variety of factors including financingntimgencies, commodity prices and
overall market and economic conditions. In additwa may not win contracts that we have bid upoatduprice, a client’s perception of our
ability to perform and/or perceived technology atteges held by others. In these highly competiiives, many of our competitors may be
more inclined to take greater or unusual riskseans and conditions in a contract that we mightdesm market or acceptable. Because a
significant portion of our revenue is generatedrfiarge projects, our results of operations cacttlate from quarter to quarter and year to
depending on whether and when project awards aomithe commencement date and progress of work angeawarded contracts. As a
result, we are subject to the risk of losing nevaals to competitors or the risk that revenue mayealerived from awarded projects as
quickly as anticipated.

19



Table of Contents

Many of our contracts with customers may be termied by our customers on short notice without peyalvhich could harm our
business, financial condition and results of opei@ts.

Customers may switch service providers without iring significant expense relative to the annuaitad the service. Our agreements
generally provide that in the event of prolongesslof service or for other good reasons, our custemay terminate service without penalty.
In addition, many of our customer agreements magtbmeinated by our customers for no reason and short notice. Terms of customer
agreements typically vary with a range from shertrt call out work to three years, with some custoaggeement terms as long as five years.
Work orders placed under such agreements may Ihavtesterms than the relevant customer agreemsrd.result, we may not be able to
retain our customers through the end of the tepasified in the customer agreements. If we areabt# to retain our customers, we would not
receive expected revenues and may continue to gusis, such as costs to secure satellite bandwidthr agreements with third party satellite
communication services providers which may notdeasily or as quickly terminated without penalgsulting in harm to our business,
financial condition and results of operations. T¢ss of a drilling contractor customer site carodiisit or eliminate our ability to provide
services to other customers on the affected dyiltigs.

Most of our contracts are on a fixed price basisdaif our costs increase, we may not be able to kerdhese cost increases.

Most of our contracts provide for a fixed price pgonth for our services. If our costs to providesi services increase, such as the ¢
secure bandwidth or personnel costs, we may nableeto offset our increased costs by increasiagdltes we charge our customers until our
next contract renewal, which could have a matadalkerse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

The termination or nonrenewal of the SOIL management agreement could niagay affect financial results we recognize frorha SOIL
network operations.

The North Sea consortium of companies who collettioversee SOIL have contracted with us to opdahaseprivate extranet for them.
This North Sea consortium of companies may findraltives to the SOIL service that could cause tteeterminate or not renew the current
SOIL service with us. If the consortium of companihoose to eliminate the SOIL service, find aeraltive communications solution, or if
they contract with another provider to manage S@derations, our financial results would be harmed.

Our use of the percentage-of-completion method o€aunting could result in a reduction or reversaf previously recorded revenue
or profits.

Under our accounting procedures, we measure angméee a large portion of our telecommunicatiortesys integration profits and
revenue under the percentage-of-completion acaayimtiethodology. This methodology allows us to redng revenue and profits ratably over
the life of a contract by comparing the amounthef tost incurred to date against the total amouobst expected to be incurred. The effect of
revisions to revenue and estimated cost is recondesh the amounts are known and can be reasonsiiityated. These revisions can occur at
any time and could result in a material reductioneversal of previously recorded revenue or psofit

We compete for satellite capacity for our servieasl any capacity constraints could harm our busise$inancial condition and results c
operations.

We compete for satellite capacity with a numbecahmercial entities, such as broadcasting compaaiesgovernmental entities, such
as the military. In certain markets, the availapiind pricing of capacity could be subject to cetfitjve pressure, such as during renewals.
There is no guarantee that we will be able to sethe capacity needed to conduct our operatioosragnt rates or levels going forward. The
inability to obtain sufficient satellite bandwidtim commercially reasonable terms could harm ouinkess, financial condition and results of
operations. In certain markets, the availabilitypahdwidth may be restricted by the local governmeéren needed to support its military, and
in the event of such an action, there is no guaratitat we will be able to secure the capacity eg¢o conduct our operations, which could
have a material adverse effect on our businesaial condition and results of operations.
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We rely on third parties to provide products and\dees for the operation of our business. Failuréy third party providers could harm
our business and reputation and result in loss afstomers and revenue.

A significant part of our operations and growth eegs on third party providers delivering reliabéenenunications connections,
networks, equipment, maintenance, repair and gatethnsponder capacity, subjecting our businegajtation and customer revenue to risks
beyond our control, such as:

. telecommunications failure
. saturation of communication connection points, meks and thir-party facilities;

. in-orbit risks for satellites including malfuimans, commonly referred to as anomalies, andsiotiis with meteoroids,
decommissioned spacecraft or other space de

. satellite manufacturing or control system err

. lack of communication service alternatives]uding failure of satellite providers to timely tape aging satellites with more
modern technology and updated capaci

. connecting to faulty equipmer

. human error

. natural disaster:

. unexpected equipment failut

. power loss

. labor strikes or work stoppage

. unauthorized access or security risks;

. sabotage or other intentional acts of vandal

Under most of our contracts with satellite serypeaviders, our satellite service providers do maeimnify us for such loss or damage to
our business resulting from certain risks, inclgdsatellite failures. If any potential claims rddalliabilities, we could be required to pay
damages or other penalties, which could harm osiness, financial condition and results of operatidEven if we take precautions, the
occurrence of any of these risks or other unargteigh problems arising from third party servicesld@asult in interruption in the services we
provide to customers. Any of these occurrencesdcbhatm our business, financial condition and resofitoperations.

Additionally, we rely upon and expect to continogely upon a limited number of third-party supmi¢o supply the equipment required
to provide our services, such as the equipmennstali on offshore drilling rigs in order to proeidemote communication services. Although
this equipment is commercially available from mthran one supplier, there are a limited number ppBers of such equipment. Further, price
and quality vary among suppliers. If the suppliEmger into competition with us, or if our competii@nter into exclusive or restrictive
arrangements with our suppliers, the availabilitg pricing of the equipment that we purchase cbeldnaterially adversely affected. In
addition, we prefer to use a small group of supplad standardized equipment as much as possilthaswe are installing generally the se
equipment and therefore can maintain smaller gtiesf replacement parts and equipment in our @arses. If we have to change suppliers
for any reason, we will incur additional costs do¢he lack of uniformity and need to warehouseaaber array of replacement parts and
equipment. In addition, we typically rely on ouruggment suppliers to obtain authorizations or tgp@rovals to operate the supplier’s
equipment in the various countries we offer servit¢g due to a highly protectionist country, oupplier or RigNet is not able to obtain such
equipment type-approvals from that country’s retpriave will not be able to operate that particidguipment and our pool of available
suppliers will be reduced.

Further, significant portions of the work performautler our systems integration contracts rely uhod-party suppliers for equipment
and materials. If the amounts we are required yofpaequipment and supplies exceed what we havmated, especially in a fixed-price
systems integration contract, we may suffer lossethese contracts. If a supplier fails to provsdeplies or equipment as required under a
negotiated contract for any reason, or provideplggor equipment that are not an acceptable tyuale may be required to source those
supplies or equipment on a delayed basis or ajlzehiprice than anticipated, which could negatiwelgact contract profitability. In addition,
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faulty equipment or materials could impact the allgroject, resulting in claims against us foldeé to meet required project specifications ol
time tables. These risks may be intensified if ¢h@sppliers experience financial difficulties ardiit difficult to obtain sufficient financing to
fund their operations or access to bonding, ancharable to provide the materials or supplies sagaey for our business. In addition, in
instances where we rely on a single contractedlgupp a small number of contracted suppliersrdtean be no assurance that the market)
can provide these products in a timely basis, the@tosts we had anticipated. A failure by a seppb comply with applicable laws, rules or
regulations could negatively impact our business.

Any failure on our part to perform under our cuséoreervice contracts due to the failures of oudtparty providers could result in;
(i) loss of revenue despite continued obligationdar our leasing arrangements; (ii) possible céamo@h of customer contracts; (iii) incurrence
of additional expenses to reposition customer aragno alternative satellites or otherwise finéralate service; (iv) incurrence of additional
expenses to replace existing equipment due todackntinued availability of such equipment or rieperts; (v) breach of contract claims; and
(vi) damage to our reputation, which could negdyiadfect our ability to retain existing customensto gain new business.

The loss of key personnel or the failure to attraad retain highly qualified personnel could comprise our ability to effectively manay
our business and pursue our growth strategy.

Our future performance depends on the continuedcgeof our key technical, development, sales,isesvand management personnel. i
particular, we are heavily dependent on the folimiwo key employees: our Chief Executive Officed &resident, who has been critical to
establishing our strategy and executing on oumassi model over the past five years; and our Viiesiéent of Business Services, who is the
technical architect of our global network and wleodsponsible for our global netwask’eliability, performance and security and thel@ation
of technological developments and their impact onbusiness. The loss of key employees could r@ssignificant disruptions to our
business, and the integration of replacement pasdaould be costly and time consuming, could cadghtional disruptions to our business,
and could be unsuccessful. We do not carry keyopdite insurance covering any of our employees.

Our future success also depends on our continuéty ab attract and retain highly qualified teckal, development, sales, services and
management personnel, including personnel in athefvarious regions of the world in which we operdhe current increase in the activity
level in the oil and gas industry and the limiteghly of skilled labor has made the competitiometimin and recruit qualified personnel intense
A significant increase in the wages paid by conmgeéimployers could reduce our skilled labor foicerease the wages that we must pay to
motivate, retain or recruit skilled employees ottho

In addition, wage inflation and the cost of retagbur key personnel in the face of competitionsiach personnel may increase our cost
faster than we may offset these costs with incitasiees or increased sales volume.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived fro a relatively small number of customers and thedoof any of these customers would
materially harm our business, financial conditionral results of operations.

We continue to diversify our customer base butstdeive a significant portion of our revenue framelatively small number of large
customers, among them being Royal Dutch ShellNfdble Corporation Plc, Ensco Plc, Seadrill and §amaOffshore Plc. Although none of
these customers represents more than 10% of ouabrevenue, should a material customer terminasggaificantly reduce its business with
us, our business, financial condition and resdltsperations would be materially harmed.

Bad weather in the Gulf of Mexico or other areas ete we operate could harm our business, financiahdition and results of
operations.

Certain areas in and near the Gulf of Mexico ameioareas in which our clients operate experienéavorable weather conditions,
including hurricanes and other extreme weather itiond, on a relatively frequent basis. A majorrstar threat of a major storm in these ai
may harm our business. Our clients’ drilling rigspduction platforms and other vessels in thesasaaee susceptible to damage and/or total
loss by these storms, which may cause them tongeloneed our communication services. Our equipmetiese rigs, platforms or vessels
could be damaged causing us to have service iptésns and lose business or incur significant cistéhe replacement of such equipment.
Even the threat of a very large storm will some8mause our clients to limit activities in an aa@a thus harm our business. Increased
unfavorable weather conditions could impair satettionnectivity, cause more sites to be shut daveh a
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generally cause activities to be limited so thatlmusiness may be harmed. This risk is more procedifor Line-of-Site (LOS) microwave
service, as there is a likely loss of service faittiple subsequent microwave sites in the netwetayr.

The microwave network acquired as part of the Innsat transaction is a Line-of-Site (LOS) systems ahd failure of one site in the
microwave network will likely lead to disruption afervice for subsequent microwave sites in the rmetwrelay.

A Line-of-Site (LOS) system operates by relayingmwave communications from one microwave sitenimtlaer that are within visible
sight of another in a microwave relay leg. Although Company makes reasonable attempts to builchdzhcy into the microwave system,
when a microwave site on a microwave relay is rexdi@operable subsequent dependent sites aresaidered inoperable. As such the risk of
a microwave site being rendered inoperable by vezatbchnical failure or other means will likelyscade to other dependent microwave sites
We do not insure for loss of a microwave site asibess interruption caused by the loss of sucteaasiwe believe the cost of such insurance
outweighs the risk of potential loss.

Any loss of a rig on which our equipment is locatedll likely lead to a complete loss of our equipmedn that rig and a loss of the
revenue related to that rig.

At the commencement of a new service contract fag,ave generally install approximately $0.1 nahito $0.6 million and as high as
$1.0 million worth of equipment on each offshordlidg rig. If a rig were to sink or incur substéltdamage for any reason, we would most
likely lose all of our equipment. We do not insfwe such losses as we believe the cost of suchianse outweighs the risk of potential loss. In
addition to the loss of the equipment, we woul@lljkose the revenue related to that rig undeteh@as of most of our existing contracts. Also,
we may be committed to paying the costs to seatsdlise bandwidth for that rig under agreementthwhird party satellite communication
providers even after the rig is no longer in segvicosses of rigs can occur as a result of cafasic@vents such as hurricanes, fire or sinking.
Such catastrophic events can occur without naticehave historically been infrequent.

Changes in the regulatory framework under which wperate could adversely affect our business prospec results of operations.

Some of our U.S. services are provided on a prigatger basis subject to light or no regulationtfsy Federal Communications
Commission (FCC) and other federal, state and lagahcies. If the FCC or one or more state publityucommissions determine that these
services or the services of our subsidiaries dliaés constitute common carrier offerings subjedhe U.S. Communications Act, associated
FCC regulations, and similar state laws, we maguigect to significant costs to ensure complianitk the applicable provisions of those laws
and regulations. We may be subject to enforcentigre including, but not limited to, fines, ceasel desist orders, or other penalties if we
fail to comply with those requirements.

In 2014, we completed the purchase of Inmarsattergrise Energy business unit which included sesyi€acilities and licenses,
including fixed microwave licenses, very small apex terminal (VSAT) earth station licenses, vasiguivate and commercial mobile radio
service licenses, broadband radio licenses andddas wireless communications service licensegNRi also acquired authorization to proy
intrastate telecommunications services in two statexas and Louisiana. As a result of these anditiproduct and service offerings and the
multiple licenses acquired from Inmarsat, during2(RigNet was subject to more expansive, andiimescases, more stringent regulation by
the FCC and state public utility commissions thathie past. As part of the Inmarsat integratiorcess, RigNet rescinded its Competitive
Local Exchange Carrier status in Texas and Louss@d its Interexchange Carrier status in Texaaliga its regulatory position as a private
carrier only.

The following is a summary of the regulatory enwimeent in which we currently operate and does nstiilee all present and proposed
international, federal, state and local legislatimil regulations affecting the communications itrgusome of which may change the way the
industry operates as a result of administrativgidicial proceedings or legislative initiatives. \Wannot predict the outcome of any of these
matters or the impact on our business.

As an evolving non-dominant international and daiesarrier under the U.S. Communications Act, meaded (the Act), among other
requirements, RigNet must pay various fees inclydiontribution of a percentage of its revenues ftelscommunications services to the
FCC's Universal Service Fund and other federal imogfunds to
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subsidize certain user segments, file various tepoomply with rules that protect customer infotim@a and the processing of emergency calls
and obtain regulatory approval prior to withdrawfngm the provision of regulated service or anyigrtesent of authorization or any transfet
legal or actual control of the Company. RigNetlgbasubject to the Communications Assistance fov Eaforcement Act (CALEA) and
associated FCC regulations which require teleconirations service providers and VolP providers tofigure their networks to facilitate
electronic surveillance by law enforcement authesit

Like the FCC, the state public utility commissiomgpose various regulatory fee, universal serviepprting and prior approval
requirements for transfer or assignments. The R@Csgate public utility commissions have jurisdiatito hear complaints regarding the
compliance or non-compliance with these and otbermon carrier requirements of the Act and the FCGQlss, and similar state laws.

If the FCC or a state public utility commissionelanines that RigNet has not complied with fedenal/ar state regulatory requirements,
we may be subject to enforcement actions includig not limited to, fines, cease and desist orde@nse revocation, or other penalties.

Our international operations are also regulatedarious non-U.S. governments and international émdihese regulatory regimes
frequently require that we maintain licenses for @perations and conduct our operations in accamarith prescribed standards and
requirements The adoption of new laws or regulatichanges to the existing regulatory frameworly imterpretations of the laws that apply
to our operations, or the loss of, or a materralthtion on, any of our material licenses couldeniatly harm our business, results of operation
and financial condition.

If we infringe or if third parties assert that weniringe third party intellectual property rights weould incur significant costs and incur
significant harm to our business.

Third parties may assert infringement or otherliet¢éual property claims against us, which coulsutein substantial damages if it is
ultimately determined that our services infringthiad party’s proprietary rights. Even if claimsawithout merit, defending a lawsuit takes
significant time, may be expensive and may diveaahagement’s attention from our other business aasce

Our intellectual property rights are valuable, arghy failure or inability to sufficiently protect tem could harm our business and our
operating results.

We own, and maintain certain intellectual propagets, including copyright and trademarks, tradeess, and rights to certain domain
names, which we believe are collectively amongrast valuable assets. We seek to protect our éatethl property assets through the laws o
the U.S. and other countries of the world, andublocontractual provisions. However, the effortshage taken to protect our intellectual
property assets and proprietary rights might nadufécient or effective at stopping unauthorizes# wf those rights. Protection of the
distinctive elements of RigNet might not alwaysavailable under copyright law or trademark lawywer might not discover or determine the
full extent of any unauthorized use of our copyrighnd trademarks in order to protect our rightsaddition, effective trademark, patent,
copyright, and trade secret protection might noawelable or coseffective in every country in which our productslaervices are distribute
With respect to maintaining our trade secrets, aselentered into confidentiality agreements withstod our employees and contractors, and
confidentiality agreements with many of the partigh whom we conduct business in order to limitess to and disclosure of our proprietary
information. However, these agreements might badtved and our trade secrets might be compromisedtside parties or by our employees,
which could cause us to lose any competitive acdagmprovided by maintaining our trade secretselfane unable to protect our proprietary
rights from unauthorized use, the value of ourliattual property assets may be reduced. In adgipootecting our intellectual property and
other proprietary rights is expensive and time oamiag. Any increase in the unauthorized use ofioi@llectual property could make it more
expensive to do business and consequently harroparating results.

We may be subject to a variety of regulatory acgdhat may affect our ability to operate.

Telecommunications regulators have the right tatam a service provider or to revoke licensesstavice provider violates applicable
laws or regulations. If any regulatory agency wereonclude that we were providing telecommunicatiservices without the appropriate
authority or are otherwise not in compliance wipipléicable regulations, the agency could initiateoesement actions, which could result in,
among other things, revocation of authority, thpasition of fines, a requirement to disgorge rewesnwr refusal to grant regulatory authority
necessary for the future provision of services.
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Our international operations are subject to additial or different risks than our United States opdfans, which may harm our business
and financial results.

We operate in approximately 50 countries aroundmbed, including countries in Asia, the Middle Ea&africa, Latin America and
Europe and intend to continue to expand the nurobeountries in which we operate. There are masksrinherent in conducting business
internationally that are in addition to or diffetehan those affecting our United States operatimtsuding:

. sometimes vague and confusing regulatory requirésrtbat may be subject to unexpected changeseampietations

. import and export restriction

. tariffs and other trade barriel

. difficulty in staffing and managing geographicadlispersed operations and culturally diverse workdt ;

. increased travel, infrastructure and legal comgkacosts associated with multiple internationahtmns;

. differences in employment laws and practices antbiffigrent countries, including restrictions on témating employees
. differing technology standard

. fluctuations in currency exchange rat

. imposition of currency exchange contrc

. potential political and economic instability in semregions

. legal and cultural differences in the conduct adibass
. lack of traditional concepts of due process smahetimes arbitrary application of laws and samati including criminal charges and
arrests

. difficulties in raising awareness of applicable tddiStates laws to our agents and third partyrimtdiaries
. potentially adverse tax consequenc

. difficulties in enforcing contracts and timely catting receivables

. difficulties and expense of maintaining internatibgales distribution channels; a

. difficulties in maintaining and protecting our itieztual property

Operating internationally exposes our businesadcegsed regulatory and political risks in some-do®. jurisdictions where we operate.
In addition to changes in laws and regulationsnglea in governments or changes in governmentatipslin these jurisdictions may alter
current interpretation of laws and regulations etffey our business. We also face increased riskaddents such as war or other international
conflict and nationalization, and possible exprafioin of our assets. If a non-U.S. country werpedtionalize our industry or expropriate our
assets, we could lose not only our investmentéragsets that we have in that country, but alsof allir contracts and business in that country

Many of the countries in which we operate havellsgstems that are less developed and less prbtiidtzan legal systems in Western
Europe or the United States. It may be difficultdis to obtain effective legal redress in the cooftsome jurisdictions, whether in respect of a
breach of law or regulation, or in an ownershipdie because of: (i) a high degree of discretiotherpart of governmental authorities, which
results in less predictability; (i) a lack of juiil or administrative guidance on interpreting laggible rules and regulations; (iii) inconsisters
or conflicts between or within various laws, redigas, decrees, orders and resolutions; (iv) thaive inexperience of the judiciary and courts
in such matters or (v) a predisposition in favotazfal claimants against United States companiesilé&ly, many of our contracts are govert
by the laws of these countries, which may creath kegal and practical difficulties in case of aplite or conflict. We operate in regions where
the ability to protect contractual and other leggithts may be limited. In addition, having to pusarbitration or litigation in some countries
may be more difficult or expensive than pursuitigéition in the United States.
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In certain jurisdictions, the commitment of locaisiness people, government officials and agenciddtee judicial system to abide by
legal requirements and negotiated agreements mawrediable. In particular, agreements may be qui#de to revision or cancellation and
legal redress may be uncertain or time-consumimngioAs of governmental authorities or officers naayersely affect joint ventures, licenses,
license applications or other legal arrangememis,saich arrangements in these jurisdictions mayeadaiffective or enforced.

The authorities in the countries where we operatg mtroduce additional regulations for the oil ayjad and communications industries
with respect to, but not limited to, various laws/grning prospecting, development, production, $apece controls, export controls, currency
remittance, expropriation of property, foreign ietraent, maintenance of claims, environmental latieh, land use, land claims of local
people, water use, labor standards, occupatioréihheetwork access and other matters. New ruldgegulations may be enacted or existing
rules and regulations may be applied or interprétedmanner which could limit our ability to prde our services. Amendments to current
laws and regulations governing operations and iietvin the oil and gas industry and telecommutioces industry could harm our operations
and financial results. Compliance with and changeax laws or adverse positions taken by taxinthaities could be costly and could affect
our operating results.

Compliance related tax issues could also limitahility to do business in certain countries. Changdax laws or tax rates, the resolu
of tax assessments or audits by various taxingoaitis, disagreements with taxing authorities aw@rtax positions and the ability to fully
utilize our tax loss carrferwards and tax credits could have a significamricial impact on our future operations and thg wa conduct, or
we conduct, business in the affected countries.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practcact and U.S. Export Control Laws that have strenggt compliance standards for us.

We are subject to a number of applicable exportroblaws and regulations of the United States al as comparable laws of other
countries. We cannot provide services to certaimtiies subject to United States trade sanctionsrdstered by the Office of Foreign Asset
Control of the United States Department of the Jueg or the United States Department of Commerdéessmwe first obtain the necessary
authorizations. If our customers move their sités countries subject to certain sanctions, we nwdbe able to serve them, in which case, ou
revenues will be adversely impacted and we may hadgional costs incurred as well. In addition, ave subject to the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act that, generally, prohibits bribesioreasonable gifts to non-U.S. governments oriafiand may be subject to anti-corruption
laws of other countries in which the Company magrafe or may otherwise have a substantial bustwssection. Violations of these laws or
regulations could result in significant additiosahctions including fines, more onerous compliaeggirements, and more extensive
debarments from export privileges or loss of au#fadions needed to conduct aspects of our intematibusiness. In certain countries, we
engage third party agents or intermediaries t@aaur behalf in dealings with government officiaach as customs agents, and if these thirc
party agents or intermediaries violate applicahled, their actions may result in penalties or sanstbeing assessed against us.

We may incur additional expenses and not be abledmply with SEC reporting requirements relateddonflict minerals.

In August 2012, the SEC adopted new rules estahtjsidditional disclosure and reporting requireragagarding a company’s use of
conflict minerals. These SEC rules could resulisrincurring additional costs to document and perfsupplier due diligence. As these rules
will likely impact our suppliers, the availabilityf raw materials used in our operations could lgatieely impacted and or raw material prices
could increase. We may also have difficulty venfyithe supply of conflict minerals to their souetsl, therefore, may not be able to comply
with the SEC'’s conflict minerals reporting requiremh

Many of our contracts are governed by the laws otiotries that may make them difficult or expensit@interpret or enforce.

Many of our contracts are governed by the lawsoohtries other than the U. S., which may creaté kgjal and practical difficulties in
case of a dispute or conflict. We operate in regi@here the ability to protect contractual and ptbegal rights may be limited. In addition,
having to pursue arbitration or litigation in sogmuintries may be more difficult or expensive thamsping litigation in the United States.
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We may face difficulties in obtaining regulatory gpovals for our provision of telecommunication seces, and we may face changes in
regulation, each of which could adversely affectrooperations.

In a number of countries where we operate, theigi@v of telecommunication services is highly reget. In such countries, we are
required to obtain approvals from national and llacghorities in connection with most of the seedthat we provide. In many jurisdictions,
we must maintain such approvals through compliavitie license conditions or payment of annual retpriafees.

Many of our customers utilize our services on mobissels or drilling platforms that may enter inésv countries on short notice. If we
do not already have a license to provide our serwvichat country, we may be required to obtaiicenise or other regulatory approval on short
notice, which may not be feasible in some countfi@slure to comply with such regulatory requiretisecould subject us to various sanctions
including fines, penalties, arrests or criminalrges, loss of authorizations and the denial ofiappbns for new authorizations or for the
renewal of existing authorizations or cause uselaydor terminate our service to such vessel dfgrla until such license or regulatory
approval may be obtained. In some areas of intemetwaters, it is ambiguous as to which countrggulations apply, if any, and thus
difficult and costly for us to determine which Iieses or other regulatory approvals we should obtain

In such areas, we could be subject to various fieaar sanctions if we fail to comply with the &ipable country’s regulations.

Future changes to the regulations under which veeate could make it difficult for us to obtain oaimtain authorizations, increase our
costs or make it easier or less expensive for ompetitors to compete with us.

Changes to the FCC'’s Universal Service Fund (USFedtme or state universal service fund regimes ardings that we have not
complied with USF requirements or state universakgice fund regimes may adversely affect our fingalaondition.

A proceeding pending before the FCC has the patieiatisignificantly alter our Universal Service yior USF, contribution obligations.
The FCC is considering changing the basis uponwbisF contributions are determined from a reveraregmtage measurement, as well as
increasing the breadth of the USF contribution iaseclude certain services now exempt from cbwtion. Adoption of these proposals co
have a material adverse effect on our costs ofigimy service. We are unable to predict the timongutcome of this proceeding.

We cannot predict the application and impact ohgjes to the federal or state universal service famdribution requirements on the
communications industry generally and on certainwfbusiness activities in particular. Changethénfederal or state universal service fund
requirements or findings that we have not met daligations could materially increase our univesaivice fund contributions and have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.

If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our kiness may suffer.

We have experienced rapid growth in our businessdant periods, which has strained our managemp&lational, financial and other
resources. We plan to continue to grow our busiaedsanticipate that continued growth of our operstwill be required to satisfy increasing
customer demand and avail ourselves of new mapggrtunities. Further, we will continue to pursuganic growth opportunities in targeted
adjacent upstream energy segments and other remoit@unications market adjacencies, as well as,nelipg our competitive market positi
through strategic acquisitions.

The expanding scope and geographic breadth ofusindéss and growth in the number of our employaestpomers and locations will
continue to place a significant strain on our mamagnt team, information technology
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systems and other resources and may distract kepneel from other key operations. To properly nggneur growth, we may need to hire .
retain personnel, upgrade our existing operatianahagement and financial reporting systems, apdowe our business processes and
controls and implement those processes and coiitrals of our geographic locations. In the evdrdttour employees become involved with
due diligence on acquisitions or with the integmatof new companies acquired, the increased denmndar employees could detract from
and be harmful to our existing business. Failureftectively manage our growth in a cost-effectivanner could result in declines in service
quality and customer satisfaction, increased amstisruption of our operations. Our rapid growidpamakes it difficult for us to adequately
predict the investments we will need to make infthiere to effectively manage our world-wide opeas.

Acquisitions bring new risks that could adverselifect our business and operations.

We expect to acquire and have a history of acqyibisinesses, assets, technologies or producth#mee our business in the future if
appropriate opportunities become available. In eotion with any future acquisitions, we could:

. issue additional equity securities which would tlour current stockholdet
. incur substantial debt to fund the acquisitions

. assume significant liabilitie!

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including pleros integrating the purchased operations, teclgiesoor products, unanticipated
costs and other liabilities, diversion of managetisesttention from our core business, adverse &ffen existing business relationships with
current and/or prospective partners, customersoasdppliers, risks associated with entering marked business lines in which we have n
limited prior experience and potential loss of keyployees. We may not be able to successfully iategny businesses, assets, products,
technologies or personnel that we might acquithénfuture without a significant expenditure of cgiang, financial and management
resources, if at all. The integration process caliddrt management time from focusing on operatingbusiness, result in a decline in
employee morale and cause retention issues tofasipechanges in compensation, reporting relatiggssHuture prospects or the direction of
the business.

Acquisitions may also require us to record goodwaitin-amortizable intangible assets that will bigjsct to impairment testing on a
regular basis and potential periodic impairmentges, incur amortization expenses related to eemdéangible assets and incur large and
immediate write-offs and restructuring and othdatesl expenses, all of which could harm our opegatésults and financial condition. In
addition, we may acquire companies that have ifgeifit internal financial controls, which could iaipour ability to integrate the acquired
company and adversely impact our financial repgrtifiwe fail in our integration efforts with resgeo any of our acquisitions and are unable
to efficiently operate as a combined organizatar, business, financial condition and results afrafions may be materially harmed.

The purchase of Inmarsat’s Enterprise Energy buss®unit brings risks that could adversely affectrdausiness and operations.

Problems integrating the expanded services anaddohies acquired in the Inmarsat’'s Enterprise gpnéusiness unit transaction could
adversely impact our financial results. These edpdrservices and technologies include microwaveVdiMdAX networks in the U.S. Gulf of
Mexico serving drillers, producers and energy viessgers, VSAT interests in Canada, an M2M SCADAATetwork in the continental
U.S. serving the pipeline industry, a worldwideetslmmunications systems integration business ghobal L-band MSS retail energy
business. Integrating these services and techreslagay take considerable expense and management tim

Additionally we must integrate accounting and colstifor the Inmarsat’'s Enterprise Energy businests We did not acquire an
accounting function as part of this transaction emut internally integrate accounting processes;gures and controls for the assets
purchased. Additionally we may have to incur anzatibn expenses related to certain intangible asset incur large and immediate writés
and restructuring and other related expensesf alhiwh could harm our operating results and finahcondition. Integrating the accounting
and business processes for this transaction mayctaksiderable expense and management time.
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If we are unsuccessful in the integration of InmatissEnterprise Energy business unit acquisitioth @ unable to efficiently operate as &
combined organization, our business, financial dmmand results of operations may be materiadiynined.

The telecom systems integration line of servicengs risks that could adversely affect our businessl operations.

To sustain results from our systems integrationrnass, we must maintain a backlog or pipeline tirei projects. Demand for systems
integration projects is dependent on the capitpkeriture budgets for systems integration projettaur customers in the global business of
exploration, development and production of oil aadlural gas. Reductions in our custorae@apital expenditure budgets for systems intemn
projects can have an adverse impact on our finaresalts.

A large portion of our systems integration proéitel revenues are accounted for under the perceotagenpletion methodology which
has unique risks described above in risk “Our dsbepercentage-afompletion method of accounting could result irr@uction or reversal
previously recorded revenue or profits.”

A large portion of systems integration projectsfated price contract. If we fail to successfullgdp costs to the budgeted margin and be
able to pay for equipment, supplies and labor dgkted costs and in a timely manner we may suffeses.

We may incur substantial due diligence and acquiisit costs for acquisitions. If we do not close amsaction, we may not be able to
obtain a return on the due diligence and acquisti@osts.

During the course of evaluating potential acquisitbpportunities we may incur substantial due diice and acquisition costs related to
certain financial analysis, consulting, legal, istveent banking and accounting fees. If we do mugech transaction, we may not be able to
recoup these due diligence and acquisition costeiin the expected return on investment from therii@l acquisition opportunity. This may
have an adverse impact on financial results.

If during our due diligence of an acquisition opptunity we do not discover legal, regulatory, accding, finance or other adverse matt
and close on the acquisition, it may have an adweimpact on financial results and the ability to em@te an acquisition as part of a
combined entity.

During our due diligence of an acquisition oppoitiyiwe attempt to identify legal, regulatory, fir@al or accounting problems that may
prevent a successful integration that may incluateabbe not limited to: Foreign Corrupt Practice €€EPA) matters, regulatory hurdles,
fraudulent legal financial and accounting represtons of the business to be purchased, undisckidechgreements, undisclosed liabilities,
potential liabilities, commitments, contingencifgure cash outflows, identity and role of key eayaes, state of customer relationships, m
contractual arrangements and gooagcern issues. If we do not discover material est/kegal, regulatory, accounting, finance or othatters
and close, it may adversely impact financial resaltd the ability to operate as a combined entity.

Growth in strategic initiatives, emergence into n@wvadjacent market segments or the addition ofeégic acquisitions may result in
reduced consolidated financial margins.

As we continue to pursue organic growth opportesitn targeted adjacent upstream energy segmettstlaer remote communications
market adjacencies, as well as, expanding our ctitiwpemarket position through strategic acquisispfinancial margins for these new
operations may be less than our current operatikmes consolidation of these financial margins caelsllt in reduced margins on a
consolidated level.

We may need to raise additional funds to pursue guowth strategy or continue our operations, andwe are unable to do so, our grow
may be impaired.

We plan to pursue a growth strategy. We have miggdfisant investments to grow our business. Adudfiil investments will be required
to pursue further growth and to respond to tectgiold innovations and competition. There is no gagee that we will be able to obtain
additional financing or financing on favorable tetrif financing is not available on satisfactorynte, or at all, we may be unable to expand
business or to develop new business at the rabedesd our business, financial condition and Itesaf operations may be harmed.
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Our credit agreement places financial restrictioasid operating restrictions on our business, whictaynlimit our flexibility to respond to
opportunities and may harm our business, financidndition and results of operations.

The operating and financial restrictions and conéna our credit agreement restrict, and any &ifimancing agreements could restrict,
our ability to finance future operations or capitakds or to engage, expand or pursue our busicgsiies.

For example, our credit agreement restricts oditalbd, among other things:

. dispose of property

. enter into a merger, consolidate or acquire capital assets of other entitie
. incur additional indebtednes

. incur liens on property

. make certain investment

. enter into transactions with affiliate

. pay cash dividends; at

. enter into sales and lease back transact

These limitations are subject to a number of imgartjualifications and exceptions. Our credit agrest also requires us to maintain
specified financial ratios. Our compliance withgbgrovisions may materially adversely affect dilitg to react to changes in market
conditions, take advantage of business opportgnitie believe to be desirable, obtain future finagcfund needed capital expenditures,
finance acquisitions, equipment purchases and dprent expenditures, or withstand a future downituiur business.

Our ability to comply with the covenants and resinins contained in our credit agreement may becédfl by events beyond our control.
If market or other economic conditions deteriorata, ability to comply with these covenants mayirbpaired. If we violate any of the
restrictions, covenants, ratios or tests in ouditi@greement, a significant portion of our indelntess may become immediately due and
payable, and our lenders’ commitment to make furitens to us may terminate. We might not havdyeoable to obtain, sufficient funds to
make these accelerated payments. Even if we cduédroalternative financing, that financing may beton terms that are favorable or
acceptable to us. If we are unable to repay amdort®wed, the holders of the debt could initiateaakruptcy proceeding or liquidation
proceeding against the collateral. In addition, @oligations under our credit agreement are sedoyesibstantially all of our assets and if we
are unable to repay our indebtedness under ouit agetement, the lenders could seek to forecloseun assets.

If we experience delays and/or defaults in cliergyments, we could suffer liquidity problems or weutd be unable to recover all
expenditures.

Because of the nature of our contracts, we sometdommit resources to projects prior to receiviagrpents from the client in amounts
sufficient to cover expenditures as they are iredlirin difficult economic times, some of our cliemay find it increasingly difficult to pay
invoices for our services timely, increasing thek hat our accounts receivable could become ueatddle and ultimately be written off. Dele
in client payments may require us to make a workiggjtal investment, which could impact our cashv and liquidity. If a client fails to pay
invoices on a timely basis or defaults in makirsgofyments on a project in which we have devotguifsiant resources, there could be a
material adverse effect on our results of operatmmliquidity.

Changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomessilting from examination of our income or otheax returns could adversely affect
our operating results and financial condition.

Our future effective tax rates could be subjeatdfatility or adversely affected by a number ofttas, including:

. earnings being lower than anticipated in caeatwhere we have lower statutory rates and hititaer anticipated earnings in
countries where we have higher statutory re
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. changes in the valuation of our deferred tax as
. repatriation of cash; ¢

. expiration or no-utilization of net operating losses or cred

We conduct our worldwide operations through varisuissidiaries. Tax laws and regulations are higblypplex and subject to
interpretation. Consequently, we are subject toghm tax laws, treaties and regulations in ansvbenh countries in which we operate,
including treaties between the United States ahdratations. Our income tax expense is based upoimirpretation of the tax laws in effect
in various countries at the time that the expenag iwcurred. A change in these tax laws, treatiesgulations, including those in and
involving the United States, or in the interpratatthereof, could result in a materially higher éapense or a higher effective tax rate on our
worldwide earnings. Repatriation of cash from watilie operations could increase the tax burden osettiunds, lowering the amount of after
tax cash available for operations.

In addition, tax returns filed are subject to exaation by the Internal Revenue Service and otheatshorities. We regularly assess the
likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from thesaminations to determine the adequacy of ourigiav for income taxes. Outcomes from
these continuous examinations could have a matetiadrse effect on our financial condition, resafteperations or cash flows.

We are subject to fluctuations in currency exchangees and limitations on the expatriation or congon of currencies, which may
result in significant financial charges, increasecbsts of operations or decreased demand for ourdarcts and services.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, 21.3%i0favenues were earned in non-U.S. currenciedewtsignificant portion of our
capital and operating expenditures and all of atstanding debt, was priced in U.S. dollars. Inithold, we report our results of operations in
U.S. dollars. Accordingly, fluctuations in exchamgées relative to the U.S. dollar could have aemialtadverse effect on our earnings or the
value of our assets. In the future, a greater gomif our revenues may be earned in non-U.S. caiggnincreasing this risk of fluctuations in
exchange rates.

Any depreciation of local currencies in the cowgrin which we conduct business may result in ased costs to us for imported
equipment and may, at the same time, decrease ddimaour products and services in the affectedketar If our operating companies
distribute dividends in local currencies in theufiat, the amount of cash we receive will also becéd by fluctuations in exchange rates. In
addition, some of the countries in which we haverapjons do or may restrict the expatriation orvawsion of currency.

We have not implemented any hedging strategiedttgate risks related to the impact of fluctuationgexchange rates. Even if we were
to implement hedging strategies, not every exposanebe hedged, and, where hedges are put inipdesesl on expected non-U.S. exchange
exposure, they are based on forecasts which magyovarhich may later prove to have been inaccuigéure to hedge successfully or
anticipate currency risks accurately could harmhusginess, financial condition and results of ofiens.

Some of our stockholders could exert control over €ompany.

As of February 20, 2015, funds associated with Ketg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P., or KKR, owned i thggregate shares representing
approximately 27.7% of our outstanding voting pawetditionally, as of February 20, 2015, funds assed with Arrowpoint Asset
Management, LLC, owned in the aggregate sharesgepting approximately 10.1% of our outstandingngopower. As a result, any of these
stockholders could potentially have significantuehce over all matters presented to our stockinslie approval, including election and
removal of our directors and change of controlgeantions. The interests of these stockholders maglways coincide with the interests of the
other holders of our common stock.

We have entered into a standstill agreement wigit&8liOilfield Investments LP, or Digital, an affite of KKR, that prevents Digital and
any of its affiliates engaged in the private eqbiginess of KKR from taking certain actions thriodgugust 26, 2016, including participating
in any sale transaction or tender offer that isapgroved by our Board or any proposal to seelesgmtation on our Board in excess of one
board member or otherwise seeking to control du@rfce our management, Board or policies. Thene isestriction, however, on Digital’s or
KKR'’s ability to vote against a sale transactioattis approved by our Board.
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Upon expiration of the term of the standstill agneat, there will no longer be restrictions on Dag# or KKR’s ability to buy additional
shares, vote or participate in sale transactiorisrater offers or otherwise control or influence management, Board or policies. As a result,
KKR will have the ability to exert influence on ooranagement and operations, and matters requipipgp@al of its stockholders, including t
approval of significant corporate transactionshsag a merger or other sale of us or our assets.

Provisions in our organizational documents and iheg Delaware General Corporation Law may preventeaker attempts that could be
beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation dmdaws and in the Delaware General Corporation beay make it difficult and
expensive for a third-party to pursue a takeovienapt we oppose even if a change in control of@ampany would be beneficial to the
interests of our stockholders. Any provision of oartificate of incorporation or bylaws or Delawgaer that has the effect of delaying or
deterring a change in control could limit the ogpoity for our stockholders to receive a premiumtfeir shares of our common stock, and
could also affect the price that some investorsndlfing to pay for our common stock. In our ceiddte of incorporation, our board of directors
has the authority to issue up to 10,000,000 sh&rpeeferred stock in one or more series and tohfixpowers, preferences and rights of each
series without stockholder approval. The abilityssue preferred stock could discourage unsolictsplisition proposals or make it more
difficult for a third party to gain control of o@@ompany, or otherwise could adversely affect thekaetgrice of our common stock. Further, as
a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Sectihd® the Delaware General Corporation Law. Thidiea generally prohibits us from
engaging in mergers and other business combinatithsstockholders that beneficially own 15% or moff our voting shares, or with their
affiliates, unless our directors or stockholdergrape the business combination in the prescribedghera Our bylaws require that any
stockholder proposals or nominations for electmour board of directors must meet specific advaratee requirements and procedures,
which make it more difficult for our stockholdersrake proposals or director nominations.

Future adjustments to contingent purchase priceat#d to acquisitions could materially affect ourgelts.

From time to time we acquire companies with a conegnd of the purchase consideration being delayddtapayment thereof
contingent on certain performance or other facfiirs contingent purchase price). The accountingcjpies generally accepted in the United
States require that we estimate the amount ofdh&rgent purchase price at the time we completaatiguisition. Each subsequent reporting
period (until the contingent purchase price isezithaid or no longer potentially payable), we @&guired to re-evaluatbe estimated amount
remaining contingent purchase price that is likelpe paid. If the revised estimate of the futwetimgent purchase price is higher than the
amount accrued, then the difference must be acaneéaharged to the statement of comprehensiveriadn that period. If the revised
estimate of the future contingent purchase pridevigr than the amount accrued, then the accruabigced and the difference is credited to
income for the period. Because some of these pagmeuld not be deductible for tax purposes, fiassible that the expense (or income)
would not be tax-effected on our income statemérttese adjustments, if required, could be matéwialur future results of operations. There
are no purchase price contingencies outstandiing @scember 31, 2014.

We have a small market capitalization and lowerdiag volume compared to most publicly trading conmges. If, due to our size,
securities analysts do not publish research or regabout our business or if they publish negatigealuations of our stock, the price of
our stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock dependsaim on the research and reports that industrinantial analysts publish about us
our business. If one or more of the analysts cageour business downgrade their evaluations ofoommendations regarding our stock, or if
one or more of the analysts cease providing rekeareerage on our stock due to our small markeitaigation or low trading volume, the
price of our stock could decline. If one or mordlafse analysts cease providing research coveragarstock, we could lose visibility in the
market for our stock, which in turn could cause stack price to decline.
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The trading price of our common stock has been amdy continue to be volatile and may not reflect cactual operations and
performance.

Market and industry factors may seriously harmrttagket price of our common stock, regardless ofamtwal operations and
performance. Stock price volatility and sustainedrdases in our share price could subject our kblaers to losses and us to takeover bids o
lead to action by NASDAQ. The trading price of @ammon stock has been, and may continue to beguoj fluctuations in price in respol
to various factors, some of which are beyond outrod, including, but not limited to:

. quarterly announcements and variations in esults of operations or those of our competitateeealone or in comparison to
analysts’ expectations or prior Company estimatediding announcements of subscriber counts, @fteburn, and operating
margins that would result in downward pressure wnstock price; changes in the valuation of ouedef tax asset

. the cost and availability or perceived availabitfyadditional capital and market perceptions ne¢ato our access to this capit
. seasonality or other variations in our subscrilzeset;

. announcements by us or our competitors of acquisfinew products, technologies, signific:

. our GX commitment

. disruption to our operations or those of other canigs critical to our network operatiol

. market speculation or announcements by us regatdengntering into, or termination of, materiahactions

. our ability to develop and market new and enhaneelnologies, products and services on a timelycas-effective basis

. recommendations by securities analysts or chamgé®ir estimates concerning |

. the incurrence of additional debt, dilutiveuaaces of our stock, short sales or hedging of olimer derivative transactions, in our
common stock

. any significant change in our board of directorsn@nagemen
. litigation;
. changes in governmental regulations or approval$

. perceptions of general market conditions intd@nology and communications industries, the 8cénomy and global market
conditions.
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ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties
Facilities
Our headquarters are located in Houston, Texade®dée our headquarters facility, which comprisgg@pmately 34,611 square feet of

office space. The term of this lease runs througgust 31, 2018. We also own a custom built, 3,@@&ee foot facility in Aberdeen, Scotland
through which we provide, among other services,systems integration solutions and that servesia®bour regional offices.

We have other regional offices under lease in Lettay Louisiana; Stavanger, Norway; Doha, Qatar&indapore, and additional leased
offices, warehouses and service centers in theedr8tates, Brazil, Nigeria, Malaysia, Australiajtdd Arab Emirates and Saudi Arabia. We
believe our current facilities are adequate for@urent needs and for the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

From time to time, we have been subject to var@asns and legal actions in the ordinary coursewfbusiness. We are not currently
involved in any legal proceeding the ultimate omteoof which, in our judgment based on informatiarrently available, would have a
material impact on our business, financial conditio results of operations.

ltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters anduer Purchases of Equity Securiti¢

RigNet's common stock, $0.001 par value, is tragiethe NASDAQ Global Select Market (NASDAQ), undee ticker symbol RNET.
The following table sets forth the high and lowesgprice of RigNet's common stock by quarter, Far two most recent fiscal years.

QUARTERLY COMMON STOCK SALES PRICE (HIGH & LOW SALE S PRICE)

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 201

Fourth Quarte $46.7¢ $34.91

Third Quartel $57.0¢ $39.51

Second Quarte $53.8:2 $45.5]

First Quartel $55.9¢ $42.0¢
Year Ended December 31, 201

Fourth Quarte $47.9: $35.61

Third Quartel $37.51 $24.9¢

Second Quarte $26.5: $22.8¢

First Quarte! $24.9¢ $19.5¢

There were approximately 156 holders of RigNetsyogwn stock on record as of February 20, 2015.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our comramk @ind do not intend to do so in the foreseehitiee. Further, our term loan
agreement restricts our ability to pay cash diviterWe currently intend to retain all availabledarand any future earnings to support the
operation of and to finance the growth and develapnof our business.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

See the information incorporated by reference uitder 12. “Security Ownership of Certain Benefidalners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters” of this Annual ReportForm 10-K regarding securities authorized feu@ce under the Company’s equity
compensation plans, which information is incorpedaby reference into this Item 5.
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Stockholder Return Performance Presentation

The following graph compares the change in the dative total stockholder return on our common stdaking the period from
December 15, 2010 (the first day our stock begadirig on NASDAQ) through December 31, 2014, with ¢mulative total return on the
NASDAQ Composite Index, the PHLX Oil Service Sedtmtex and the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index. TileService Sector Index
a price-weighted index composed of the common sto€k 5 companies that provide oil drilling and guotion services, oil field equipment,
support services, and geophysical/reservoir sesvitke comparison assumes that $100 was investBeécegmber 15, 2010 in our common
stock and in each of the foregoing indices andrassueinvestment of dividends, if any.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return

—4—RigNet, Inc. —E—=NASDAQ =il Service Sector ——NASDAQ Telecommunications
400
350
300
%
= 230
S 200
=]
150
100 B
50 -
12/15/2010 12312010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012 12/3172013 12/321/2014
ASSUMES S100INVESTED ON DECEMBER 15, 2010
ASSUMES DIVIDENDS REINVESTED
12/15/201 12/31/201( 12/31/201 12/31/201: 12/31/201: 12/31/201.
RigNet, Inc.() $ 10C $ 10¢ $ 13t $ 168 $ 382 $ 327
NASDAQ $ 10C $ 101 $ 10C $ 11F $ 16C $ 181
Oil Service Secto $ 10C $ 104 $ 92 $ 93 $ 11¢ $ 8
NASDAQ Telecommunication $ 10C $ 10z $ 8¢ $ 91 $ 11z $ 12:

(1) Based on the last reported sale price of thm@@my’s stock as reported by NASDAQ on the discat&te or nearest date prior to
disclosed date on which a sales occur

Investors are cautioned against drawing any cormlagsrom the data contained in the graph as gasilts are not necessarily indicative
of future performance.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set fartlany of the Company’s previous or future filingsder the Securities Act of 1933 or
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that might ipocate this Annual Report on Form 10-K or fututeds with the SEC, in whole or in part,
the preceding performance information shall notibemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filediith the SEC or incorporated by referel
into any filing except to the extent this perforroarpresentation is specifically incorporated byrefice therein.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following table sets forth our selected cortsaifd financial data for the periods indicated.aDeés derived from RigNet, Inc.’s
audited consolidated financial statements. The skettéorth should be read together with Iltem 7. fislgement’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” aiiith Item 8. “Financial Statements and SupplemgnBata.” Our historical results for any
prior period are not necessarily indicative of thsults to be expected in the future.

Our continued organic growth has also been complieteby several strategic acquisitions which hayapeded our service offerings. In
2014, with the acquisition of InmarssiEnterprise Energy business unit, we expandedanices to include microwave and WiMAX netwo
in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico, VSAT interests in Caaadn M2M SCADA VSAT network in the continental Us®rving the pipeline industry, a
worldwide telecommunications systems integratiosifess and a global L-band MSS retail energy basine

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks) Data:

Revenue

Expenses
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ameatitin)
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of goodwil
Selling and marketin
General and administrati\
Total expense
Operating incom:
Interest expens
Other income (expense), r
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati
Income (loss) before income tax
Income tax expens
Net income (loss
Less: Net income attributable 1
Non-redeemable, n-controlling interes
Redeemable, n-controlling interes
Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. &toalders

Net income (loss) attributable to RigNet, Inc. coomstockholder

Year Ended December 31

Net income (loss) per share attributable to RigiNet, common stockholder

Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shares outstand
Basic

Diluted

Other Non-GAAP Data:

Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortaat
Adjusted EBITDA

Cash Earning

Cash EP¢

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas- current portior
Restricted cas- long-term portion
Total asset
Current maturities of lor-term debt
Long-term debi
Long-term deferred revent

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share amot
$ 330,17: $ 220,71( $161,66¢ $109,35' $ 92,92:
188,20¢ 118,88: 81,07: 48,64 42,47¢
29,46: 21,04¢ 17,53¢ 14,58¢ 14,98:
2,71¢ —
6,564 3,78¢ 3,081 2,27¢ 2,10
69,13¢ 48,77( 37,18¢ 26,96( 20,75¢
296,09( 192,48' 138,87( 92,46 80,32:
34,08« 28,22t 22,79¢ 16,89( 12,60(
(2,185 (2,289 (1,559 (1,249 (1,619
(51€) (240 (499 61& (399
— — — — (17,190
31,38 25,70: 20,75¢ 16,25¢ (6,607
(15,400 (9,15 (8,739 (6,502 (8,669
15,98: 16,54« 12,02 9,75z (15,27¢)
34¢ 20¢ 13¢ 234 292
— — — — 25
$ 1563 $ 16,33¢ $ 11,88: $ 9,51¢ $ (15,59))
$ 1563 $ 16,33¢ $ 11,88: $ 9,51¢ $ (18,807
$ 09 $ 100 $ 076 $ 062 $ (339
$ 08 $ 092 $ 07 $ 057 $ (339
17,32: 16,26¢ 15,59 15,38 5,571
17,89¢ 17,557 17,01; 16,81« 5,571
$ 141,96! $ 101,82! $ 80,59¢ $ 60,71( $ 50,44
$ 73,73+ $ 56,17¢ $ 43,587 $ 33,45t $ 29,74(
$ 56,15( $ 44,737 $ 33,29¢ $ 25,70 $ 19,45
$ 312 % 258 $§ 19 $ 15 % 3.4¢
December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share amot

$ 66,57¢ $ 59,82: $ 59,74« $ 53,10¢ $ 50,43
1,20( 50¢ 987 — 2,50(
62 1,321 1,80¢ — 7,50(
299,83 238,80« 215,93 140,92 129,78!
8,40t 8,38¢ 9,42: 8,73t 8,65t
77,70¢ 51,17¢ 51,87: 14,78¢ 23,48:
51€ 621 30z 457 32t
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Generally accepted accounting principles, or GAdéfines gross profit as revenue less cost of rexeamd includes in costs of revenue
depreciation and amortization expenses relateeMenue-generating long-lived and intangible as¥éesdefine Gross Profit (excluding
depreciation and amortization) as revenue lessafastvenue (excluding depreciation and amortizgtid his measure differs from the GAAP
definition of gross profit as we do not include thaact of depreciation and amortization expenskgead to revenue-generating long-lived anc
intangible assets which represent non-cash expevwsesase this measure to evaluate operating maagidshe effectiveness of cost
management.

The following table presents a reconciliation afgg profit to Gross Profit (excluding depreciatiomd amortization) for each of the
periods presented. Gross profit is the most conig@i@AAP measure to Gross Profit (excluding degtémn and amortization). Gross Profit
(excluding depreciation and amortization) shoultib®considered as an alternative to gross papg#rating income (loss) or any other
measure of financial performance calculated andgmied in accordance with GAAP. Our Gross Profiti(eling depreciation and
amortization) may not be comparable to similariieti measures of other companies because otheracoespmay not calculate Gross Profit
(excluding depreciation and amortization) or simijlditled measures in the same manner as we dopMfeare Gross Profit (excluding
depreciation and amortization) to eliminate theaetf items that we do not consider indicative@wif core operating performance. We
encourage you to evaluate these adjustments anddkens we consider them appropriate.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands

Reconciliation of Gross Profit to Gross Profit (extuding depreciation and

amortization):
Gross profit $113,86¢ $ 81,95( $63,96¢ $46,89( $36,05:
Depreciation and amortization related to cost uéneie 28,09" 19,87¢ 16,63¢ 13,82( 14,38¢
Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortorat $141,96! $101,82¢ $80,59¢ $60,71( $50,44:.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) phisrest expense, income tax expense, depreciatidramortization, impairment
goodwill, foreign exchange impact of intercompaimahcing activities, (gain) loss on retirement adgerty, plant and equipment, change in
fair value of derivatives, stock-based compensati®® or merger/acquisition costs and related besyugstructuring charges and non-
recurring items. Adjusted EBITDA is a financial nsaeee that is not calculated in accordance with GAAP

We believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investanseivaluating our operating performance for theofwihg reasons:

. Investors and securities analysts use Adjus®d DA as a supplemental measure to evaluate teeathoperating performance of
companies, and we understand our investor and &'s presentations include Adjusted EBITC

. By comparing our Adjusted EBITDA in differenépods, our investors may evaluate our operatisglte without the additional
variations caused by items that we do not considicative of our core operating performance anéctviare not necessarily
comparable from year to year; a

. Adjusted EBITDA is an integral component of theafirtial ratio covenants of our debt agreem

Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA:

. To indicate profit contributior

. For planning purposes, including the preparatioawfannual operating budget and as a key elenfemtrmal incentive program
. To allocate resources to enhance the financiabpednce of our business; a

. In communications with our Board of Directors comieg our financial performanc
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Although Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by irsters and securities analysts in their evaluatagfrcompanies, Adjusted EBITDA
has limitations as an analytical tool, and you $thowt consider it in isolation or as a substitisieanalysis of our results of operations as
reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

. Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash exgitmres or future requirements for capital expamai$ or other contractual
commitments

. Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, othcaegjuirements for, our working capital nee

. Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect interest exper

. Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash requiremédotsncome taxes

. Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the stock basethgensation component of employee compensa

. Although depreciation and amortization are ©ash charges, the assets being depreciated orizedontill often have to be
replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA doesreflect any cash requirements for these replaognanc

. Other companies in our industry may calculatusted EBITDA or similarly titled measures diffatly than we do, limiting its
usefulness as a comparative meas

We define Cash Earnings as net income (loss),q@pseciation and amortization, impairment of godtifareign exchange impact of
intercompany financing activities, (gain) loss etirement of property and equipment, change invaliue of derivatives, stock-based
compensation, IPO or merger/acquisition costs ateded bonuses, restructuring charges and nonriegitems. We define Cash EPS as Casl
Earnings divided by diluted shares. Cash EarnimgsGash EPS is a financial measure that is notilzdéd in accordance with GAAP.

We believe Cash Earnings and Cash EPS is useiffiVéstors in evaluating our operating performarmetie following reasons:

. Investors and securities analysts use Cashriggrand Cash EPS as a supplemental measure tatevtie overall operating
performance of companies, and we understand oestovand analy' s presentations include Cash Earnings and Cash

. By comparing our Cash Earnings and Cash ERI$farent periods, our investors may evaluate qerating results without the
additional variations caused by items that we diocoasider indicative of our core operating perfante and which are not
necessarily comparable from year to year;

Although Cash Earnings and Cash EPS is frequesty by investors and securities analysts in thailuations of companies, Cash
Earnings and Cash EPS has limitations as an acallytiol, and you should not consider it in is@ator as a substitute for analysis of our
results of operations as reported under GAAP. Saofnigese limitations are:

. Cash Earnings and Cash EPS does not reflectastr expenditures or future requirements for abhpitpenditures or other
contractual commitment

. Cash Earnings and Cash EPS does not reflect changescash requirements for, our working capita¢ds
. Cash Earnings and Cash EPS does not reflect tbk Isétsed compensation component of employee coraiens

. Although depreciation and amortization are gash charges, the assets being depreciated orizexdontill often have to be
replaced in the future, and Cash Earnings and ERShdoes not reflect any cash requirements foettgdacements; ar

. Other companies in our industry may calculaastCEarnings and Cash EPS or similarly titled nressdifferently than we do,
limiting its usefulness as a comparative meas

Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Earnings and Cash EPS shooide considered as an alternative to net incdoss)( operating income (loss),
basic or diluted earnings per share or any othersome of financial performance calculated and piteskin accordance with GAAP. Our
Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Earnings and Cash EPS maypeatomparable to similarly titted measures of pttenpanies because other
companies may not calculate Adjusted EBITDA, Caamiags, Cash EPS or similarly titted measurefitnsame manner as we do. We
prepare Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Earnings and CashtBRE8minate the impact of items that we do natsider indicative of our core
operating performance. We encourage you to evathate adjustments and the reasons we considerappropriate.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of ileome (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Earningd &ash EPS for each of the
periods presented. Net income (loss) is the maspenable GAAP measure to Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Easiand Cash EPS.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to Adjusted EBIDA, Cash Earnings
and Cash EPS:

Net income (loss $15,98: $16,54« $12,02: $ 9,752  $(15,27¢)
Interest expens 2,18¢ 2,28: 1,552 1,24¢ 1,61¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 29,46 21,04¢ 17,53« 14,58 14,98
Impairment of goodwil 2,71¢ — — — —
Foreign exchange impact of intercompany financictiyiies 85¢€ — — — —
(Gain) loss on sales of property, plant and equigmeet of retirement (44) 66 (131 (16%) 294
Change in fair value of preferred stock derivati — — — — 17,19(
Stoclk-based compensatic 4,25 2,96: 2,50z 1,53¢ 437
Acquisition / IPO cost 2,92¢ 4,11°¢ 1,372 — 1,82t
Income tax expens 15,40( 9,15¢ 8,73: 6,502 8,66¢

Adjusted EBITDA (no-GAAP measure $ 73,73t  $56,17¢ $43,58: $33,45¢ $29,74(
Interest expens (2,18 (2,287) (1,559 (1,249 (1,619
Income tax expens (15,400 (9,159 (8,739 (6,507 (8,669

Cash Earnings (n-GAAP measure $56,15( $44,737 $33,29¢ $25,70f $19,45!

Diluted Share: 17,89¢ 17,55’ 17,01° 16,81 5,571

Cash EPS (n-GAAP measure $ 314 $ 258 $ 19 $ 15 $ 3.4¢
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ltem 7. Managemen's Discussion And Analysis Of Financial Condition AihResults Of Operation

General

The following discussion should be read togethén wur consolidated financial statements and tHategl notes included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussiontams forward-looking statements about our busireasd operations. Our future results
may differ materially from those we currently aigate as a result of the factors we describe uritksk Factors” and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form -K.

Executive Overview

We, along with our wholly and majority-owned suligites, provide information and communication teabgy for the oil and gas
industry through a controlled and managed IP/MPldBa network, enabling drilling contractors, odrapanies and oilfield service companies
to communicate more effectively. We enable ouraustrs to deliver voice, fax, video and data, in-timae, between remote sites and home
offices throughout the world while we manage andrate the infrastructure from our land-based ndtwperations center. We serve offshore
drilling rigs and production platforms, land rigsdaremote locations including offices and supplgdsa in approximately 50 countries on six
continents.

Our Operations

We are a global provider of managed remote comnatibits, telecoms systems integration (project mamagt of turn-key engineered
telecommunications solutions) and collaborativeliapfions dedicated to the oil and gas industrgufing on offshore and onshore drilling
rigs, energy production facilities and energy niiaet We focus on developing customer relationshighe oil and gas industry resulting in a
significant portion of our revenue being concemritan a few customers. In addition, due to the eatration of our customers in the oil and
industry, we face the challenge of service dem#lndtuating with the exploration and developmerasind and capital expenditures of that
industry.

Network service customers are primarily served ufided-price, day-rate contracts, which are basedhe concept of pay-peay of us
and are consistent with other service terms uséukiil and gas industry. Our contracts are gdiyarathe form of Master Service
Agreements, or MSAs, with specific services beinymled under individual service orders that haterm of one to three years with renewal
options, while land-based locations are generd&lgrter term or terminable on short notice withopieaalty. Service orders are executed unde
the MSA for individual remote sites or groups désj and generally may be terminated early on statite without penalty in the event of
force majeure, breach of the MSA or cold stackihg drilling rig (when a rig is taken out of sergiand is expected to be idle for a protracted
period of time).

Profitability increases at a site as we add custerard value-added services. Assumptions usedvigla@ng the day rates for a site may
not cover cost variances from inherent uncertaraieunforeseen obstacles, including both physicatiitions and unexpected problems
encountered with third party service providers.

Segment information is prepared consistent withcthraponents of the enterprise for which separatnfiial information is available and
regularly evaluated by the chief operating decisitaker for the purpose of allocating resourcesamse:ssing performance.

In connection with the acquisition of Inmarsat'sé&mprise Energy business unit, we re-evaluateccorent core assets and operations,
and organized them into segments. We are now pirgefelecoms Systems Integration as a separatetedge segment, as this is now a
greater portion of our core assets and operatioadathe acquisition of InmarsatEnterprise Energy business unit. Certain opeyatigment
are aggregated into one reportable segment bassichdar economic characteristics. Accordingly, egerate three reportable segments, w
are managed as distinct business units by our opfating decision-maker.

. Eastern HemisphereOur Eastern Hemisphere segment provides remote cainations services for offshore and onshore dglli
rigs and production facilities, as well as, enesgpport vessels and other remote sites. Our Eadtmisphere segment services
primarily performed out of our Norway, United Kingah, Qatar, and Singapore based offices for custoared rig sites located on
the eastern side of the Atlantic Ocean primarifitioé coasts of the United Kingdom, Norway, Westi@s, around the Indian
Ocean in Qatar, Saudi Arabia and India, aroundPtafic Ocean near Australia, and within the SdCitfina Sea
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. Western HemisphereOur Western Hemisphere segment provides remote cmrications services for offshore and onshore dgl
rigs and production facilities, as well as, enesgpport vessels and other remote sites. Our Welstemisphere segment services
are primarily performed out of our United Stated &nazil based offices for onshore and offshoreamsrs and rig sites located on
the western side of the Atlantic Ocean primarilyhia United States, Canada, Mexico and Brazil waitltin the Gulf of Mexico.

. Telecoms Systems Integration (TSOur TSI segment designs, assembles, installs amdéhéssions turrkey solutions for customi
telecommunications systems. TSI segment solutiomswstom designed and engineered turn-key sokibased on the customer’s
specifications, as well as, international industigndards and best practices. TSI projects indodsultancy services, design,
engineering, project management, procurementntgstistallation, commissioning and after-salesiser Our TSI segment
services are primarily performed out of our Unikidgdom and United States based offices for custergkbally.

Recent Developments

On February 19, 2015, we announced a resourcecatithn plan (the plan) to vacate and eliminatengdnt facilities, eliminate certain
excess positions primarily associated with our coate function and in our North America Land repaytunit within our Western Hemisphere
segment and invest in our sales and business geweltd efforts. We are undertaking the plan to rediasts and improve our competitive
position. In the first quarter of 2015, we expecirtcur pre-tax expense of approximately $6.2 wonillielated to the plan. These costs include
ceasing the use of and vacating 6 facilities aedaj-off of 59 employees.

On January 31, 2014, we closed our acquisitiomwofdrsat Plc’s Enterprise Energy business unitricaiggregate purchase price of $26.1
million, including $12.9 million of working capitaUnder the terms of the deal, Inmarsat sold teulsstantially all of its energy broadband
assets, which include: microwave and WiMAX netwarkshe U.S. Gulf of Mexico and the North Sea seguirillers, producers and energy
vessel owners; VSAT interests in the United Kingdah$. and Canada; an M2M SCADA VSAT network in doatinental U.S. serving the
pipeline industry; a telecommunications systemagrdtion business operating worldwide; and a glaHadnd MSS retail energy business.

We financed the transaction with borrowings underreew credit facility announced on October 3, 281 existing cash on hand.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018pere $2.9 million and $4.1 million, respectivedy, acquisition-related costs in
connection with this acquisition, which are repdrés general and administrative expense in ouradidiased financial statements.

Additionally, on January 31, 2014, we finalizedagreement with Inmarsat to become a distributdnaiarsat’'s Global Xpress (GX) and
L-band satellite communications network servicdsictv will enable us to offer the next-generatioteBie services to existing and new
customers in the global energy sector worldwide.N&\¢e agreed, under certain conditions, to purchpde $65.0 million of capacity from the
high-throughput GX network during the five yeargeaft becomes operational. We expect to utilize & L-band services across our own
business as well as that of the acquired Energaddyand business.
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Known Trends and Uncertainties
Operating Matters

Uncertainties and negative trends in the oil argligdustry could impact our profitability. The fuardentals of the oil and gas industry
serve have deteriorated over the past year. Qiéprave declined significantly from mid-year Isvélie to lower-than-expected global oil
demand growth and increased supply from U.S. uneotional sources and several other internationahici@s increased production.
Generally, a prolonged lower oil price environmegsgtrains increases in exploration and developmiglfihg investment, utilization of drilling
rigs and the activity of the global oil and gasustly that we serve. Several global exploration prodiuction companies have recently
announced plans that they will reduce their 205tabbudgets compared to 2014 as a result of lailgrices.

The global oil and gas industry that we serve acesiasingly demanding newer, higher specificatidlfirdy rigs to perform contract
drilling services either as a response to increésethical challenges or for the safety, reliapiéind efficiency typical of the newer, more
capable rigs. This trend is commonly referred tthasbifurcation of the drilling fleet. Bifurcatide occurring in both the jackup and floater rig
classes and is evidenced by the higher specifitatitling rigs operating at generally higher ouetdilization levels and day rates than the
lower specification or standard drilling rigs. Astoffshore drilling sector continues to constard deliver a larger number of newer, higher
specification drilling units, we expect lower sg@gtion units to experience reduced overall wilian and day rates leading to a significant
number of rigs being either warm or cold-stackedavapped. Although management has observed tleegb@old stacking and scrapping of
offshore rigs recently increasing, management plamggressively pursue higher specification neildmffshore rigs.

Several drilling rig owners have recently announaed begun to cold stack and scrap drilling rigécviyenerally are older and not
expected to be competitive. We expect that additiannouncements are likely in the near future @salt of the potential overall lower global
demand for offshore drilling rigs and expectatitimst many of the scheduled newbuild drilling rige delivered and compete for global rig
activity. Since October 1, 2014, we have been ieatiflirectly by customers or through public ann@ament that 24 offshore drilling rigs we
serve will be cold-stacked or scrapped. Revenugegan 2014 from these 24 offshore drilling rigssvi#.0 million. Additionally, the Baker
Hughes U.S. land rig count has declined approxim&2% to 1,310 units in late February since iterg peak of 1,931 in late November.

In addition, uncertainties that could impact owfjtability include service responsiveness to regriotations, communication network
complexities, political and economic instabilitydartain regions, export restrictions, licenses athér trade barriers. These uncertainties may
result in the delay of service initiation, which ynaegatively impact our results of operations.

Additional uncertainties that could impact our agerg cash flows include the availability and cofsatellite bandwidth, timing of
collecting our receivables, and our ability to &se our contracted services through sales ancetimaylefforts while leveraging the contracted
satellite and other communication service costs.

Regulatory Matter

We cannot predict the ultimate outcome of the OFRR@ BIS investigation (described in this Item unidherheading “Regulatory
Matter”), the total costs to be incurred in comiplgtthe investigation, the potential impact on persl, the effect of implementing any further
measures that may be necessary to ensure full amplwith applicable laws or to what extent, it we could be subject to fines, sanctions
or other penalties.

Potential Future Goodwill Impairment

During our December 31, 2014 interim impairment, téee fair value of our North America Land repogiunit, in our Western
Hemisphere reportable segment, exceeded carrying g approximately 5.1%. As of December 31, 2@id,goodwill balance held by our
North America Land reporting unit was $10.9 milligxny future downturn in our North America Land mess could adversely impact the |
assumptions in our goodwill impairment test. While believe that there appears to be no indicatia@uwent or future impairment, historical
operating results may not be indicative of futupermating results and events and circumstances oy causing a triggering event in a period
as short as three months.
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Critical Accounting Policies

Certain of our accounting policies require judgmantmanagement in selecting the appropriate assongpfor calculating financial
estimates. By their nature, these judgments aresuio an inherent degree of uncertainty. Thedgrents are based on our historical
experience, terms of existing contracts, observaftends in the industry, information providedduy customers, and information available
from other outside sources, as appropriate. Fuagealts may differ from these judgments under diifé assumptions or conditions. Our
accounting policies that require management toyagighificant judgment include:

Revenue Recognition — General

All revenue, excluding telecoms systems integratiomtracts, is recognized when persuasive evidehaa arrangement exists, the
service is complete, the amount is fixed or deteablie and collectability is reasonably assuredwidek service fee revenue is based on fixed-
price, day-rate contracts and recognized monththaservice is provided. Generally, customer @mtéralso provide for installation and
maintenance services. Installation services am ygaon initiation of the contract and recognizedrahe life of the respective contract.
Maintenance charges are recognized as specificcesrare performed. Deferred revenue consistsfefréel installation billings, customer
deposits and other prepayments for which serviegs hot yet been rendered. Revenue is reporteaf ety tax or regulatory fees assessec
collected on behalf of a governmental authorityctStax or fee is then remitted directly to the ayppiate jurisdictional entity.

Revenue Recognition — Telecoms Systems IntegraBofutions

Revenues related to long-term telecoms systemgratien contracts for customized network solutiares recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method. At any point, Righlas numerous contracts in progress, all of waiehat various stages of completion.
Accounting for revenues and profits on long-termtcacts requires estimates of total estimated aohtosts and estimates of progress towart
completion to determine the extent of revenue anfitgecognition. Progress towards completion iced price contracts is measured base
the ratio of costs incurred to total estimated @msitcosts (the cost-to-cost method). These estsmany be revised as additional information
becomes available or as specific project circunt&samchange.

We review all of our material contracts on a mopthéisis and revise the estimates as appropriatkef@opments such as, providing
services and purchasing third-party materials andpenent at costs differing from those previoustireated and incurring or expecting to
incur schedule issues. Changes in estimated fordtact revenues and costs can either increasecoeake the final estimated contract profit o
loss. Profits are recorded in the period in whiahange in estimate is recognized, based on pmge#seved through the period of change.
Anticipated losses on contracts are recorded Inirfuhe period in which they become evident. Raxerecognized in excess of amounts billed
is classified as a current asset under prepaidsggeand other current assets. As of Decembei034, &hd 2013, the amount of unbilled
revenue related to telecoms systems integratiojegsowas $13.8 million and $7.2 million, respeeljv Amounts billed to clients in excess of
revenue recognized to date are classified as amurability under deferred revenue. Under longrt€ontracts, amounts recorded in work in
process may not be realized or paid, respectivathjn a one-year period.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recognized as cust@reebilled in accordance with customer contrabts report an allowance for
doubtful accounts for probable credit losses axisiin accounts receivable. Management determireealtbwance based on a review of
currently outstanding receivables and our histbgo#iection experience. Significant individual eeeables and balances which have been
outstanding greater than 90 days are reviewed ithailly. Account balances, when determined to beollectible, are charged against the
allowance.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of (i) heaunication and computer equipment, (i) furnitarel other, (iii) building and
(iv) land. All property, plant and equipment, exditug land, is depreciated and stated at acquisttdmt net of accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided using the strai¢jne method over the expected useful lives of tepective assets, which range from one to ten )
We assess property, plant and equipment for imgaitiwhen events indicate the carrying value excésdsalue. Maintenance and repair
costs are charged to expense when incurred. Narimeat to fixed assets was recorded in the yeae@mrecember 31, 2014. During the year
ended December 31, 2013, we impaired fixed asge$®5 million related to the loss of a certaintouser. We reached a legal settlement witt
said customer which reimbursed us for the costnpfiired equipment.
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Maintenance and repair costs are charged to expemse incurred.

Goodwill

Gooduwill relates to the acquisitions of LandTel Gounications LLC (LandTel), OilCamp AS (OilCamp)daNessco as the
consideration paid exceeded the fair value of aedudentifiable net tangible and intangibles assBbodwill is reviewed for impairment
annually, as of July 31st, with additional evalaati being performed when events or circumstanabsate that the carrying value of these
assets may not be recoverable.

Goodwill impairment is determined using a two-spepcess. The first step of the impairment tessiduo identify potential impairment
by comparing the fair value of each reporting tmithe book value of the reporting unit, includiopgodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit is
determined using a combination of the reporting'sieixpected present value of future cash flowsanthrket approach. The present value of
future cash flows is estimated using our most refmecast and our weighted average cost of cafited market approach uses a market
multiple on the reporting un&’cash generated from operations. Significant eséisnfor each reporting unit included in our impeEnt analysi
are cash flow forecasts, our weighted averageafastpital, projected income tax rates and markdtiples. Changes in these estimates coulc
affect the estimated fair value of our reportingtsiand result in an impairment of goodwill in dute period.

If the fair value of a reporting unit is less thmbook value, goodwill of the reporting unit isrsidered to be impaired and the second
step of the impairment test is performed to meatweeamount of impairment loss, if any. The secsteg of the impairment test compares the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’'s goodwiliith the book value of that goodwill. If the boe&lue of the reporting unit's goodwiill
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill,isxpairment loss is recognized in an amount equ#iat excess. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined by allocating the reportungjt’s fair value to all of its assets and liatid# other than goodwill in the same manner as &
purchase price allocation. Any impairment in thiueaof goodwill is charged to earnings in the pésoich impairment is determined.

In connection with the January 2014 acquisitiotnofiarsat’'s Enterprise Energy business unit, wevauated our segments and repot
units. We are now presenting TSI as a separatetedppe segment. As such, goodwill associated viigh@ilcamp and Nessco acquisitions was
reallocated between the reporting units withinEastern Hemisphere and TSI reportable segments loaseslative fair value.

Any impairment in the value of goodwill is charg®edearnings in the period such impairment is deiteech In 2014, we recognized $2.7
million in impairment of goodwill related to the T&porting unit. Such impairment was a result sfgnificant decline in oil prices and global
oil and gas activity for which an impairment testsaperformed as of December 31, 2014. This circamestresulted in a reduction in the cash
flow projections in our revision of internal foresta. Specifically the TSI segment was impacteddsliding contracted backlog, which redur
the estimated fair value of our TSI reporting u@tow its carrying value.

During our interim December 31, 2014 impairment, td® fair value of goodwill held by our North Anea Land reporting unit, in our
Western Hemisphere reportable segment, exceedadngavalue by 5.1%. As of December 31, 2014, thedyvill balance held by our North
America Land reporting unit was $10.9 million. Afuture downturn in our business could adverselydotphe key assumptions in our
goodwill impairment test. While we believe thatréa@ppears to be no indication of current or futtmeairment, historical operating results
may not be indicative of future operating resuitd avents and circumstances may occur causinggeting event in a period as short as three
months.

We recorded no goodwill impairments in 2013 or 2012

Stock-Based Compensation

We have three stock-based compensation plansOti@ @mnibus Incentive Plan (2010 Plan), the Rightet, 2006 LongFerm Incentive
Plan (2006 Plan) and the RigNet Inc. 2001 Perfoaaa®tock Option Plan (2001 Plan). All equity instents granted under either the 2001
Plan or the 2006 Plan are settled in stock. Allitggastruments
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currently outstanding under the 2010 Plan will ettled in stock, however future awards granted sgbsnt to December 31, 2014 may be
settled in stock or cash and may be classifiedjagyeor liability instruments, as determined by tlype of award granted.

Our policy is to recognize compensation expensadovice-based awards on a straight-line basistbearequisite service period for the
entire award. Expense for stock-based compensgtiated to equity awards is recorded using theutatied fair value of options on the grant
date of the awards. Fair value of options on tlemgdate is determined using the Black-Scholes imadhéch requires judgment in estimating
the expected term of the option, risk-free interat, expected volatility of our stock and divideield of the option.

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhengrant date using a Black-Scholes option valnahodel, which uses certain
assumptions as of the date of grant:

. Expected Volatility—based on peer group price volatility for periodsiealent to the expected term of the optir

. Expected Tern—expected life adjusted based on management'ssktstate for the effects of non-transferabilityeexse
restriction and behavioral consideratic

. Risk-free Interest Rate—risk-free rate, for periods within the contracttexins of the options, is based on the U.S. Trgagetd
curve in effect at the time of gra

. Dividend Yield—expected dividends based on the Com['s historical dividend rate at the date of gt
The fair value of restricted stock on the granedatequal to the market price of RigNet's commimetls on the date of grant.

Additionally, in connection with RigNet’s acquigiti of LandTel, LandTel issued share appreciatightsi (SARS) to certain employees.
The value of these SARs was based on the valdedfandTel subsidiary only and was classified kahality award by the Company. We
recorded expense for these awards based on theafa@ of the awards at each balance sheet dabeigiih December 31, 2011. In 2012, all
outstanding SARs were settled in cash upon exebgis®lders. We have not issued nor do we currdrale plans to issue any additional
SARs or any other awards which would be class#iga liability awards or settled in cash.

Stock-based compensation expense is based on awtinastely expected to vest. We did not issuetiom@l shares nor pay cash in lieu
of fractional shares.

Taxes

Current income taxes are determined based onxHaws and rates in effect in the jurisdictions aodntries that the Company operates
in and revenue is earned. Deferred income taxéectdhe tax effect of net operating losses, fardax credits and the tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amount of assetdiabilities for financial statement and incora& purposes, as determined under enacted
tax laws and rates. Valuation allowances are dsteddl when management determines that it is mieeéy/lthan not that some portion or the
entire deferred tax asset will not be realized. BeBeral deferred tax liabilities are recordedtti@ unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries
that are not permanently reinvested, net of patefareign tax credits; otherwise, no U.S. Feddedkrred taxes are provided on foreign
subsidiaries. The financial effect of changes inléavs or rates is accounted for in the periodraatment.

From time to time, the Company engages in tramsagtin which the tax consequences may be subjentdertainty. In the normal cou
of business, the Company prepares and files taxngbased on interpretation of tax laws and reiguls, which are subject to examination by
various taxing authorities. Such examinations neeylt in future tax and interest assessments tpettaxing authorities. We evaluate our tax
positions and recognize only tax benefits for ficiahpurposes that, more likely than not, will hesined upon examination, including
resolutions of any related appeals or litigatioogeisses, based on the technical merits of theiqrosit

The Company has elected to include income taxe@laterest and penalties as a component of incarmexpense.

47



Table of Contents

Changes in tax laws and rates may affect recordéstred tax assets and liabilities and our effectax rate in the future. In addition,
United Kingdom'’s and Brunei’s corporate income tates are decreasing 1.0% and 1.5% respectivel§is.

New Accounting Pronouncements

No standard implemented during 2014 or 2013 hadtnal effect on our financial position, cash flowresults of operations. See our
audited consolidated financial statements inclugledwhere in this Annual Report on FormK.@er more details regarding our implemental
and assessment of new accounting standards.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected financiadl @perating data for the periods indicated.

Percentage Changt

Year Ended December 31 2013 tc 2012 tc
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
(in thousands, except percentac
Revenue $330,17:  $220,71( $161,66¢ 49.6% 36.5%
Expenses
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 188,20¢ 118,88: 81,07: 58.2% 46.€%
Depreciation and amortizatic 29,46 21,04¢ 17,53« 40.(% 20.(%
Impairment of goodwil 2,71¢ — — * *
Selling and marketin 6,56¢ 3,78¢ 3,081 73.2% 22.&%
General and administratiy 69,13¢ 48,77( 37,18 41.8% 31.2%
Total expense 296,09( 192,48! 138,87( 53.&% 38.6%
Operating incomi 34,08 28,22¢ 22,79¢ 20.£% 23.8%
Other expense, n (2,707 (2,529 (2,045 7.1% 23.4%
Income before income tax 31,38: 25,70z 20,75¢ 22.1% 23.8%
Income tax expens (15,400 (9,159 (8,739 68.2% 4.5%
Net income 15,98 16,54« 12,02: (3.4% 37.€%
Less: Net income attributable to r-controlling interest: 34¢ 20¢ 13¢ 67.5% 49.6%
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. stockhok $ 15,63t $ 16,33¢ $ 11,88. (4.9% 37.5%
Other Non-GAAP Data:
Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortrat $141,96' $101,82¢ $ 80,59¢ 39.42% 26.2%
Adjusted EBITDA $ 73,73 $ 56,17¢ $ 43,58! 31.2% 28.%
Cash Earning $ 56,15( $ 44,737 $ 33,29¢ 25.5% 34.4%
Cash EP¢ $ 314 $ 258 $ 1.9¢ 23.1% 30.2%
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Our business operations are managed through tepeetable operating segments: Eastern Hemisphegstdm Hemisphere and
Telecoms Systems Integration. The following repnésselected financial operating results for ognsents:

Percentage Chang:

Year Ended December 31 2013 tc 2012 tc

2014 2013 2012 2014 2013
(in thousands, except percentac

Eastern Hemisphere:

Revenue $163,93! $128,98° $88,37: 27.1% 46.(%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 76,84 58,82¢ 34,44¢ 30.€% 70.8%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 87,09: 70,16! 53,92¢ 24.1% 30.1%
Depreciation and amortizatic 13,24¢ 8,701 7,854 52.2% 10.8%
Selling, general and administrati 14,75( 14,94¢ 9,50¢ (1.9% 57.2%
Eastern Hemisphere operating inca $ 59,09 $ 46,51 $36,56! 27.1% 27.2%
Western Hemisphere:
Revenue $112,95¢ $ 54,227 $49,88. 108.% 8.7%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ameatitin) 58,99¢ 25,06: 22,59¢ 135.4% 10.%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 53,96( 29,15¢ 27,28: 85.1% 6.%
Depreciation and amortizatic 11,26 7,14¢ 7,40¢ 57.5% (3.5%
Selling, general and administrati 16,144 7,84 7,38¢ 105.7% 6.2%
Western Hemisphere operating inco $ 26,55¢ §$ 14,160 $12,48¢ 87.5% 13.%%
Telecoms Systems Integration
Revenue $ 53,28: $ 37,50: $23,417 42.1% 60.1%
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 42,644 29,56¢ 20,057 44.2% 47.5%
Gross Profit (no-GAAP measure 10,63¢ 7,93: 3,36t 34.1% 135.%
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,80¢ 4,36¢ 2,22¢ (12.9% 96.(%
Impairment of goodwil 2,71¢ — — * *
Selling, general and administrati 3,82¢ 1,057 2,382  262.%% (55.60%
Telecoms Systems Integration operating income) $ 28t $ 2,507 $(1,246) (88.)% *

NOTE: Consolidated balances include the three satgadove along with corporate activities and caerpany eliminations

Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

RevenueRevenue increased by $109.5 million, or 49.6%,3802 million for the year ended December 31, 20drh $220.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2013. The acaqunsiti Inmarsat’s Enterprise Energy business umtrdauted $80.2 million in revenue
across all three reportable segments. Excludingisat's Enterprise Energy business unit's reverawenue increased by $29.3 million or
13.3%. This organic increase was driven by thedfadiemisphere segment which increased $22.4 mjlio 17.4%, and the Western
Hemisphere segment which increased $13.8 millio2506%. These increases are primarily due to asmd revenue-per-site and increased
sites served across the Eastern and Western Heznéispbgments. Revenue-per-site increased as aaksdreased services per site and the
growing bandwidth needs of our customers acrosgE#stern and Western Hemisphere segments.

Cost of RevenuegCost of revenue consists primarily of satellitergies, voice and data termination costs, networkatjoms
expenses, internet connectivity fees, equipmerthasges for telecoms systems integration projectslaact service labor. Satellite charges
consist of the costs associated with obtaininglgatbandwidth (the measure of capacity) usecattansmission of service to and from lease
satellites. Direct service labor consists of figddhnicians, our Network Operations Center emplsyaerd other employees who directly
provide services to customers. Network operatioqperses consist primarily of costs associated thighoperation of our network operations
center, which is maintained 24 hours a day, seags d week. Cost of revenue increased by $69.2milbr 58.3%, to $188.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2014 from $118.9 millioriHe year ended December
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2013. The acquisition of Inmarsat's Enterprise Bgdrusiness unit added $58.3 million to costs acadishree reportable segments. Excludin
Inmarsat’s Enterprise Energy business unit, costeased by $11.0 million, or 9.2%, to $129.9 wiillfrom $118.9 million. This increase is
primarily due to incremental network services aatblite charges to support growing bandwidth neddsur customers across the Eastern an
Western Hemisphere segments.

Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortaatincreased by $40.1 million, or 39.4%, to $14&ibion for the year ended
December 31, 2014 from $101.8 million for the yeaded December 31, 2013. Gross Profit (excludipyedgation and amortization) as a
percentage of revenue decreased to 43.0% for treeywled December 31, 2014 compared to 46.1%dorehr ended December 31, 2013.
Excluding Inmarsat's Enterprise Energy business @ross Profit (excluding depreciation and amaiten) increased by $18.3 million, or
18.0%, to $120.1 million for the year ended Decen®ie 2014 from $101.8 million for the year endeecBmber 31, 2013. Excluding
Inmarsat’'s Enterprise Energy business unit, GrosBtRexcluding depreciation and amortization)eagercentage of revenue increased to
48.1% for the year ended December 31, 2014 comparé@.1% for the year ended December 31, 2013ifldreased Gross Profit (excluding
depreciation and amortization) is primarily atttiiole to growing bandwidth needs of our customersss the Eastern and Western
Hemisphere segments and partially offset by ina@a®sts, which have supported our growing revenues

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization is recognized omuadperty, plant and equipment either installed at a
customer’s site or held at our corporate and regioffices, as well as intangibles arising from@siions and internal use software.
Depreciation and amortization expenses increasekBhymillion, or 40.0%, to $29.5 million for thegr ended December 31, 2014 from $21.
million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Titsease is primarily attributable to the continireectease in our capital expenditures and
the acquisition of depreciable property, plant agdipment and amortizable intangibles as part@inimarsat’'s Enterprise Energy business
unit acquisition.

Impairment of Goodwill.In December 2014 we performed an interim impairntestt of goodwill as a result of a significant deelin oil
prices and global oil and gas activity. As a resfithis interim impairment test we recognized $2illion in impairment of goodwill in our
TSI reporting unit, which was impacted by declincantracted backlog that reduced the estimated/éire of our TSI reporting unit below its
carrying value.

Selling and Marketing.Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilgadéries and commissions, travel costs and marketi
communications. Selling and marketing expensegasad by $2.8 million, or 73.4%, to $6.6 milliom foe year ended December 31, 2014
from $3.8 million for the year ended December 3112

General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses consist ofresgseassociated with our management, finance,aantr
support and administrative functions. General afrdinistrative expenses increased by $20.4 milliw1.8%, to $69.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014 from $48.8 million forytbar ended December 31, 2013. General and adraisticosts increased primarily due
to costs and increased office space and acquisiiated to the acquisition of Inmarsat’'s Entegfisergy business unit, increased
compensation resulting from non-acquisition reldteddcount additions and increased stock-basedestsation.

Income Tax ExpenseOur effective income tax rate was 49.1% and 35.68tHe years ended December 31, 2014 and 201 Zatbsgly.
Our effective tax rates are affected by factorfuidiog changes in the valuation allowance relatedperating in loss jurisdictions for which a
benefit cannot be claimed, fluctuations in incoromas international jurisdictions with varying tates, and changes in income tax reserves.
See Note 14 — “Income Taxes,” to our consolidatedricial statements included elsewhere in this ahReport on Form 10-K for more
information regarding the items comprising our efffiee tax rates.

Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

RevenueRevenue increased by $59.0 million, or 36.5%, 8062 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 f$161.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012. This increatgdeg an increase of $28.9 million of revenue dbuated by Nessco. Exclusive of Nessco,
the revenue increased in each of our reportabl@ests. Western Hemisphere revenue increased $4i@mor 8.7%. Eastern Hemisphere
revenue increased $40.6 million, or 46.0%. TSI nexeincreased $14.1 million, or 60.1%. These irsgeare primarily due to increases in :
served and increased revenue-per-site resultimy frandwidth upgrades and additional value-addedcssr provided.
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Cost of RevenuegCost of revenue increased by $37.8 million, or 46.6 $118.9 million for the year ended December281 3 from
$81.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012s increase includes an increase of $20.7 milibcosts incurred by Nessco. Exclusive
of Nessco, cost of revenue increased by $17.1anijlprimarily due to incremental network serviced aapacity required to serve the increi
sites and bandwidth upgrades across all segments.

Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortaatincreased by $21.2 million, or 26.3%, to $101i8ion for the year ended
December 31, 2013 from $80.6 million for the yemded December 31, 2012. This increase includes@ease of $8.2 million of Gross Profit
(excluding depreciation and amortization) contréalby Nessco. Excluding Nessco, Gross Profit (eketudepreciation and amortization) as ¢
percentage of revenue decreased to 53.6%, foralwegnded December 31, 2013 compared to 55.9%dardar ended December 31, 2012.
This decrease is primarily attributable to increbsests of bandwidth capacity associated with ied site counts, bandwidth upgrades and
increased project lead-time.

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expenses increaseBiB/million, or 20.0%, to $21.0 million for thegr
ended December 31, 2013 from $17.5 million forytbar ended December 31, 2012. Amortization experseased due to the intangible
assets purchased in the Nessco acquisition. Additig depreciation expense increased due to aosdifincreases in our capital expenditures,
which support our growing operations.

Selling and Marketing.Selling and marketing expenses increased by $0dlibmior 22.8%, to $3.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 from $3.1 million for the yeadeshDecember 31, 2012.

General and AdministrativeGeneral and administrative expenses increased hy $illion, or 31.2%, to $48.8 million for the yea
ended December 31, 2013 from $37.2 million forytear ended December 31, 2012. This increase ingladéncrease of $0.9 million in costs
incurred by Nessco during 2013. Excluding Nesseogegal and administrative costs increased $10lomprimarily due to increased
compensation resulting from headcount additionsiacigased stock-based compensation, costs rdtatad acquisition of Inmarsat'’s
Enterprise Energy business unit that closed onalsril, 2014, and a contingent liability and reddtgal costs reserved for potential
violations of U.S. sanctions regulations (see “Rafguy Matter” section below).

Income Tax ExpenseOur effective income tax rate was 35.6% and 42.48the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 atbsgly.
Our effective tax rates are affected by factorduiding fluctuations in income across internatiojaisdictions with varying tax rates, changes
in the valuation allowance related to operating inss jurisdiction for which a benefit cannot keroed, and changes in income tax reserves.
See Note 14 — “Income Taxes,” to our consolidatedricial statements included elsewhere in this ahReport on Form 10-K for more
information regarding the items comprising our efifee tax rates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2014, we had working capital of&I0million, including cash and cash equivalent$&6.6 million, current restricted
cash of $1.2 million, accounts receivable of $ilion and other current assets of $21.3 millioffset by $13.6 million in accounts payable,
$23.2 million in accrued expenses, $8.4 milliorimrent maturities of long-term debt, $5.0 milliontax related liabilities and $4.8 million in
deferred revenue.

Over the past three years, annual capital expaedittave grown from $21.9 million to $40.2 millidae to continued increase of sites
served. Based on our current expectations, weugetiar liquidity and capital resources will be gti#int for the conduct of our business and
operations for the foreseeable future. We may adsoa portion of our available cash to finance ginaiwough the acquisition of, or investm
into, businesses, products, services or techndagimplementary to our current business, througiyens, acquisitions, and joint ventures or
otherwise.

Cash in foreign subsidiaries that is availablerégratriation to our domestic parent, after settienoé intercompany payables and note:
$8.4 million. If the entire $8.4 million were repated, we would be liable for an additional $2.Hion of taxes. A federal deferred tax liabil
has already been recognized as of December 31,&0RU5 million for those earnings that are natsidered permanently reinvested.

During the next twelve months, we expect our ppatsources of liquidity to be cash flows from agigrg activities, cash and cash
equivalents on hand and availability under our itrfaility. In forecasting our cash flows we has@nsidered factors including contracted
services related to long-term deepwater drillinggpams, U.S. land rig count trends, projected il aatural gas prices, contracted and
available satellite bandwidth.
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While we believe we have sufficient liquidity analpital resources to meet our current operatingireauents and expansion plans, we
may want to pursue additional expansion opportesiivithin the next year which could require addiibfinancing, either debt or equity.

Beyond the next twelve months, we expect our ppaicsources of liquidity to be cash flows providgdoperating activities, cash and
cash equivalents on hand, availability under oaditrfacility and additional financing activitiesswnay pursue, which may include debt or
equity offerings.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Dat:

Cash and cash equivalents, Januai $ 59,82: $ 59,74« $ 53,10¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 43,76: 28,04¢ 32,25
Net cash used in investing activiti (65,339 (28,844 (66,767)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 30,53¢ 3,20z 37,70
Changes in foreign currency translat (2,217 (2,325 3,43¢
Cash and cash equivalents, Decembe $ 66,57¢ $ 59,82: $ 59,744

Currently, the Norwegian kroner and the British pdsterling are the foreign currencies that couddemally impact our liquidity. Our
historical experience with exchange rates for tleeseencies has been relatively stable and, comselyiwe do not currently hedge these ri:
but evaluate these risks on a continual basis amdput financial instruments in place in the futifrdeemed necessary. During the years el
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, 78.7%, 63.6%6&r1d%6 of our revenue was denominated in U.S. doltaspectively.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $48il8on for the year ended December 31, 2014 caexbéo $28.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013. The increase in cashdemty operating activities during 2014 of $15.8ion was primarily due to increased
operating income from our core operations coupléh increased accrued expenses partially offsehbytiming of collections of our accounts
receivable and paying our accounts payable.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $28il0on for the year ended December 31, 2013 caexbéo $32.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease in cashdptbliy operating activities during 2013 of $4.3limnl was primarily due to the timing of
collections of our accounts receivable, changesimprepaid expenses due to telecoms systems atitmgprojects partially offset by increased
profitability of our core operations.

Our cash provided by operations is subject to memiables, the most significant of which is theatdity of the oil and gas industry and,
therefore, the demand for our services. Other fadgtopacting operating cash flows include the alality and cost of satellite bandwidth, as
well as the timing of collecting our receivablesir@uture cash flow from operations will dependaur ability to increase our contracted
services through our sales and marketing efforigevidveraging the contracted satellite and otlmenmunication service costs.

52



Table of Contents

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $65.3anil $28.8 million and $66.8 million in the yeasded December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively. Of these amounts $40.2 mill§89.2 million, and $21.9 million, respectively, iwdor capital expenditures, an increase of
$10.0 million and $8.3 million for the years endgecember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, comparedch of the respective prior periods.
We expect capital expenditures to continue to gilaving 2015 primarily resulting from growth oppartities arising from new build high
specification deepwater drilling rigs.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, net cashmugaesting activities also included cash usediie acquisition of Inmarsat’'s
Enterprise Energy business unit, totaling $26.lionil

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $3@iBion, $3.2 million and $37.7 million in the yesaended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012, respectively.

Cash provided by financing activities during tharyended December 31, 2014 consisted primarily86fGmillion in draws on our
revolving credit facility, which was used, alongtiveash on hand, to finance our acquisition of Irsatis Enterprise Energy business unit and
for other general corporate purposes. We alsovede$1.6 million in proceeds from the issuancearhimon stock upon the exercise of stock
options and warrants. These inflows were partiaffget by $8.6 million of principal payments on dang-term debt for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

Cash provided by financing activities during tharyended December 31, 2013 was attributable tor$8li&n in borrowings in
connection with the amendment of our term loan$5@ million in proceeds from the issuance of comrstwck upon the exercise of stock
options and warrants. This inflow was partiallyseff by $7.2 million of principal payments on oundeterm debt.

Credit Agreement

The Company has a $60.0 million term loan and $18%llion revolving credit facility, which includes $15 million sublimit for the
issuance of standby letters of credit.

The term loan bears an interest rate of LIBOR plusargin ranging from 1.5% to 2.5%, based on a w@#tfunded debt to Adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure defined in dgreement. Interest is payable monthly along gitarterly principal installments of
$2.1 million, with the balance due October 2018 Weighted average interest rate for the year eDdegmber 31, 2014 and 2013 was 2.1%
and 2.8%, respectively, with an interest rate 8#d.at December 31, 2014. The Term Loan is securedibstantially all the assets of the
Company. As of December 31, 2014, the outstandimgipal amount of the term loan was $51.4 million.

Our term loan agreement imposes certain restrigtiociuding our ability to obtain additional debtdncing and on our payment of cash
dividends. It also requires us to maintain cerfaiancial covenants such as a funded debt to AefUEBITDA ratio of less than or equal to 3.0
to 1.0 and a fixed charge coverage ratio of nat{ean 1.25 to 1.0. At December 31, 2014, we beligg were in compliance with all
covenants.

The revolving credit facility matures in Octoberl®0with any outstanding borrowings then payabler@eings under the revolving
facility carry an interest rate of LIBOR plus arpéipable margin ranging from 1.5% to 2.5%, whiclii@a as a function of the Company’s
leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2014, $35.0i@nilin draws have been made on the facility andaierautstanding. The weighted average
interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2@541.9%, with an interest rate of 1.9% at Decer3ie£014.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not engage in any off-balance sheet arranggsme

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

At December 31, 2014, we had contractual obligatiamd commercial commitments as follows:

2020 anc
Total 2015 2016- 2017 2018- 201¢ Beyond
(in thousands
Contractual Obligations:
Debt obligation:
Term loan $ 50,94( $ 8,40¢ $ 16,85¢ $ 25,67; $ —
Revolving loar 35,00( — — 35,00( —
Equipment note 171 — 171 — —
Interest (1 4,772 1,561 2,63¢ 577 —
Operating lease 8,41¢ 2,741 3,87¢ 1,79¢ —
Commercial Commitments:
Satellite and network servic 112,00: 30,11¢ 47,00( 34,88: —

$211,29¢ $42,82¢ $ 70,53; $ 97,93t $ —

(1) Computed on the expected outstanding prindipknce through the term of the Credit Agreemedrtheainterest rate in effect at
December 31, 201

As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s other naratitiabilities in the Consolidated Balance Shawtsist primarily of deferred tax
liabilities ($0.2 million), gross unrecognized tagnefits ($15.5 million) and the related grossregeand penalties. At this time, the Compal
unable to make a reasonably reliable estimateeofithing of payments in individual years in conmattwith these liabilities; therefore, such
amounts are not included in the above contractolidations table.

Regulatory Matter

In 2013, our internal compliance program detectemtial violations of U.S. sanctions regulatiogsome of our foreign subsidiaries in
connection with certain of our customers’ rigs tivate moved into the territorial waters of courgréanctioned by the United States. We
estimate that we received total revenue of appratefy $0.1 million during the period related to th@ential violations. These countries are
subject to a number of economic regulations, inolgdanctions administered by OFAC, and comprelensistrictions on the export and re-
export of U.S.-origin items to these countries adstéred by BIS. Our customers that are not baséluki U.S. are not subject to the same
restrictions on operating in these countries aareebut we are prohibited from providing servioegacilitating the provision of services to
their rigs in transit to or while operating in ansioned country.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulas relating to sanctions and export restrictioay subject us to criminal sanctions
and civil remedies, including fines, denial of erpgarivileges, injunctions or seizures of our asséfe have voluntarily self-reported the
potential violations to OFAC and BIS and retainetsale counsel who conducted an investigation @intlatter and submitted a report to
OFAC and BIS. We continue to cooperate with thegmaies with respect to resolution of the matter.

We incurred legal expenses of $0.1 million and $iillon for the years ended December 31, 20142018, respectively, relating to tt
investigation. We may continue to incur significkegal fees and related expenses, and the invéetiganay involve management time in the
future in order to cooperate with OFAC and BIS. ¥danot predict the ultimate outcome of the invediam, the total costs to be incurred in
completing the investigation, the potential impactpersonnel, the effect of implementing any furtineasures that may be necessary to enst
full compliance with applicable laws or to whatext, if at all, we could be subject to fines, sart or other penalties.
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Non-GAAP Measures

The nonGAAP financial measures, Gross Profit (excludingréeiation and amortization) and Adjusted EBITDAgymot be comparak
to similarly titted measures used by other comparii&erefore, these ndBAAP measures should be considered in conjunctitimwet incom
and other performance measures prepared in aca@adth GAAP, such as gross profit, operating ineannet cash provided by operating
activities. Further, Gross Profit (excluding defpagion and amortization) and Adjusted EBITDA shountit be considered in isolation or as a
substitute for GAAP measures such as net inconossgrofit, operating income or any other GAAP mea®f liquidity or financial
performance. Our Gross Profit (excluding deprescratind amortization) and Adjusted EBITDA may notbenparable to similarly titled
measures of other companies because other compaajesot calculate Gross Profit (excluding depitsmsand amortization), Adjusted
EBITDA or similarly titled measures in the same manas we do. We prepare Gross Profit (excludingestgation and amortization) and
Adjusted EBITDA to eliminate the impact of itemstlwe do not consider indicative of our core opegaperformance. We encourage you to
evaluate these adjustments and the reasons weleoktisdm appropriate.

The following table presents a reconciliation afgg profit under GAAP to Gross Profit (excludingdeciation and amortization).

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands
Gross profi $113,86¢ $ 81,95( $63,96¢
Depreciation and amortization related to cost séreie 28,09% 19,87¢ 16,63¢
Gross Profit (excluding depreciation and amortorat $141,96! $101,82¢ $80,59¢

GAAP defines gross profit as revenue less costwémue, and includes in costs of revenue depregiatid amortization expenses rele
to revenue-generating long-lived and intangibletsdVe define Gross Profit (excluding depreciatiod amortization) as revenue less cost o
revenue (excluding depreciation and amortizati®h)s measure differs from the GAAP definition obgs profit as we do not include the
impact of depreciation and amortization expenslkede® to revenue-generating long-lived and intalegiissets which represent non-cash
expenses. We believe this measure is useful teiokebecause management uses it to evaluate iogarargins and the effectiveness of cost
management.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of oat income to Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Earnings @agh EPS.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

Net income $ 15,98 $16,54:  $12,02:
Interest expens 2,18¢ 2,28: 1,552
Depreciation and amortizatic 29,46 21,04¢ 17,53¢

Impairment of goodwil 2,71¢ — —

Foreign exchange impact of intercompany financictiydies 85€ — —
(Gain) loss on sales of property, plant and equigimeet of retirement (44 66 (137)
Stocl-based compensatic 4,252 2,96: 2,50z
Acquisition costs 2,92: 4,11¢ 1,372
Income tax expens 15,40( 9,15¢ 8,73t
Adjusted EBITDA (no-GAAP measure $ 73,738  $56,17¢  $43,58:
Interest expens (2,18%) (2,289 (1,5572)
Income tax expens (15,400 (9,159 (8,739
Cash Earnings (n-GAAP measure $56,15(  $44,737  $33,29¢
Diluted Share! 17,89¢ 17,55: 17,017
Cash EPS (n-GAAP measure $ 314 $§ 258 $§ 1.9¢

We evaluate Adjusted EBITDA, Cash Earnings and G#38 generated from our operations and operatygeets to assess the
potential recovery of historical capital expendisirdetermine timing and investment levels for ghompportunities, extend commitments of
satellite bandwidth cost to expand our offshoredpotion platform and vessel market share, inveaein products and services, expand or
open new offices, service centers and SOIL nodebsaasist purchasing synergies.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, Adjus®&d BA increased by $17.6 million, or 31.3%, from6&3 million in 2013 to $73.7
million in 2014. The increase resulted from orgagriowth in our core offshore operations and, tessér extent, results from our acquisition of
Inmarsat’'s Enterprise Energy business unit paytialiset by increased compensation associatedheiticount additions.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, Adjus®&d BA increased by $12.6 million, or 28.9%, from3$@ million in 2012 to $56.2
million in 2013, which resulted primarily from tlaeldition of Nessco operations, in the middle of2Cds well as organic growth in our core
offshore operations partially offset by costs agged with headcount.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, Cashiiggrmcreased by $11.4 million, or $0.59 per ddwtbare, or 25.5%, from $44.7
million, or $2.55 per diluted share, in 2013 to $5@illion, or $3.14 per diluted share, in 2014eThcrease resulted from organic growth in
our core offshore operations and, to a lesser gxtesults from our acquisition of Inmarsat’'s Eptése Energy business unit partially offset by
increased compensation associated with headcoditicss.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, Cash iiggrmicreased by $11.4 million, or $0.59 per ddwgbare, or 34.4%, from $33.3
million, or $1.96 per diluted share, in 2012 to $#illion, or $2.55 per diluted share, in 2013 ethresulted primarily from the addition of
Nessco operations, in the middle of 2012, as vgetirganic growth in our core offshore operationdially offset by costs associated w
headcount.
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ltem 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about MarkRisk

We are subject to a variety of risks, includinggign currency exchange rate fluctuations relatinfpteign operations and certain
purchases from foreign vendors. In the normal emofdbusiness, we assess these risks and havéigstdipolicies and procedures to manage
our exposure to fluctuations in foreign currenciuea.

Our objective in managing our exposure to foreigmency exchange rate fluctuations is to reducerntipact of adverse fluctuations in
earnings and cash flows associated with foreigreogy exchange rates. We do not currently usedoreirrency forward contracts to hedge
our exposure on firm commitments denominated igifpr currencies, but evaluate this on a continaaisband may put financial instrument
place in the future if deemed necessary. Duringyfezes ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, 21.3%@G4A0, respectively of our revenues
were earned in non-U.S. currencies. At Decembe2314 and 2013, we had no significant outstandimgiin exchange contracts.

Our results of operations and cash flows are stibjeftuctuations due to changes in interest rat@sarily from our variable interest rate
long-term debt. We do not currently use finanaiakiuments to hedge these interest risk exposbuégyvaluate this on a continual basis and
may put financial instruments in place in the fetifrdeemed necessary. The following analysis c&fléhe annual impacts of potential change:
in our interest rate to net income attributablegaand our total stockholders’ equity based onootistanding long-term debt on December 31,
2014 and 2013, assuming those liabilities weretantkng for the entire year.

December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands

Effect on Net Income and Equity- Increase/Decrease

1% Decrease/increase in r: $ 511 $ 59¢

2% Decreasel/increase in ri $1,022 $1,191

3% Decrease/increase in r: $1,53¢ $1,787
ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary D¢

Our consolidated financial statements, togethen e related notes and report of independenttergis public accounting firm, are set
forth on the pages indicated in Item 15.

ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedure

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clarécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officeyaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2® 4. The term “disclosure controls and procesitiras defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1882 Exchange Act), means controls and other phares of a company that are designed
to ensure that information required to be discldsgd company in the reports that it files or susminder the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the piensds specified in the SE€Ctules and forms. Disclosure controls and proeasiinclude
without limitation, controls and procedures desifjt@ensure that information required to be disadiosy a company in the reports that it files
or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulatedcammunicated to the company’s management, inaduids principal executive and
principal financial officers, as appropriate taoalltimely decisions regarding required disclositanagement recognizes that any controls an
procedures, no matter how well designed and opkratan provide only reasonable assurance of actydheir objectives and management
necessarily applies its judgment in evaluatingahe&t-benefit relationship of possible controls anacedures. Based on the evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2®. 4, our Chief Executive Officer and
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Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of sdette, our disclosure controls and procedures wiéetize and provide reasonable assurance
that information required to be disclosed by thenpany is recorded, processed, summarized and eepovithin the time periods specified in
the SEC'’s rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by Rule 13a-15
(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during thartgr ended December 31, 2014 that has materifdigtad, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingaareporting.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

The management report called for by Item 308(&edulation S-K is provided below.
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MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANC |IAL REPORTING

The management of RigNet, Inc. and its subsididthles Company) is responsible for establishing maéhtaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. The Company’simal control system was designed to provide redslerassurance to management and the
Board of Directors regarding the reliability of éincial reporting and the preparation of financiatements for external purposes in accordanc
with generally accepted accounting principles.

All internal control systems, no matter how welsimed, have inherent limitations. Even those systdetermined to be effective can
provide only reasonable assurance with respedhamdial statement presentation and preparatiorh&) because of changes in conditions
effectiveness of internal control may vary overdim

As of December 31, 2014, our management assessedféictiveness of our internal control over finahceporting based on the criteria
for effective internal control over financial repiog established in Internal Control — Integratedrirework (2013), issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisdiased on the assessment, management determatedetimaintained effective inter
control over financial reporting as of December 2114, based on those criteria.

Management included in its assessment of intelatral over financial reporting all consolidatediges, but excluded the internal
control over financial reporting at Inmarsat PIEisterprise Energy business unit acquired by theg@my in January 2014. Inmarsat PIc’s
Enterprise Energy business unit financial statemeonstitute 18% and 9% of net and total assetpertively, of the consolidated financial
statement amounts as of December 31, 2014, andlnget 24% of revenues and a net income equab¥ &f net income of the consolidated
financial statement amounts for the year ended iDbee 31, 2014. Management determined that thenakeontrols of Inmarsat Plc's
Enterprise Energy business unit would be excludeah the internal control assessment as of DeceBthe2014, due to the timing of the
closing of the acquisition in January 2014 andexsnitted by the rules and regulations of the S&esrand Exchange Commission.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registerabligc accounting firm that audited our consolidatiedncial statements included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has issued arstton report on the effectiveness of internaltic@rover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014 which is included in Item 8. Roial Statements and Supplementary Data.
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Attestation Report of the Registered Accounting Fim

The independent auditor’s attestation report cdtedy Iltem 308(b) of Regulation S-K is incorpadtherein by reference to Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ¢l Control Over Financial Reporting), includedtem 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.

Limitations of the Effectiveness of Internal Contrd

A control system, no matter how well conceived apdrated, can provide only reasonable, not absassurance that the objectives of
the internal control system are met. Because oiitiierent limitations of any internal control systenternal control over financial reporting
may not detect or prevent misstatements. Projeztidany evaluation of the effectiveness to fuppeeods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in @i that the degree of compliance with the pediand procedures may deteriorate.

ltem 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part 11l is omitt&dm this Annual Report on Form 10-K as we intémdile our definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockhadthe “2015 Proxy Statement”) pursuant to Reguiat4A of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, not later than 120 dags tife end of the fiscal year covered by this AgiiReport on Form 10-K, and certain
information included in the Proxy Statement is iparated herein by reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govene

Certain information in response to this item isoiqorated herein by reference to “Our Board of Etwes and Nominees,'Our Executiv:
Officers” and “Corporate Governance” in the 2016xX3rStatement to be filed with the SEC. Informat@ncompliance with Section 16(a) of
the Exchange Act is incorporated herein by refezdnc'Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Report@ampliance” in the 2015 Proxy
Statement to be filed with the SEC.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a code of business conduct arcs €titide of conduct) applicable to our principa@xive, financial and accounting
officers. Copies of both the code of conduct, ak asany waiver of a provision of the code of cacidgranted to any principal executive,
financial and accounting officers or material amaedt to the code of conduct, if any, are availabighout charge, on our website at
Www.rig.net.

ltem 11. Executive Compensatio

Information in response to this item is incorpoddterein by reference to “Corporate Governance” &xeécutive Compensation” in the
2015 Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aMihnagement and Related Stockholder Mattt

Information in response to this item is incorpodaberein by reference to “Securities Authorizedlfmuance under Equity Compensation
Plans” and “Security Ownership of Certain Benefi@aners and Management” in the 2015 Proxy Statéeee filed with the SEC.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aditector Independence

Information in response to this item is incorpoddterein by reference to “Certain Relationships Bethted Transactions” in the 2015
Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC.

ltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Servict

Information in response to this item is incorpoddaberein by reference to “Fees Paid to Indepenegtstered Public Accounting Firm”
in the 2015 Proxy Statement to be filed with theCSE
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul

(A) Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Consolidated Financial Statements. The congelitifinancial statements listed in the accompan$findex to
Consolidated Financial Informati” are filed as part of this Annual Repc

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Scheduless@kédules have been omitted because the informatiprired to be
presented in them is not applicable or is showthénfinancial statements or related no

(B) Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits aledias part of this Annual Report for Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

RIGNET, INC.

By: /sl MARK B. SLAUGHTER March 2, 2015
Mark B. Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and orlétes indicated.

Name Title Date

/s MARK B. SLAUGHTER Chief Executive Officer, President and DirectoritiBipal March 2, 2015
Mark B. Slaughte Executive Officer)

/sl MARTIN L. JIMMERSON, JR. Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial & Acaaoting March 2, 2015
Martin L. Jimmerson, J Officer)

/s/ JAMES H. BROWNING Chairman of the Board March 2, 2015
James H. Brownin

/sl MATTIA CAPRIOLI Director March 2, 2015
Mattia Caprioli

/s/ CHARLES L. DAVIS IV Director March 2, 2015
Charles L. Davis I\

/s/ DITLEF DE VIBE Director March 2, 2015
Ditlef de Vibe

/s/ KEVIN MULLOY Director March 2, 2015
Kevin Mulloy

/s/ KEVIN J. OHARA Director March 2, 2015
Kevin J. CHara

/s/ KEITH OLSEN Director March 2, 2015
Keith Olsen

/s BRENT K. WHITTINGTON Director March 2, 2015

Brent K. Whittington
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Righec.
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of RigNet, Inc. and subsidiaries (tharigany”) as of December 31, 2014 and
2013, and the related consolidated statementsmprehensive income, cash flows, and equity for edi¢che three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014. These financial statementsareesponsibility of the Company’s management. i@sponsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of RigNet, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 201 3thenksults of their operations and their cash $léov each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with acciognprinciples generally accepted in the United&taf America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2014, based on the criteria establighbdérnal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013)issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission and our report datedcMa, 2015 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal cohtiver financial reporting.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 2, 2015
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Righec.
Houston, Texas

We have audited the internal control over finanglorting of RigNet, Inc. and subsidiaries (thehipany”) as of December 31, 2014, based
on criteria established in Internal Control — Intg@d Framework (2013) issued by the CommitteepohSoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. As described in ManagemergjsoR on Internal Control over Financial Reportinggnagement excluded from its
assessment the internal control over financial témpat Inmarsat Plc’s Enterprise Energy busingss(“Inmarsat”), which was acquired on
January 31, 2014 and whose financial statementstitate 18% and 9% of net and total assets, 248év@nues, and 26% of net income of the
consolidated financial statement amounts as offanthe year ended December 31, 2014. Accordiraly,audit did not include the internal
control over financial reporting at Inmarsat. Thengpany’s management is responsible for maintaieffegtive internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectigsrnd internal control over financial reportingelided in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporti@gir responsibility is to express an opinion o& @ompanys internal control over financi
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxe@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemiorg similar functions, and effected by the compapard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneediag the reliability of financial reporting anlget preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles. A company’s internaitcol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheanaintenance of records that, in reasonablel detaurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactionse@eded as necessary to permit preparatio
of financial statements in accordance with gengrdtepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are bein
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngan@ent and directors of the company; and (3) peoxédsonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcoinover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoarover financial reporting to future periods ateéject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotisat the degree of compliance with the polideprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all maleespects, effective internal control over fingl reporting as of December 31, 2014,
based on the criteria established in Internal @brtr Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Cdtemof Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year endexbBber 31, 2014 of the Company and our reportiddeech 2, 2015 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 2, 2015
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RIGNET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31

2014

2013

(in thousands, except share amou

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalel $ 66,57¢ $ 59,82:

Restricted cas 1,20( 50¢

Accounts receivable, n 74,62t 45,38¢

Prepaid expenses and other current a: 21,25: 14,23
Total current assets 163,65 119,95:
Property, plant and equipment, | 76,19¢ 59,05
Restricted cas 62 1,321
Goodwill 30,12¢ 34,52(
Intangibles, ne 21,05: 17,58(
Deferred tax and other ass 8,74 6,37¢
TOTAL ASSETS $ 299,83 $ 238,80:

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 13,56( $ 13,74«

Accrued expense 23,23( 12,94:

Current maturities of lor-term debt 8,40¢ 8,38¢

Income taxes payab 4,97¢ 4,35(

Deferred revenu 4,78( 2,901
Total current liabilities 54,95: 42,33.
Long-term debt 77,70¢ 51,17t
Deferred revenu 51€ 621
Deferred tax liability 22¢ 665
Other liabilities 24,34 19,22:
Total liabilities 157,74t 114,01!
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Equity:
Stockholders' equity

Preferred stock - $0.001 par value; 10,000,000eshanthorized; no shares issued or outstanding at

December 31, 2014 and 20 — —
Common stock - $0.001 par value; 190,000,000 skargwrized; 17,629,830 and 17,236,620 shal
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 arf®] 28dpectively 18 17

Additional paic¢in capital 137,66. 128,93.

Retained Earnings (Accumulated defis 10,93: (4,709

Accumulated other comprehensive income (i (6,682 43¢
Total stockholders’ equity 141,92¢ 124,68(
Non-redeemable, nc-controlling interes 162 10¢
Total equity 142,09: 124,78t
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 299,83 $ 238,80:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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RIGNET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands, except per share amot

Revenue $330,17:  $220,71(  $161,66¢
Expenses:

Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ameatitin) 188,20¢ 118,88: 81,07:

Depreciation and amortizatic 29,46: 21,04¢ 17,53¢

Impairment of goodwil 2,71¢ — —

Selling and marketin 6,56¢ 3,78¢ 3,081

General and administratiy 69,13¢ 48,77( 37,18¢
Total expenses 296,09( 192,48! 138,87(
Operating income 34,08¢ 28,22¢ 22,79¢
Other income (expense)

Interest expens (2,18 (2,287) (1,557)

Other income (expense), r (51€) (240 (499
Income before income tax 31,38¢ 25,70: 20,75¢
Income tax expens (15,400 (9,15%) (8,739
Net income 15,98: 16,54« 12,02:
Less: Net income attributable 1

Non-redeemable, n-controlling interes 34¢ 20¢ 13¢
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. stockholdes $ 15,63¢ $ 16,33¢ $ 11,88:
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Net income $ 15,98: $ 16,54« $ 12,02:

Foreign currency translatic (7,117%) (2,399 3,43¢
Comprehensive income 8,86¢ 14,15( 15,46(
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to-controlling interes 34¢ 20¢ 13¢
Comprehensive income attributable to RigNet, Inc.t®ckholders $ 8,51¢ $13,94: $ 15,32
INCOME PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. common ktmiders $ 15,63 $ 16,33¢ $ 11,88:

Net income per share attributable to RigNet, lmmnmon stockholders, bas $ 09C $ 1.0 $ O0.7¢

Net income per share attributable to RigNet, Imenmon stockholders, dilute $ 08 $ 09 §$§ 0.7¢C

Weighted average shares outstanding, k 17,321 16,26¢ 15,59:

Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 17,89¢ 17,551 17,017

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftinsolidated financial statements.
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RIGNET, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operations
Depreciation and amortizatic
Impairment of goodwil
Stocl-based compensatic
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Deferred taxe
Impairment of property, plant and equipm
(Gain) loss on sales of property, plant and equignreet of retirement
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisition
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir
Capital expenditure
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equip
(Increase) decrease in restricted ¢

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common st
Repurchase of restricted shares from emplo
Payment of stock appreciation rig|
Subsidiary distributions to n-controlling interes
Proceeds from borrowing
Repayments of lor-term debi
Excess tax benefits from st-based compensatic
Payments of financing fe«

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalen

Cash and cash equivalents:
Balance, January
Changes in foreign currency translat

Balance, December 31

Supplemental disclosures
Income taxes pai
Interest paic- other
Non-cash investin¢- capital expenditures accru

Liabilities assumed - Inmarsat’s Enterprise Endrgginess unit and Nessco acquisitions,

respectively

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands
$15,98! $16,54¢ $12,02:
29,46: 21,04¢ 17,53¢
2,71¢ — —
4,252 2,96: 2,50z
197 52t 10z
(2,662) (2,760 (1,382
— 50z —
(44) 66 (131)
(15,05 (5,50%) (877)
1,728 (7,861) 1,13¢
(7,649 1,41° (339)
11,26( 3,24( 2,53
(1,549 (3,389 (4,307)
5,121 1,254 3,45¢
43,76: 28,04! 32,25¢
(26,487 (85) (42,555
(40,177 (30,187 (21,86¢)
754 462 35k
56€ 96€ (2,699)
(65,339 (28,849 (66,767
1,58¢ 4,99¢ 897
— — (88)
— — (500)
(294) (217) (184)
35,00( 5,457 47,23¢
(8,649 (7,157 (9,169
2,89/ 922 —
— (801) (492)
30,53¢ 3,20z 37,70,
8,96¢ 2,40: 3,19¢
59,82: 59,74 53,10¢
(2,21]) (2,325) 3,43¢
$66,57¢ $59,82. $59,74«
$10,59¢ $10,62: $ 7,66(
$ 2,00¢ $ 1662 $ 1,461
$ 239% $ 2,167 $ 1,50¢
$10,96¢ $ — $ 19,04
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Additional

Common Stock Paid-In
Shares Amount  Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Total Non-Redeemable

(Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders  Non-Controlling

Deficit)

Income (Loss)

Equity Interest

Total Equity

Balance, January 1, 201.
Issuance of common stock upon the

(in thousands

15,44: $ 15 $116,74C $ (32,929 $

(610 $ 83,22 $

16z $ 83,38t

exercise of stock options and warra 144 1 89¢ — — 897 — 897
Issuance of restricted common stock, |

of share repurchase from employee:

and share cancellatio 117 — (88) — — (88) — (88)
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 2,50z — — 2,50z — 2,50z
Foreign currency translatic — — — — 3,43¢ 3,43¢ — 3,43¢
Non-controlling owner distribution — — — — — — (184 (189
Net income — — — 11,88: — 11,88: 13¢ 12,02:
Balance, December 31, 2012 15,70: 16 120,05( (21,040 2,82¢ 101,85! 117 101,97.
Issuance of common stock upon the

exercise of stock options and warra  1,45¢ 1 4,991 — — 4,99¢ — 4,99¢
Issuance of restricted common stock, net

of share cancellatior 77 — — — — — — —
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 2,96: — — 2,96: — 2,96:
Excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensatiol — — 927 — — 922 — 927
Foreign currency translatic — — — — (2,399 (2,399 — (2,399
Non-controlling owner distribution — — — — — — (217) (217)
Net income — — — 16,33¢ — 16,33¢ 20¢ 16,54«
Balance, December 31, 201 17,23" 17 128,93 (4,709 43t 124,68( 10¢ 124,78t
Issuance of common stock upon the

exercise of stock options and warra 334 1 1,58¢ — — 1,58t — 1,58¢
Issuance of restricted common stock, net

of share cancellatior 59 — — — — — — —
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 4,25 — — 4,25 — 4,25
Excess tax benefits from stock-based

compensatiol — — 2,89« — — 2,89¢ — 2,89«
Foreign currency translatic — — — — (7,117 (7,117 — (7,117)
Non-controlling owner distribution — — — — — — (299) (299
Net income — — — 15,63t — 15,63t 34¢ 15,98
Balance, December 31, 201 17,63( $ 18 $137,66. $ 10,93. $ (6,68 $ 14192¢ $ 16z $ 142,09:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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Note 1—Business and Summary of Significant Accoumtg Policies
Nature of Business

RigNet, Inc. (the Company or RigNet) provides reenmdmmunication services for the oil and gas ingustrough a controlled and
managed Internet Protocol/Multiprotocol Label Stitgy (IP/MPLS) global network, enabling drilling mwactors, oil companies and oilfield
service companies to communicate more effectivithe Company provides its customers with voice, fédeo and data services in real-time
between remote sites and home offices througheuvtirld, while the Company manages and operatesftastructure from its land-based
Network Operations Cente

The Company'’s corporate offices are located in kwysTexas. The Company serves the owners andtoper offshore drilling rigs
and production facilities, land rigs, remote ofiand supply bases in approximately 50 countriglsiding the United States, Brazil, Norway,
the United Kingdom, Nigeria, Qatar, Saudi Arabimgapore and Australia.

Basis of Presentation

The Company presents its financial statementsdordance with generally accepted accounting priesip the United States (U.S.
GAAP).

Principles of Consolidation and Reporting

The Company’s consolidated financial statementisidecthe accounts of RigNet, Inc. and all subsidgthereof. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminateanisotidation. As of December 31, 2014, 2013 and26dn-controlling interest of
subsidiaries represents the outside economic oWwipeirgerest of Qatar, WLL of less than 3.0%.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statemts

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make esdt1and assumptions that af
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibelosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses duringplogting periods, as well as certain financiateshent disclosures. The estimates that ar
particularly significant to the financial statemeiriclude estimates related to the Company’s uslkeeopercentage-of-completion method, as
well as the Company’s valuation of goodwill, intélrigs, stock-based compensation, income tax valnailowance and uncertain tax
positions. While management believes that the eséisnand assumptions used in the preparation dintecial statements are appropriate,
future results could differ from these estimatestlfer, volatile equity and energy markets combimcrease uncertainty in such estimates
and assumptions. As such, estimates and assumptiersljusted when facts and circumstances diatet@ny changes will be reflected in the
financial statements in future periods.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on-trahHighly-liquid investments purchased with oridimeaturities of three months or
less.

Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had restricastl of $1.2 million and $0.1 million, in curreamd long-term assets, respectively.
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had restricastl of $0.5 million and $1.3 million, in currertd long-term assets, respectively. This
restricted cash is being used to collateralizetanting performance bonds, related to Nessco Grmlgings Ltd. (Nessco) telecoms systems
integration which were in effect prior to RigNegairing Nessco (see Note 7 — “Long-Term Debt”).

F-8



Table of Contents

RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recognized as cust@rebilled in accordance with customer cont@cigreements. The Company
reports an allowance for doubtful accounts for plalb credit losses existing in accounts receivaidEmagement determines the allowance
based on a review of currently outstanding recéésahnd the Company’s historical write-off expedenSignificant individual receivables and
balances which have been outstanding greater haags are reviewed individually. Account balanegsen determined to be uncollectible,
are charged against the allowance.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of (i) temunication and computer equipment, (ii) furnitarel other, (iii) building and
(iv) land. All property, plant and equipment, exditug land, is depreciated and stated at acquisttost net of accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is provided using the strai¢jnhe method over the expected useful lives of tepective assets, which range from one to ten )
The Company assesses property, plant and equigorantpairment when events indicate the carryinigaxceeds fair value. No impairme
to fixed assets was recorded in the year endedrite®e31, 2014. During the year ended December@li3,2he Company impaired fixed
assets by $0.5 million. The 2013 impairment relatethe loss of a certain customer. The Companghezha legal settlement with said
customer which reimbursed the Company for the gbte impaired equipment.

Maintenance and repair costs are charged to expemse incurred.

Derivatives

All contracts are evaluated for embedded derivativhich are bifurcated when (i) the economic chiaréstics and risks of such
instruments are not clearly and closely relatetthéoeconomic characteristics and risks of the ages, (ii) the contract is not already reported
at fair value and (iii) such instruments meet thérdtion of a derivative instrument and are natfse exceptions under the Financial
Accounting Standards Boasl(FASB) guidance on derivatives and hedging. Novdtves were outstanding as of December 31, 2012D13.

Intangibles

Intangibles consist of customer relationships aeglas part of the LandTel Communications LLC (LEel)l OilCamp AS (OilCamp),
Nessco and Inmar¢s Enterprise Energy business unit acquisitionsy@l$as brand name and covenants not-to-compejigirad as part of the
Nessco acquisition, backlog acquired as part oNtgsco and Inmar¢s Enterprise Energy business unit acquisitiomgrses acquired as part
of the Inmarsat’s Enterprise Energy business umjtissition. Intangibles also include internal-uséware. The Company'’s intangibles have
useful lives ranging from 1.7 to 9.0 years andaam@rtized on a straight-line basis. Impairmentitgst performed when events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying valudefassets may not be recoverable. No impairmeitatats have been identified as of
December 31, 2014.

Goodwill

Gooduwill relates to the acquisitions of LandTell@imp, and Nessco as the consideration paid exddbddair value of acquired
identifiable net tangible and intangible assetsod¥dll is reviewed for impairment at least annuailigh additional evaluations being perforn
when events or circumstances indicate that thgiogrvalue of these assets may not be recoverable.

In connection with the January 2014 acquisitiotnofiarsat’'s Enterprise Energy business unit, the (@om reevaluated its segments a
reporting units. The Company is now presenting daies Systems Integration (TSI) as a separate adgersegment. As such, goodwill
associated with the Oilcamp and Nessco acquisiti@assreallocated between the reporting units withinEastern Hemisphere and TSI
reportable segments based on relative fair value.

The Company performs its annual impairment tesiudy 31st, with the most recent annual test being perforagedf July 31, 2014. The
July 2014 test resulted in no impairment as theviaue of each reporting unit exceeded the cagryaiue plus goodwill of that reporting unit.
During December 2014, the Company identified ag&iing event
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associated with the significant decline in oil psand global oil and gas activity for which an &nment test was performed as of
December 31, 2014. This circumstance resulted@daction in the Company’s cash flow projectionsimiyithe revision of internal forecasts.
Specifically the TSI segment was impacted by dadjrcontracted backlog, which reduced the estim&id/alue of the TSI reporting unit
below its carrying value. The Company recogniz&2a million impairment of goodwill within the T$¢porting unit as a result of such test.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, goodwill was B8@llion and $34.5 million, respectively. In addit to the impact of acquisitions,
goodwill increases or decreases in value due teftfieet of foreign currency translation.

Goodwill impairment is determined using a two-spepcess. The first step of the impairment tesseduo identify potential impairment
by comparing the fair value of each reporting tmithe book value of the reporting unit, includiopgodwill. Fair value of the reporting unit is
determined using a combination of the reporting'sieixpected present value of future cash flowsanthrket approach. The present value of
future cash flows is estimated using the Compamgst recent forecast and the weighted averageotasipital. The market approach uses a
market multiple on the reporting unit’s cash getetdrom operations. Significant estimates for eagorting unit included in the Company’s
impairment analysis are cash flow forecasts, the@oy’s weighted average cost of capital, projegtedme tax rates and market multiples.
Changes in these estimates could affect the estthfair value of the reporting units and resulaimimpairment of goodwill in a future period.

If the fair value of a reporting unit is less thembook value, goodwill of the reporting unit isrsidered to be impaired and the second
step of the impairment test is performed to meatweeamount of impairment loss, if any. The secstep of the impairment test compares the
implied fair value of the reporting unit’'s goodwillith the book value of that goodwill. If the boelue of the reporting unit's goodwiill
exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill,isxpairment loss is recognized in an amount equ#iat excess. The implied fair value of
goodwill is determined by allocating the reportungt’s fair value to all of its assets and liatid# other than goodwill in the same manner as &
purchase price allocation. Any impairment in théueaof goodwill is charged to earnings in the pérsoich impairment is determined.

Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt is recognized in the consolidatddrm® sheets, net of costs incurred, in conneetitimobtaining debt financing. Debt
financing costs are deferred and reported as atieduo the principal amount of the debt. Suchizase amortized over the life of the debt
using the effective interest rate method and inetlich interest expense in the Company’s consolitfiancial statements.

Revenue Recognition — General

All revenue, excluding telecoms systems integratiomtracts, is recognized when persuasive evidehaa arrangement exists, the
service is complete, the amount is fixed or deteablie and collectability is reasonably assuredwidek service fee revenue is based on fixed-
price, day-rate contracts and recognized monthith@service is provided. Generally, customer @mtséralso provide for installation and
maintenance services. Installation services am ygaon initiation of the contract and recognizeérahe life of the respective contract.
Maintenance charges are recognized as specificcesrare performed. Deferred revenue consistsfefréel installation billings, customer
deposits and other prepayments for which serviegs hot yet been rendered. Revenue is reporteaf ety tax or regulatory fees assessec
collected on behalf of a governmental authorityctStax or fee is then remitted directly to the ayppiate jurisdictional entity.

Revenue Recognition — Telecoms Systems IntegraBotutions

Revenues related to long-term, fixed-price teleceyséems integration contracts for customized netwolutions are recognized using
the percentage-of-completion method. At any pdigNet has numerous contracts in progress, alllothvare at various stages of completion
Accounting for revenues and profits on long-termtcacts requires estimates of total estimated aohtrosts and estimates of progress towarc
completion to determine the extent of revenue anfitgecognition. Progress towards completion ixed price contracts is measured base
the ratio of costs incurred to total estimated @msitcosts (the cost-to-cost method). These estsmany be revised as additional information
becomes available or as specific project circunt&saichange.
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The Company reviews all material contracts on athigrbasis and revise the estimates as approgdatievelopments such as,
providing services and purchasing third-party mateand equipment at costs differing from thosevfusly estimated and incurring or
expecting to incur schedule issues. Changes imatd final contract revenues and costs can ditbezase or decrease the final estimated
contract profit or loss. Profits are recorded ia pgreriod in which a change in estimate is recoghibased on progress achieved through the
period of change. Anticipated losses on contragtsecorded in full in the period in which they bew evident. Revenue recognized in exces:
of amounts billed is classified as a current aseder prepaid expenses and other current assetd.Pecember 31, 2014 and 2013, the am
of unbilled revenue related to telecoms systenegnation projects was $13.8 million and $7.2 millicespectively. Amounts billed to
customers in excess of revenue recognized to datelassified as a current liability under deferedenue. Under long-term contracts,
amounts recorded in work in process may not bézeshbr paid, respectively, within a one-year pario

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes expense for stock-basedammsafion based on the fair value of options antictesd stock on the grant date of
the awards. Fair value of options on the grant tatietermined using the Black-Scholes model, whicluires judgment in estimating the
expected term of the option, risk-free interest rakpected volatility of the Company’s stock anddnd yield of the option. Fair value of
restricted stock on the grant date is equal tartheket price of RigNet's common stock on the dditgrant. The Company’s policy is to
recognize compensation expense for service-basartawn straight-line basis over the requisiteiserperiod of the entire award. Stobkse!
compensation expense is based on awards ultimatplycted to vest.

Taxes

Current income taxes are provided based on thiavexand rates in effect in the jurisdictions andrries that the Company operates in
and revenue is earned. Deferred income taxes tdéfledax effect of net operating losses, foremndredits and the tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amount of assetdiabilities for financial statement and incora& purposes, as determined under enacted
tax laws and rates. Valuation allowances are astad when management determines that it is miogtylthan not that some portion or the
entire deferred tax asset will not be realized.. fe8eral deferred tax liabilities are recordedtf@ unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiaries
that are not permanently reinvested, net of paéfdreign tax credits; otherwise, no U.S fedefiedred taxes are provided on foreign
subsidiaries. The financial effect of changes inléavs or rates is accounted for in the periodraament.

From time to time, the Company engages in transagiin which the tax consequences may be subjectdertainty. In the normal cou
of business, the Company prepares and files taxngbased on interpretation of tax laws and reiguls, which are subject to examination by
various taxing authorities. Such examinations neeylt in future tax and interest assessments lsettexing authoritiesThe Company
evaluates its tax positions and recognizes onhptmefits for financial purposes that, more likiflgn not, will be sustained upon examination,
including resolutions of any related appeals dagdiion processes, based on the technical meritsegbosition.

The Company has elected to include income taxa@leitterest and penalties as a component of incarmexpense.

Changes in tax laws and rates may affect recordézired tax assets and liabilities and the Compsaeffective tax rate in the future. In
addition, United Kingdom'’s and Brunei’s corporateome tax rates are decreasing 1.0% and 1.5% taspgdén 2015.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar serves as the currency of measureamsl reporting for the Company’s consolidatedriicial statements. The Company
has certain subsidiaries with functional currencBlorwegian kroner, British pound sterling or Bitean real. Functional currencies of all the
Company’s other subsidiaries are U.S. dollar.
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Transactions occurring in currencies other tharfuhetional currency of a subsidiary have been eoted to the functional currency of
that subsidiary at the exchange rate in effedt@ttansaction date with resulting gains and loss#sded in current earnings. Carrying values
of monetary assets and liabilities in functionalrencies other than U.S. dollars have been tratskat U.S. dollars based on the U.S. exchang
rate at the balance sheet date and the resultiegfocurrency translation gain or loss is includedomprehensive income in the consolidated
financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting StandardaffiqFASB) issued Accounting Standards Update Q22202 (ASU 2012-02),
Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Inipaent. ASU 2012-02 amends the guidance on tegtithefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment. The revised guidance permits an efitgyto assess qualitative factors to determinetivér it is more likely than not that an
indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired dsaais for determining whether it is necessary téope the quantitative impairment test. The
Company adopted ASU 2012-02 as of January 1, Zi8adoption of ASU 2012-02 did not have any immacthe Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In February 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Stedslblpdate No. 2013-02 (ASU 2013-02), Comprehensigeme (Topic 220):
Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumute@ther Comprehensive Income. This update amendsukting Standards Updates N
2011-05 and 2011-12. This update requires the ptaten of the components of amounts reclassifigcbd accumulated other comprehensive
income either on the face the statement of compis#he income or in the notes to the financial steiets. The Company adopted ASU 2013-
02 as of January 1, 2013. The adoption of ASU 204 8lid not have any impact on the Company’s codatéd financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standalddate No. 2013-11 (ASU 2013-11), Income Taxes {d@@g0): Presentation of an
Unrecognized Tax Benefit when a Net Operating l@asyforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Creditr@forward Exists. This update
defines the criteria as to when an unrecognizedbésnefit should be presented as a liability andmihehould be netted against a deferred tax
asset on the face of the balance sheet. ASU 2Q1i8-effective for fiscal years beginning aftercBmber 15, 2013. The Company adopted /
2013-11 as of January 1, 2014. The adoption of R81B-11 did not have any impact to the Companytsotidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standardddte No. 2014-09 (ASU 2014-09), Revenue from Gamérwith Customers
(Topic 606). The core principle of this amendmaerthiat an entity should recognize revenue to déipictransfer of promised goods or service:
to customers in an amount that reflects the corfide to which the entity expects to be entitleékchange for those goods or services. ASL
201499 is effective for annual reporting periods begigrafter December 15, 2016, including interim pds within that reporting period, wi
earlier adoption not permitted. ASU 2014-09 camtiepted either retrospectively to each prior répgnberiod presented or as a cumulative-
effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. Tam@any is currently in the process of evaluatirggithpact the adoption of ASU 2014-09 will
have on the Company’s consolidated financial statém

Note 2—Preferred Stock and Warrants
Preferred Stock

RigNet is authorized to issue ten million sharepreferred stock. As of December 31, 2014 and 20 3hares of preferred stock were
outstanding.

Warrants

The Company issued warrants in conjunction withiaderfinancing arrangements, which were exercisaplm issuance. Detachable
warrants are accounted for separately from the skhirity as additional paid-in capital. The alltmais based on the relative fair value of the
warrant compared to the total fair value of the tgaurities at the time of issuance. Fair valugasifuments were determined using a
combination of the expected present value of futagh flows and a market approach. The presengwdlfuture cash flows is estimated using
the Company’s most recent forecast and the weigitedage cost of capital. The market approach aisearket multiple on the related cash
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generated from operations. Significant estimatesléermining fair value included cash flow fordsashe Company’s weighted average cost

of capital, projected income tax rates and markdtipies. Fair value calculations also considerfdievalue of the Company’s common stock
at the grant date, exercise price of the warraxsected volatility, expected term, risk-free ietrrate and dividend yield.

No warrants were issued in the years ended Decedih@014 or 2013.

RigNet has no warrants outstanding as of Decembe2@L4. The following table summarizes the Comfmmgarrant activity for the
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and :

Number of Weighted
Underlying Average
Shares Exercise Price
(in thousand:

Outstanding, January 1, 20 1,53¢ $ 4.7¢
Issuec — $ —
Exercisec — $ —

Outstanding, December 31, 20 1,53¢ $ 4.7¢
Issuec — $ —
Exercisec (1,329 $ 451

Outstanding, December 31, 20 20t $ 6.6(
Issuec — $ —
Exercisec (205) $ 6.6(

Outstanding, December 31, 2C — $ —

There were no warrants outstanding as of Decemhe2®.4. The weighted average remaining life iryed outstanding warrants as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 was 2.0 and 3.0 yesectively.

Note 3—Business and Credit Concentrations

The Company is exposed to various business and cd including interest rate, foreign currencyedit and liquidity risks.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company has significant interest-bearing litd at variable interest rates which generaligggmonthly. The Company’s variable
borrowing rates are tied to LIBOR resulting in &t rate risk (see Note 7—“Long-Term Debihe Company does not currently use finar
instruments to hedge these interest risk exposbtg®valuates this on a continual basis and majiqancial instruments in place in the future
if deemed necessary.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Company has exposure to foreign currency aska portion of the Company’s activities are cobeltiin currencies other than U.S.
dollars. Currently, the Norwegian kroner and théi&r pound sterling are the currencies that coséderially impact the Company’s financial
position and results of operations. The Companigtolical experience with exchange rates for tteeseencies has been relatively stable, and
consequently, the Company does not use finangaiuments to hedge this risk, but evaluates it oardinual basis and may put financial
instruments in place in the future if deemed nemgs$-oreign currency translations are reporteaicasmulated other comprehensive incorr
the Company'’s consolidated financial statements.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk, with respect to accounts receivaldalue to the limited number of customers concesdrat the oil and gas industry. The
Company mitigates the risk of financial loss froafallts through defined collection terms in eachti@xct or service agreement and periodic
evaluations of the collectability of accounts reedie. The evaluations include a review of custoonedit reports and past transaction history
with the customer. The Company provides an allowdoc doubtful accounts which is adjusted whenGobenpany becomes aware of a spe
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligatis or as a result of changes in the overall agiragcounts receivable.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

Accounts receivabl $78,20: $47,23¢ $41,83¢

Allowance for doubtful accounts, January (1,847 (1,807 (1,737
Current year provision for doubtful accou (1,819 (602) (2649)
Write-offs 9C 562 194

Allowance for doubtful accounts, December (3,57¢) (1,847) (1,807%)

Accounts receivable, n $74,62¢ $45,38¢ $40,02¢

During 2014, the Company had no customers compgrgiaater than 10% of revenue. Although during 20d 4ustomer comprised
greater than 10% of revenue, the top 5 customersrgeed 22.9% of the Company’s 2014 revenue. D@0 and 2012, the Company had
one significant customer comprising 9.2% and 11d8%s revenue, respectively.

Liquidity Risk

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalemdesgavith major financial institutions which, ah#s, exceed federally insured
limits. The Company monitors the financial conditiaf the financial institutions and has not expeeed losses associated with these account
during 2014, 2013 or 2012. Liquidity risk is manddpy continuously monitoring forecasted and actaah flows and by matching the matu
profiles of financial assets and liabilities (seat®&7—‘Long-Term Debt").

Note 4—Business Combinations
Nessco

On July 5, 2012, RigNet acquired 100% of Nesscd\laerdeerbased international company operating in the fadlttlecommunication
systems integration for the oil and gas induswy an aggregate purchase price of $42.6 milliohpheash acquired of $6.0 million. The
purchase price includes $2.2 million of paymentsienander a $2.5 million arrangement, based ondheation of specific third-party
receivables. As the collection period of theseikad®es has lapsed, no further payments will beanathted to this arrangement. This
acquisition broadens and strengthens RigNet's canmirations offerings to the oil and gas industrigwing the Company to provide its
services over the life of the field from drillingrough production, both offshore and onshore, atdha globe.

The assets and liabilities of Nessco have beendedat their estimated fair values at the datecqtiisition. The excess of the purchase
price over the estimated fair values of the undieglyet tangible and identifiable intangible assetd liabilities has been recorded as goodwill.

The goodwill of $19.7 million, arising from the agsition, consisted largely of the synergies artteobenefits that the Company belie
will result from combining the operations of ther@many and Nessco, as well as, other intangibleéssg did not qualify for separate
recognition, such as assembled workforce in platieeadate of acquisition. None of the goodwillagrized is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.
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The acquisition of Nessco, including goodwill, i€luded in the Company’s consolidated financiaesteents as of the acquisition date
and is reflected in the Telecoms Systems Integratitd Eastern Hemisphere reporting segments.

Weighted Average

Estimated Useful

Life (Years) Fair Market Values
(in thousands

Current assel $ 22,29¢ (a)(b)
Property and equipme 7,744
Identifiable intangible asset

Trade nam 7.C $ 4,35¢

Covenant not to compe 1.7 151

Backlog 1.7 1,11¢

Customer relationshig 7.C 11,70¢

Total identifiable intangible asse 17,32¢
Goodwill 19,67¢ (b)
Other asset 57¢
Liabilities (19,04)

Total purchase pric $ 48,58(

(@) Includes $2.2 million of working capital adjosnts paid between July 2012 and March 2013 basédeocollection of specific third-
party revenue
(b) Includes $0.5 million tax impact related to theustiments mentioned aboy

In connection with the Nessco acquisition, the Canypincurred incremental expenses for the year&ebdeember 31, 2012 of $1.4
million related to legal, accounting and valuats@mvices, which are reflected in general and advinative expenses.

Actual and Pro Forma Impact of the Nessco Acquoisi

Nessco’s revenue and net loss included in the Jidiased Statements of Comprehensive Income foyéae ended December 31, 2012
were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 201
(in thousands
Revenue $ 23,415
Net loss $ (1,24¢)

As RigNet has a fiscal year ending on DecembemgilNessco had a fiscal year ending on March 31utiaedited pro forma combined
statements of income for year ended December 31, 20mbined the historical results of RigNet fag flear ended December 31, 2011 with
the historical results of Nessco for the year erldacch 31, 2012.
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The following table represents supplemental pranfoinformation as if the Nessco acquisition haduosd on January 1, 2011. Pro
forma adjustments include:

. Reverse Nessco depreciation and amortizatidrremorting depreciation and amortization basedstimated fair
values and remaining lives of the acquired assdtsealate of acquisitiol

. Adjust interest expense to recognize interggénse as if the acquisitioelated debt of RigNet had been outstandir
January 1, 201!

. Record nonrecurring transaction costs as if theldeen incurred in 2011 rather than 2C

Year Ended
December 31
2012
(in thousands
Revenue $ 191,26:
Expense! 177,93t
Net income from continuing operatio $ 13,32
Net income from continuing operations attributaiol&igNet, Inc. commo
stockholder: $ 13,18¢
Net income per share from continuing operationshattable to RigNet, Inc
common stockholder:
Basic $ 0.8t
Diluted $ 0.77

Inmarsat’'s Enterprise Energy Business Unit

On January 31, 2014, RigNet closed the acquisd@fdnmarsat Pl Enterprise Energy business unit for an aggrgmaiehase pric
of $26.1 million, including $12.9 million of work@ncapital. Of this aggregate purchase price, Rigidet $23.3 million to Inmarsat on
January 31, 2014 and an additional $2.8 milliodoly 31, 2014. Under the terms of the deal, Inntagshl to RigNet substantially all of its
energy broadband assets, which include: microwade/deiMAX networks in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico andeiNorth Sea serving drillers,
producers and energy vessel owners; VSAT intenedte United Kingdom, U.S. and Canada; an M2M S@AZSAT network in the
continental U.S. serving the pipeline industryel@¢ommunications systems integration businessatipgrworldwide; and a global L-band
MSS retail energy business.
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The assets and liabilities of InmarsaEnterprise Energy business unit have been red@iddeir estimated fair values at the dat
acquisition.

Weighted Average

Estimated Useful

Life (Years) Fair Market Values
(in thousands

Current assel $ 23,871
Property, plant and equipme 8,381
Identifiable intangible asset

Backlog 2 $1,80(

Licenses 7 2,00(

Customer relationshig 7 24C

Total identifiable intangible asse 4,04(
Other asset 76C
Liabilities (10,969

Total purchase pric $ 26,08:

RigNet financed the transaction with the crediilfigcannounced on October 3, 2013, and existilghaan hand (see Note 7—Long-
Term Debt).

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 201BeRfas spent $2.9 million and $4.1 million, respety, on acquisition-
related costs, which are reported as general améhatrative expense in the Consolidated Stateman®omprehensive Income.

Actual and Pro Forma Impact of the Inmars Enterprise Energy Business Unit Acquisition

Inmarsat’'s Enterprise Energy business unit revemgenet income included in the Consolidated Statésnef Comprehensive
Income for the year ended December 31, 2014 asepted in the following table. These amounts regriesperations commencing
immediately after the acquisition, February 1, 2ahdough the year ended December 31, 2014 (instmls):

Year Ended
December 31, 201
Revenue $ 80,15¢
Net Income $ 4,20¢

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 201BeR#gsupplemental pro forma revenue was $335.8omiand $293.4 million,
respectively, calculated as if the Inmarsat’s Hirise Energy business unit acquisition had occurredanuary 1, 2013.

RigNet has not disclosed supplemental pro-formaiegs for the years ended December 31, 2014 an8l 291here is no
practicable method to calculate pro-forma earniAdi&r making every reasonable effort, RigNet waahle to retrospectively allocate indirect
costs, including ovenead to the assets that were purchased in theassetout. To do so would require RigNet to massuaptions about tl
intents of the management of Inmarsat’'s EnterEisergy business unit prior to the acquisition whiahnot be independently substantiated.
Such retrospective application requires signifiastimates of amounts, and it is impossible tardisiish objectively information about those
estimates.
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Note 5—Goodwill and Intangibles
Goodwill

Gooduwill consists of amounts recognized from thguisitions of LandTel, included in the Western Hspfiere reporting segment, and
OilCamp and Nessco, included in the Eastern Hereigpand Telecoms Systems Integration reporting satgn

In connection with the January 2014 acquisitiotnofiarsat’'s Enterprise Energy business unit, the @ reevaluated its segments a
reporting units. The Company is how presenting daies Systems Integration as a separate reporadpheent. As such, goodwill associated
with the Oilcamp and Nessco acquisitions was reatkd between reporting units within the Eastermidphere and Telecoms Systems
Integration reportable segments based on relativerélue.

The goodwill primarily relates to the growth prostseforeseen for the companies acquired, synebgitegeen existing business and the
acquirees and the assembled workforce of the aedjagmmpanies. Goodwill balances and changes thérgieportable segment, as of and for
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 arnpedsbelow. Prior year information has been retcasbnform to the current year
presentation.

Telecoms
Eastern Western Systems
Hemisphere Hemisphere Integration Total
(in thousand: (in thousand:

Balance, January 1, 20. $ 20,88¢ $ 10,89: $ 2,707 $34,48¢
Foreign currency translatic 31 — — 31
Balance, December 31, 20 20,92( 10,89: 2,707 34,52(
Impairment of Goodwil — — (2,719 (2,719
Foreign currency translatic (1,685 — 12 (1,679
Balance, December 31, 20 $ 19,23: $ 10,89: $ — $30,12¢

The impairment loss of $2.7 million reported in 2@4quals the excess of the carrying amount of gdbaver its implied fair value as
calculated in Step 2 of the interim impairment tstducted as of December 31, 2014. As part oattimeial goodwill impairment assessment,
we estimated the fair value of the reporting usihg a combination of the income and market appresicThe key assumption in our fair value
analysis was forecasted future cash flows and dDER multiple.

Intangibles

Intangibles consist of customer relationships aeglas part of the LandTel, OilCamp, Nessco andahsat’'s Enterprise Energy business
unit acquisitions, brand name and covenants nattopete acquired as part of the Nessco acquishiacklog acquired as part of the Nessco
and Inmarsat’s Enterprise Energy business unitiaitigus, licenses acquired as part of the Inma gatterprise Energy business unit
acquisition and internal-use software. The follogvtable reflects intangibles activities for the igeanded December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Covenani
Brand Not To Customer
Name Compete  Backlog  Relationships  Software  License: Total
(in thousands, except estimates liv
Intangibles Acquiret 4,35: 151 1,11¢ 21,48¢ 1,78( — 28,88«
Accumulated amortization and foreign currency ttatien,
January 1, 201 (144) (472) (309) (6,059 (1,109 — (7,649
Balance, January 1, 20. 4,20¢ 11C 81: 15,431 67¢ — 21,24:
Additions — — — — 67€ — 67€
Amortization expens (657) (95) (707) (2,567) (330 — (4,35¢)
Foreign currency translatic 60 1 12 12 (66) — 19
Balance, December 31, 20 3,612 1€ 11¢€ 12,87¢ 95¢ — 17,58(
Additions — — 1,80( 24C 4,751 2,40( 9,191
Amortization expens (620) (16) (943) (2,569 (661) (267) (5,07))
Foreign currency translatic (202) — — (447) — — (649)
Balance, December 31, 20 $2,79C $ — $ 97t $ 10,108 $5,04¢ $2,13¢ $21,05:
Weighted average estimated lives (ye. 7.C 1.7 1.7 7.9 5.C 7.C
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The following table sets forth amortization expefgeintangibles over the next five years (in thandgs):

2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
Thereaftel

Note 6—Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consists of the faglg:

Telecommunication and computer equipn

Furniture and othe
Building
Land

Less: Accumulated depreciati

Estimated

Lives

December 31

(in years)
1-5
5-7

10

2014 2013
(in thousands
$178,91: $140,49:
9,841 9,14~
4,937 4,642
1,401 1,48¢
195,09: 155,76:

(118,899 (96,719
$ 7619 $ 59,057

Depreciation expense associated with property tglad equipment was $24.4 million, $16.7 milliord&14.7 million for the years

ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respsactivel

Note 7—Long-Term Debt

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the followinglitracilities and long-term debt arrangements Mitlancial institutions were in

place:
Term loan, net of unamortized deferred financingts
Revolving loar
Equipment note
Less: Current maturities of lo-term debt
Term Loan

December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands
$51,11: $59,53
$35,00( $ —
— 26
86,11 59,56!
(8,40 (8,389
$77,70¢ $51,17¢

The Company has a term loan (Term Loan) with fartipipating financial institutions. On OctoberZ813, the Company
amended its Term Loan, which increased the prihtdigiance to $60 million from $54.6 million and ertls the maturity of the loan from July

2017 to October 2018.
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The amended Term Loan bears an interest rate dDRIBIus a margin ranging from 1.5% to 2.5% based atio of funde
debt to Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial messas defined in the agreement. Interest is payablghly along with quarterly
principal installments of $2.1 million, with thelbace due October 2018. The weighted average siteate for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012 were 2.1%, 2.8% and 3.3%, césply, with an interest rate of 1.9% at DecemB&r2014.

The Term Loan is secured by substantially all $eets of the Company. As of December 31, 20147 ¢ Loan had
outstanding principal of $51.4 million.

Revolving Loans

Under the amended and restated credit agreemdnfawuit participating financial institutions datedt@ber 3, 2013, the Company sect
a $125.0 million revolving credit facility, whicim¢ludes a $15 million sublimit for the issuancestaindby letters of credit. During the year
ended December 31, 2014, RigNet drew $35.0 mibhibthis credit facility which was primarily related the acquisition of Inmarsat’s
Enterprise Energy business unit (see Note 4 — Basi@ombinations) and for other general corponategses. As of December 31, 2014,
$35.0 million, in draws have been made on theifscihs of December 31, 2013 there were no drawtherfacility.

The revolving loan bears an interest rate of LIB@& a margin ranging from 1.5% to 2.5% based matia of funded debt to Adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure as definethia agreement. The weighted average interestaoatbd year ended December 31, 201«
was 1.9%, with an interest rate of 1.9% at Decer3tte£014.

Performance Bonds

On September 14, 2012, Nesscolnvsat Limited, aidialog of RigNet Inc., secured a performance badlity with a lender in the
amount of 4.0 million, or $6.2 million. This facility has aaturity date of June 30, 2017. As of December 8142the amount available unc
this facility was £1.9 million or $2.9 million.

Certain legacy Nessco performance bonds also ethérCompany to maintain restricted cash balaoeesdollar of restricted cash fo
dollar of performance bond basis to collateralintstanding performance bonds. As of December 314 2he Company had restricted cash of
$1.2 million and $0.1 million, in current and loteAm assets, respectively, to satisfy this requéreimAs of December 31, 2013, the Company
had restricted cash of $0.5 million and $1.3 mil|im current and long-term assets, respectivelgatisfy this requirement.

Covenants and Restrictions

The Company’s Term Loan contains certain covenamdisrestrictions, including restricting the paymeitash dividends under default
and maintaining certain financial covenants such &sio of funded debt to Adjusted EBITDA, a nGAAP financial measure as defined in
agreement, and a fixed charge coverage ratioyldafault occurs related to these covenants, tpaidmrincipal and any accrued interest shal
be declared immediately due and payable. As of Dbee 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company believes itimvesmpliance with all covenants.

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company incurred legal and bank fees assoarthdhe Term Loan, and certain amendments thevettach were capitalized and
reported as a reduction to long-term debt. Defefirethcing costs are expensed using the effectiterést method over the life of the
agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2@1120413, deferred financing cost amortization oRP#fillion and $0.2 million,
respectively, is included in interest expense ew@mpany’s consolidated financial statements.

F-20



Table of Contents

RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Debt Maturities

The following table sets forth the aggregate ppatimaturities of long-term debt, net of deferrgghficing cost amortization (in
thousands):

2015 $ 8,40
2016 8,597
2017 8,431
2018 60,677
2019 —
Total debt, including current maturiti $86,11:

Note 8—Related Party Transactions

One of the Company’s former directors, who servedhe board until May 2014, is the president anidfaxecutive officer of a drilling
corporation which is also a customer of the Comp&wgvenue recognized from that corporation fornyesars ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 were $1.3 million, $1.3 million and $1.8ion, respectively, for services performed by tbempany in the ordinary course of
business.

One of the Company’s consulting vendors is whoWsned by one of RigNet’s significant shareholderga&nse recognized for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $0.5 milhdr8.3 million, respectively. All expenses wereurred by RigNet in the ordinary
course of business.

Note 9—Fair Value Measurements
The Company uses the following methods and assongto estimate the fair value of financial insteunts:
. Cash and Cash Equivalen— Reported amounts approximate fair value based otedunarket prices (Level 1
. Restricted Casl— Reported amounts approximate fair val

. Accounts Receivabl— Reported amounts, net of the allowance for dalibtfcounts, approximate fair value due to thetsteom
nature of these asse

. Accounts Payable, Including Income Taxes Payabledafsiccrued Expense— Reported amounts approximate fair value due t
short term nature of these liabilitie

. Long-Term Debt— The carrying amount of the Company’s floatingerdebt approximates fair value since the inteastsrpaid
are based on short-term maturities and recent quates from financial institutions. The estimaftaid value of debt was calculated
based upon observable (Level 2) inputs regarditegast rates available to the Company at the eeaddf respective perio
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Fair value is the price that would be receivedaiban asset or paid to transfer a liability incaderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. For itemsatbanot actively traded, fair value reflects finige in a transaction with a market participant
including an adjustment for risk, not just the mtokmarket value. The fair value measurement stahestablishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques utetheasure fair value. As presented in the tableviy the hierarchy consists of three broad
levels:

Level 1-nputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active ntarfoe identical assets and liabilities and haweshlghest priority

Level 2—Inputs are observable inputs other thartefuprices considered Level 1. Level 2 inputs aagket-based and are

directly or indirectly observable, including quotedces for similar instruments in active markepsoted prices for identical
or similar instruments in markets that are notvagtor valuation techniques whose inputs are olasdev Where observable
inputs are available, directly or indirectly, fartstantially the full term of the asset or lialyilithe instrument is categorized
in Level 2.

Level 3—Inputs are unobservable (meaning they ceflee Company’s assumptions regarding how markeigipants
would price the asset or liability based on the beailable information) and therefore have thedetpriority. A financial
instrument’s level within the fair value hierarcisybased on the lowest level of any input thatgsificant to the fair value
measurement. RigNet believes it uses appropridtmtran techniques, such as market-based valudigsed on the
available inputs to measure the fair values oh$tsets and liabilities. The Company’s valuatiomtégue maximizes the use
of observable inputs and minimizes the use of uantable inputs.

The Company had no derivatives as of December(tl4 ar 2013.

The Company’s non-financial assets, such as gobdmiéingibles and property, plant and equipmerg,raeasured at fair value, based or
level 3 inputs, when there is an indicator of inngeEnt and recorded at fair value only when an immpant charge is recognized.

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
The Company leases office space under lease agneemiring on various dates through 2020. The @amyg recognized expense un
operating leases of $2.8 million, $2.4 million &®11 million for the years ended December 31, 2@043 and 2012, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, future minimum lease alilans were as follows (in thousands):

2015 2,741
2016 2,22¢
2017 1,64¢
2018 1,07(
2019 72¢
Thereaftel —
$8,41¢
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Commercial Commitments

The Company enters into contracts for satellitedadth and other network services with certain jutevs.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had the fatigwommercial commitments related to satellite aetivork services (in
thousands):

2015 $ 30,11¢
2016 23,65¢
2017 23,34:
2018 16,48¢
2019 18,39¢

$112,00:

On January 31, 2014, RigNet finalized an agreeméhtinmarsat to become a distributor of Inmars&lebal Xpress (GX) and L-
band satellite communications network servicesNRichas agreed, under certain conditions, to pgecha to $65.0 million of capacity from
the high-throughput GX network during the five y@after it becomes operational. The Company expecitlize GX and L-band services
across RigNet's legacy operations as well as tleeatipns acquired from Inmarsat. The portion of tigreement expected to be committed
through 2019 is reflected in the table above.

Litigation

The Company, in the ordinary course of business dsimant or a defendant in various legal proregd including proceedings as to
which the Company has insurance coverage and thasenay involve the filing of liens against therqmany or its assets. The Company does
not consider its exposure in these proceedingsjichahlly or in the aggregate, to be material.

Regulatory Matter

In 2013, RigNet's internal compliance program ditdgotential violations of U.S. sanctions by ohé@soforeign subsidiaries in
connection with certain of its customers’ rigs thare moved into the territorial waters of courgrsanctioned by the United States. The
Company estimates that it received total revenugppfoximately $0.1 million during the period reldto the potential violations. The
Company has voluntarily self-reported the potentialations to U.S. Treasury Department’s Officé~oireign Assets Control (OFAC) and the
U.S Department of Commerce Bureau of Industry aexliSty (BIS) and retained outside counsel who ceoibetl an investigation of the matter
under the supervision of the Company’s Audit Coneritand submitted a report to OFAC and BIS. The fizmm continues cooperating with
OFAC and BIS with respect to resolution of the eatt

The Company incurred legal expenses of $0.1 mikind $1.0 million in connection with the investigatas of December 31, 2014
and 2013, respectively, relating to this investatThe Company may continue to incur significkgal fees and related expenses and the
investigations may involve management time in titarke in order to cooperate with OFAC and BIS. Tmenpany cannot predict the ultimate
outcome of the investigation, the total costs tanserred in completing the investigation, the i impact on personnel, the effect of
implementing any further measures that may be sacgs$o ensure full compliance with applicable laws$o what extent, if at all, the
Company could be subject to fines, sanctions cergbenalties.

Based on the information available at this time axahagement’s understanding of the potential samgtthe Company currently
estimates that it may incur penalties associatél tivese potential violations within a range of2bfillion to $1.5 million. The Company has
accrued an estimated liability of $0.8 million asmagement believes this is the most probable owcdims estimate is based on RigNet's
internal investigation and no assurance can bengigeto what, if any, penalties OFAC or BIS willdose or whether it will identify or allege
additional violations or remedies.

F-23



Table of Contents

RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Note 11—Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has three stock-based compensatios atatlescribed below.

2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan

In May 2010, the Board of Directors adopted the@Qmnibus Incentive Plan (2010 Plan). Under theD2Rtan, the Board of Directors
or its designated committee is authorized to issuards representing a total of three million shafesommon stock to certain directors,
officers and employees of the Company. Awards neinlthe form of new stock incentive awards or @qsiincluding (i) incentive or non-
qualified stock options, (ii) stock appreciatioghis, (iii) restricted stock, (iv) restricted stagkits, (v) performance stock, (vi) performance
units, (vii) director awards, (viii) annual castcémtive awards, (ix) cash-based awards, (x) sulisiit awards or (xi) other stock-based awards
as approved by the Board of Directors or its desligth committee. The stock incentive awards ansogtijranted under the 2010 plan will
generally expire at the earlier of a specified geafter termination of service or the date spedifty the Board of Directors or its designated
committee at the date of grant, but not more tkeanyears from such grant date.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coyngiamted 72,083 shares of restricted stock tauedirectors, officers and
employees of the Company under the 2010 Plan. iBestishares have no exercise price and are coadidsued and outstanding common
stock. Restricted shares issued to officers andamaps, totaling 48,613 shares, generally vest aeur year period of continued
employment, with 25% of shares vesting on eachefitst four anniversaries of the grant date. Retetd shares issued to directors, totaling
23,470 shares, generally either vest immediatelyest over one or two year periods. As of Decendie2014, 220,906 shares of restricted
stock have vested, 61,309 shares of restricted stawe been forfeited and 172,099 shares of undesstricted stock were outstanding.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynglan granted 126,535 stock options to certaiicef and employees of the
Company under the 2010 Plan. Options granted dtinisgperiod have an exercise price of $41.18 %% a contractual term of ten years
vest over a four year period of continued employimeith 25% of options vesting on each of the ffmir anniversaries of the grant date.

2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In March 2006, the Board of Directors adopted tigiNet 2006 LongFerm Incentive Plan (2006 Plan). Under the 20061 Rlze Board ¢
Directors is authorized to issue options to puretRiggNet common stock to certain officers and elygds of the Company. In general, all
options granted under the 2006 Plan have a cou#bigirm of ten years and a four-year vesting gemadth 25.0% of the options vesting on
each of the first four anniversaries of the graatedThe 2006 Plan authorized the issuance of thikien options, which was increased to five
million in January 2010, net of any options retutoe forfeited. As of December 31, 2014, the Conyplaas issued 981,125 options under the
2006 Plan, of which 449,668 options have been ésextc210,622 options have been returned or fedaind 320,835 options are outstanding
The Company will issue no additional options urttier2006 Plan as the Company’s Board of Directassrbsolved to freeze the 2006 Plan.

2001 Stock Option Plan

The 2001 Performance Stock Option Plan (2001 Ries)authorized to issue options to purchase Rigbi@imon stock to certain office
and employees of the Company. Options granted tthde2001 Plan vest either (a) over a four-yeantevith 25.0% of the options vesting on
each of the first four anniversary dates of thengoa (b) over a three-year term, with 25.0% of dipdions vesting 30 days after the grant date
and 25.0% vesting on each of the first three amsary dates of the grant. Vested options, whictelret been forfeited, are exercisable in
whole or in part during the option term, which does exceed ten years. The 2001 Plan authorizeidg¢hance of 0.6 million options. As of
December 31, 2014, the Company has issued 130@&he under the 2001 Plan, of which 108,307 optioave been exercised, 22,660
options have been returned and 0 options are odiisia The Company will issue no additional optionsler the 2001 Plan as the Company’s
Board of Directors has resolved to freeze the Z0lamh.
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Share Appreciation Rights (SARS)

In August 2006, in connection with RigNet’s acqtisi of LandTel, LandTel issued a total of 9,67@&rghappreciation rights to certain
employees, using a baseline share price of $1qie06hare. Since August 2006, 4,838 SARs have foefeited. During 2011, share
appreciation on the remaining 4,838 SARs resutieghiincrease in the value of the SARs of $0.5anillvhich was recognized to
compensation expense.

During 2012, all remaining SARs were exercised eaxh totaling $0.5 million was paid to the emplasykelding the SARs. No SARs
were outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 204 8ther SARs have been issued by the Company tithrrthose issued by LandTel in
August 2006. The Company has not issued nor daesriently have plans to issue any additional SARany other awards which would be
classified as a liability awards or settled in cash

There are no dividends related to stock optiorsdtricted stock, SARs or common stock.

Stock-based compensation expense related to the&uois stock-based compensation plans for the yaated December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012 was $4.3 million, $3.0 million andsB@iillion, respectively, and accordingly, redud@ecbme for each year.

There were no significant modifications to the thstock-based compensation plans during the yedesdeDecember 31, 2014, 2013 anc
2012. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, there $&re million and $5.6 million, respectively, of &aunrecognized compensation cost
related to unvested equity awards granted and éqgbéc vest under the 2010 Plan and the 2006 Plia.cost is expected to be recognized or
a remaining weighted-average period of two years.

All outstanding equity instruments are settledtotk. The Company currently does not have any asvacdounted for as a liability. The
fair value of each stock option award is estimatedhe grant date using a Black-Scholes optionatedo model, which uses certain
assumptions as of the date of grant:

. Expected Volatility—based on peer group price volatility for periodsieglent to the expected term of the opti

. Expected Tern—expected life adjusted based on management'sskéstate for the effects of non-transferabilityeexse
restriction and behavioral consideratic

. Risk-Free Interest Rate—risk-free rate, for periods within the contracttexins of the options, is based on the U.S. Trgagetd
curve in effect at the time of gra

. Dividend Yield—expected dividends based on the Com/['s historical dividend rate at the date of gi
The assumptions used for grants made in the yededeDecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were asviallo

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Expected volatility 43% 50% 50%
Expected term (in year 7 7 7

Risk-free interest rat 1.9-22% 1.3%-2.2% 2.8%

Dividend yield — — —

Based on these assumptions, the weighted averagalize of options granted, per share, for theyeamded December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 was $25.78, $11.31 and $9.45, respectively

The fair value of each restricted stock award @ngtant date is equal to the market price of RigNstbck on the date of grant. The
weighted average fair value of restricted stocktgd, per share, for the years ended December032, @nd 2013 was $49.97 and $21.85,
respectively.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s stoption activity as of and for the years ended Ddmem31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted Number of Weighted

Underlying Average Underlying Average Underlying Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
(in thousands, except per share amot

Balance, January 99¢ $ 13.7¢ 1,017 $ 11.27 97¢ $ 9.3¢
Granted 127 $ 47.0¢ 23¢  $ 20.4: 21€ $ 17.0¢
Exercisec (155 $ 10.5¢ (215) $ 8.44 (1449 $ 6.2Z
Forfeited (23) $ 28.0¢ (43) $ 17.7¢ (31) $ 14.8¢
Expired - $ — - $ — —  $ —
Balance, December 3 947 $ 18.4; 998 $ 13.7¢ 1,017  $ 11.2%
Exercisable, December 2 53¢ $ 11.8: 524 $ 9.67 58¢ $ 8.21

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands
Intrinsic value of options exercis $7,87: $6,08: $2,56¢
Fair value of options veste $1,55¢ $1,13¢ $ 73¢

The following table summarizes the Company’s resd stock activity as of and for the years endeddmber 31, 2014 and 2013:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands
Balance, January 20C 20t
Granted 72 107
Vested (87) (83
Forfeited (13) (29
Balance, December 3 172 20C

The weighted average remaining contractual tergrears for equity awards outstanding as of andHeryears ended December 31, 2014
2013 and 2012 was 4.6 years. At December 31, 2Qdidyeawards vested and expected to vest totalednillion with awards available for
grant of approximately 1.9 million.
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The following is a summary of changes in unvestpatg awards, including stock options and restdcitock, as of and for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:

Number of Weighted
Underlying Average Grant
Shares Date Fair Value
(in thousand:

Unvested equity awards, January 1, 2 51¢ $ 9.5¢
Grantec 347 $ 12.4¢
Vested (192 $ 8.61
Forfeited (36) $ 10.0¢

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 63€ $ 11.41
Grantec 34¢€ $ 14.5¢
Vested (242 $ 10.62
Forfeited (68) $ 14.1(

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 674 $ 13.0¢
Grantec 19¢ $ 34.5¢
Vested (247) $ 12.62
Forfeited (37 $ 20.0¢

Unvested equity awards, December 31, 2 58¢ $ 20.0¢

Note 12—Income per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) are computed bgigvnet income attributable to RigNet common skmi#ters by the number of basic
shares outstanding. Basic shares equal the tothbafommon shares outstanding, weighted for tkeage days outstanding for the period.
Basic shares exclude the dilutive effect of comrsloares that could potentially be issued due toceseof stock options, vesting of restricted
stock or exercise of warrants. Diluted EPS is camgiy dividing net income attributable to RigNetamon stockholders by the number of
diluted shares outstanding. Diluted shares eqealdfal of the basic shares outstanding and adlimiatily issuable shares, weighted for the
average days outstanding for the period. The Cogpaes the treasury stock method to determineithiévé effect. The following table
provides a reconciliation of the numerators andd@nators of the basic and diluted per share coatimuts for net income attributable to
RigNet, Inc. common stockholders:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands
Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. common ktadders $15,63¢ $16,33¢ $11,88:
Weighted average shares outstanding, t 17,32: 16,26¢ 15,59:
Effect of dilutive securitie: 57¢ 1,28¢ 1,42¢
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 17,89¢ 17,557 17,017

There are approximately 31,000 shares as of DeaeBih@014 that could potentially dilute basic ER$he future that were not includ
in the computation of diluted EPS because to de@ad have been antidilutive. There were no antittlie shares as of December 31, 2013 o
2012.

Note 13—Segment Information

Segment information has been prepared consisténtiaé components of the enterprise for which sapdinancial information is
available and regularly evaluated by the chief afieg decision-maker for the purpose of allocategpurces and assessing performance.
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In connection with the acquisition of Inmarsat’s&mprise Energy business unit, the Company re-at@dlits current core assets and
operations, and organized them into segments. Dim@p@ny is now presenting Telecoms Systems Integrais a separate reportable segment
as this is now a greater portion of the Compangi® @ssets and operations due to the acquisititimudrsat’'s Enterprise Energy business uni
Certain operating segments are aggregated intoepugtable segment based on similar economic ctaistics. Accordingly, RigNet now
considers its business to consist of three replersdgments:

. Eastern HemisphereThe Eastern Hemisphere segment provides remote oaiations services for offshore and onshore dglli
rigs and production facilities, as well as, enesgpport vessels and other remote sites. The Eddtanisphere segment services
primarily performed out of the Company’s Norway,itéd Kingdom, Qatar, and Singapore based officesdistomers and rig sites
located on the eastern side of the Atlantic Oceanguily off the coasts of the United Kingdom, Nayy West Africa, around the
Indian Ocean in Qatar, Saudi Arabia and India, mdaihe Pacific Ocean near Australia, and withinSbeath China Sei

. Western HemisphereThe Western Hemisphere segment provides remote cnioations services for offshore and onshore dgl
rigs and production facilities, as well as, enesgpport vessels and other remote sites. The Wedtmisphere segment services
are primarily performed out of the Company’s Uniftdtes and Brazil based offices for onshore afghofe customers and rig
sites located on the western side of the Atlantied@ primarily in the United States, Canada, Megiod Brazil, and within the Gt
of Mexico.

. Telecoms Systems Integration (TSThe TSI segment designs, assembles, installs anchigsions turrkey solutions for customi
telecommunications systems. TSI segment solutiomsustom designed and engineered turn-key solkibased on the customer’s
specifications, as well as, international industigndards and best practices. TSI projects indodsultancy services, design,
engineering, project management, procurementntgstistallation, and commissioning and after-satsice. The TSI segment
services are primarily performed out of the Comj's United Kingdom and United States based officestfistomers globally

Corporate and eliminations primarily representdlonated corporate office activities, interest expe income taxes and eliminations.
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The Company'’s business segment information as@farthe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 @h#2 i8 presented below. 2013
and 2012 information has been recast to conforthda@urrent year presentation.

Telecoms Corporate and Consolidatec
Eastern Western Systems
Hemisphere Hemisphere Integration Eliminations Total
(in thousands

2014
Revenue $ 163,93 $112,95¢ $ 53,28! $ — $ 330,17
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 76,84 58,99¢ 42,644 9,72 188,20¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 13,24¢ 11,26: 3,80¢ 1,14¢ 29,46
Impairment of goodwil — — 2,71¢ — 2,71¢
Selling, general and administrati 14,75( 16,14« 3,82¢ 40,97" 75,70(
Operating income (los: $ 59,09+ $ 26558 $ 28E $ (51,850 $ 34,08
Total asset 151,80t 142,00( 46,98¢ (40,959 299,83
Capital expenditure 21,24: 13,977 432 4,751 40,40:

2013
Revenue $128,98 $ 54,22: $ 3750 $ — $ 220,71
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and ameatitin) 58,82¢ 25,06: 29,56¢ 5,42¢ 118,88:
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,701 7,14¢ 4,36¢ 83C 21,04¢
Selling, general and administrati 14,94¢ 7,84 1,057 28,70 52,55¢
Operating income (los: $ 46,51. $ 14160 $ 2,507 $ (3495) $ 28,22
Total asset 95,181 100,59¢ 75,67¢ (32,659 238,80:
Capital expenditure 17,66" 12,39: 187 84¢ 31,09:

2012
Revenue $ 8837 $ 49.88. $ 23417 $ — $ 161,66¢
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amatitin) 34,44¢ 22,59¢ 20,05: 3,97¢ 81,07:
Depreciation and amortizatic 7,854 7,40¢ 2,22¢ 42 17,53¢
Selling, general and administrati 9,50¢ 7,38¢ 2,38 20,99( 40,26¢
Operating income (los: $ 36560 $ 1248¢ $ (1,246 $ (25,00) $ 22,79¢
Total asset 75,66( 88,15: 82,14¢ (30,02¢) 215,93.
Capital expenditure 11,80( 9,127 20 141 21,08:

The following table presents revenue earned fraerGbmpany’s domestic and international operationshie years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012. Revenue is based on thedoocatiere services are provided or goods are sald.t®the mobile nature of RigNet's
customer base and the services provided, the Comparks closely with its customers to ensure rigessel moves are closely monitored to
ensure location of service information is propedftected.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands
Domestic $ 91,247 $ 37,96¢ $ 36,937
Internationa 238,92 182,74 124,73:
Total $330,17- $220,71( $161,66¢
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The following table presents long-lived assetsifier Companys domestic and international operations as of Deeerdl, 2014 and 20

December 31

2014 2013
(in thousands
Domestic $ 48,11¢ $ 33,58¢
Internationa 79,25¢ 77,56
Total $127,37- $111,15:

Note 14—Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
The components of the income tax expense are:
Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

Current:
Federa $ 2,852 $ 954 $ 14
State 174 16€ 27F
Foreign 11,27: 9,24¢ 6,56
Total current 14,29¢ 10,36¢ 6,85
Deferred:
Federa 74C 764 2,371
State 61 (199 —
Foreign 301 (1,779 (4917)
Total deferrec 1,102 (1,209 1,88(
Income tax expens $15,40( $ 9,15¢ $8,73:

The following table sets forth the components abime (loss) before income taxes:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

Income (loss) before income taxe:
United State: $(10,68%) $(11,389) $(5,93¢)
Foreign 42,06¢ 37,09: 26,69(
$ 31,38 $ 25,70: $20,75¢
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Income tax expense differs from the amount comphyedpplying the statutory federal income tax @t85.0% to income (loss) before
taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

United States statutory federal income tax $10,98¢ $ 8,99¢ $ 7,264
Non-deductible expenst¢ 54¢ 41¢ 59¢€
Non-taxable financial income and expet (2,709 (1,71) —
Noncash compensatic (97) 472 —
U.S. tax on foreign earnings, net of tax cre 23C 70¢ (4,23
Changes in valuation allowanc 11,64¢ 4,00z 4,67¢
Tax credits (3,219 (2,827) (39)
State taxe 36 72 334
Effect of operating in foreign jurisdictior (9449 (1,670 (599
Changes in prior year estima (2,576 51 (289
Changes in uncertain tax bene 1,47¢ 59: 1,02:
Revisions of deferred tax accou (1,089 (77) (144)
Other 97 124 137
Income tax expens $15,40( $ 9,15¢ $ 8,73¢

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

The Company’s deferred tax position reflects thietave effects of the temporary differences betwiencarrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes ane thmounts used for income tax reporting. Significamponents of the deferred tax assets anc
liabilities are as follows:

December 31
2014 2013
(in thousands

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 484 $ 70€
Federal, state and foreign tax cre: 18,171 12,85¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 10,42¢ 7,62¢
Unrealized loss on foreign curren 8,21: —
Allowance for doubtful accoun 1,247 664
Accruals not currently deductib 1,281 54z
Stocl-based compensatic 1,04z 683
Intercompany intere: 93¢ —
Other 57 28
Valuation allowanct (31,169 (14,53))
Total deferred tax asse 10,70 8,57¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortizatic (2,699 (3,08¢)
Tax on foreign earning (1,509 (2,279
Other (12¢) (399
Total deferred tax liabilitie (4,32)) (4,756)
Net deferred tax asse $ 6,382 $ 3,8
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As of December 31, 2014, the items of deferredatgsets recognized through other comprehensive mcomrency translation
adjustment, include $5.6 million related to unreadi loss on functional currency of long-term intenpany note and a corresponding valuatiot
allowance amount of $5.6 million.

At December 31, 2014, on an as filed basis, the fizmy has state net operating loss carry forwar@ppfoximately $1 .6 million which
will expire in varying amounts beginning in 2028daoreign net operating losses of $1.5 million ethcan be carried forward for an unlimited
period. As of December 31, 2014, the Company, oasdiled basis, has U.S. domestic foreign taxitcedry forwards of $8.9 million which
begin expiring in varying amounts in 2018. The antaeported on an as filed basis can differ fromdmount recorded in the deferred tax
assets of the Company’s financial statements dtieetatilization or creation of assets in recordimgertain tax benefits.

In assessing deferred tax assets, the Companydeossihether a valuation allowance should be rexbfar some or all of the deferred
tax assets which may not be realized. The ultimedézation of deferred tax assets is dependent tipwgeneration of future taxable income
during the periods in which the temporary diffeesbecome deductible. Among other items, the Copnpansiders the scheduled reversal of
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxalleome and available tax planning strategies. ABefember 31, 2014, a valuation allowance o
$31.2 million had been recorded. $21.9 million tedeto US federal deferred tax assets and $9.8milelated to Norway assets that were not
more likely than not to be realized. While the Camyp expects to realize the remaining net defeara@ssets, changes in future taxable inc
or in tax laws may alter this expectation and reisuluture increases to the valuation allowance.

U.S. federal deferred income taxes, net of foréggncredits, of $1.5 million have been providedtios Qatar subsidiary for which the
undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2014e werlonger considered permanently reinvested @uen-controlling ownership issues. In
December of 2012, the Company restructured itsdarkegal entities. This restructuring provides @@mpany with a vehicle whereby cash
may be moved amongst the foreign entities effityeherefore, all other foreign subsidiaries’ wstdbuted earnings are considered
permanently reinvested and the Company removediefeyred tax liability previously recognized. Asécember 31, 2014, the Company ha:
not recognized $11.2 million in U.S. federal defertaxes, net of foreign tax credits.

Because the Company has asserted that all foreigisttibuted earnings, excluding Qatar’s earniags,permanently reinvested, no
provision is recorded for the deferred tax liagiliélated to other comprehensive income.

The Company has elected to include income taxe@laterest and penalties as a component of incarmexpense. As of December 31,
2014 and 2013, no amount has been included imttmarie tax payable accounts. The amount includéttome tax expense not related to
uncertain tax benefits for the year ending DecerBtie£2014 and 2013, is $0.1 million and $0.1 millicespectively.
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Uncertain Tax Benefits

The Company evaluates its tax positions and rezegronly tax benefits that, more likely than natl ke sustained upon examination,
including resolution of any related appeals ogéition processes, based on the technical meriteegdosition. The tax position is measured at
the largest amount of benefit that has a greatar §9.0% likelihood of being realized upon settlemAt December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
the Company’s uncertain tax benefits totaling $22iion, $19.2 million and $18.0 million, respeatiy, are reported as other liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the Conspgnogs unrecognized tax benefits are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands

Balance, January $13,22: $12,16: $10,73(
Additions for the current year t 2,66¢ 2,10z 1,86:
Additions related to prior yea — — 38¢€
Reductions related to settlements with taxing attilee — — —
Reductions related to lapses in statue of limitest (389 (529 (230
Reductions related to prior yee (52 (519 (68€)

Balance, December 3 $15,45¢ $13,22: $12,16:

As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s gross ugrazed tax benefits which would impact the anndi@otive tax rate upon
recognition were $15.5 million. In addition, asécember 31, 2014, the Company has recorded redassds, net of a valuation allowance of
$6.4 million. The related asset might not be reczephin the same period as the contingent taxliigfaind like interest and penalties does havs
an impact on the annual effective tax rate. The @ recognized interest and penalties relatethteangnized tax benefits in income tax
expense. As of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 20&Z¢dmpany has accrued penalties and interest ob@pmately $7.3 million, $6.0 million
and $5.9 million, respectively. The Company hasgeized $1.3 million, $0.1 million and $1.2 milliar interest and penalties in income tax
expense for the years ended December 31, 2014,8@13012, respectively. To the extent interestmahlties are not assessed with respect
to uncertain tax positions, accruals will be reduand reflected as a reduction to income tax ex@ens

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, and various states and forgigisdictions. Due to net operating
losses, all of the Company’s federal filings ait stibject to tax examinations. With few excepspthe Company is no longer subject to the
foreign income tax examinations by tax authorifarsyears before 2004.

F-33



Table of Contents

RIGNET, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (C ONTINUED)

Note 15—Supplemental Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Summarized quarterly supplemental consolidatedhfirz information for 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

2014 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3 December 3.
(in thousands, except per share d

Revenue $75,04: $80,65¢ $ 87,81¢ $ 86,65¢

Operating incom: $ 5,35: $ 9,80: $ 11,70: $ 7,22¢

Net income $ 2,30¢ $ 5,74¢ $ 5,93 $ 1,997

Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. common ktmdders $ 2,19t $ 5,667 $ 5,85i $ 1,91¢
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, lmengon

stockholders, bas| $ 0.1: $ 0.32 $ 0.34 $ 0.11
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, lmengon

stockholders, dilute $ 0.1 $ 0.3] $ 0.3: $ 0.11

Weighted average shares outstanding, t 17,267 17,49( 17,44: 17,45¢

Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 17,99: 18,10¢ 17,981 17,87«

2013 Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 3l December 3.
(in thousands, except per share d

Revenue $52,81¢ $51,32¢ $ 56,85¢ $ 59,707

Operating incom: $ 6,18( $ 7,594 $ 6,29 $ 8,15¢

Net income $ 3,77¢ $ 4,91¢ $ 2,407 $ 5,447

Net income attributable to RigNet, Inc. common ktadders $ 3,73¢ $ 4,861 $ 2,34] $ 5,39
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, lmengon

stockholders, bas| $ 0.2/ $ 0.3( $ 0.1 $ 0.31
Net income per share attributable to RigNet, lmengon

stockholders, dilute $ 0.27 $ 0.2¢ $ 0.1z $ 0.3C

Weighted average shares outstanding, t 15,75¢ 15,96 16,14¢ 17,19(

Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 17,321 17,48( 17,63( 17,79:

Note 16—Employee Benefits

RigNet maintains a 401(k) plan pursuant to whidbilele employees may make contributions througlag @l deduction.
We make matching cash contributions of 100% of eawployee’s contribution up to 2.0% of that empkggeeligible compensation and 50%
of each employee’s contribution between 2% and 6%uch employee’s eligible compensation, up tonttaimum amount permitted by law.
RigNet incurred expense of $0.6 million for the yeaded December 31, 2014 for employer contribgtion

Note 17—Subsequent Events—Cost Reduction Plan

On February 19, 2015, the Company announced an@soeallocation plan (the plan) to vacate and ielte redundant
facilities and eliminate certain excess positionmprily associated with the corporate function amthe North America Land reporting unit
within our Western Hemisphere segment. The Comjmuagdertaking the plan to reduce costs and imptieeeCompany’s competitive
position. In the first quarter of 2015, the Compampects to incur priax expense of approximately $6.2 million relatedhte plan. These co:
include ceasing the use of and vacating 6 Compaciiitfes and the lay-off of 59 employees.
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Exhibit 10.17
TENTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE
This Tenth Amendment to Lease (“Amendmendgted for reference purposes only Ad8Mhttached to and becomes a part o

Lease between KWI Ashford Westchase Buildings,,laPelaware limited partnershifiiereinafter called “Landlord”) and Rignet, Inc.,
(hereinafter called “Tenant”).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, under that certain lease agreement (teask”) dated June 17, 2003, Landlord leased torifamal Tenant leased from
Landlord office space consisting of approximately38 rentable square feet in the office buildingwn as Ashford Crossing Il located at 1!
South Dairy Ashford, Houston, Texas (“Leased Presfisfor a term of Fortyone (41) months ending December 31, 2006 and wasded by
First Amendment to Lease dated September 19, 20@8ein Tenant expanded by an additional 1,432 béntxjuare feet for a total of 5,070
rentable square feet; and, was amended by Secomtdment to Lease dated October 3, 2005 whereinnfexpanded by an additional 2,363
rentable square feet known as Suite 570; and, masded by Third Amendment to Lease dated JanuarQI® wherein Tenant relocated to
Suite 300 and expanded by 4,339 rentable squareafed, was amended by Fourth Amendment to Leateel dédarch 7, 2006 wherein Tenant
expanded by an additional 928 rentable squarekfemtin as Suite 140 and 355 rentable square feet timial of 13,055 rentable square feet;
and, was amended by Fifth Amendment to Lease datee 19, 2006 wherein Tenant amortized additianptévements into the Base Rent;
and, was amended by Sixth Amendment to Lease deember 5, 2009 wherein Tenant expanded by ariiaddi 2,151 rentable square feet
for a total of 15,206 rentable square feet; and; &aaended by Seventh Amendment to Lease dated Decdi, 2010 wherein Tenant
expanded by an additional 4,299 rentable squatddea total of 19,505 rentable square feet; avak amended by Eighth Amendment to
Lease dated October 15, 2012, wherein Tenant exjlang an additional 9,669 rentable square feed fotal of 29,174 rentable square feet
that certain Ninth Amendment to Lease dated Seperp2013 whereas the Leased Premises was expand@é@11 square feet of net
rentable area, (collectively defined as the “LeAgeement”).

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend saaké as set forth herein; and,

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS MUTUALLY COVENANTED AND AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

(1) LEASED PREMISES . Effective September 1, 2015, the Leased Premsjzesified in Section 1.0&f the Lease and Paragraph
the Ninth Amendment to Lease, consists of approtein@4,611 rentable square feet (“Combined LeasenBBes”), as collectively
shown on Exhibit A attached here

(2) TERM . Landlord and Tenant mutually agree the lease sral be extended for an additional thirty six)(B@®nths commencing
September 1, 201" Commencement D&").

(3) BASE RENTAL . Effective September 1, 2015, the Base Rentah®iCombined Lease Premises shall be as foll

Base Rental Schedul

Time Perioc # Months  Rate/RSF Rent/Montt RSF

09/01/15 08/31/1¢ 12 $ 19.0C $54,800.7! 34,61:
09/01/16 08/31/1° 12 $ 19.5( $56,242.8 34,61:
09/01/17 08/31/1¢ 12 $ 20.0C $57,685.0 34,61

(4) OPERATING EXPENSE BASE . The Expense Stop specified in Section 1.12 of tese shall be amended to the actual opet
expenses for Calendar year 20“Base Year 201") grossed up to reflect 95% occupar
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(6)

(7)

(8)

(8)

RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL . As long as Tenant is not in default and Tenastrie been in monetary default two (2) times

during the term then Tenant shall have an ongagtg of first refusal (‘“ROFR”) to lease up to 9,56Quare feet on the first

(1st) floor; provided, however, that Landlord shadl obligated and entitled to comply with any rigbf existing tenants. Tenant's
right of first refusal may be exercised only upantlord’s presentation to Tenant of a third partffer (“Offer”) to lease ROFR
space containing the relevant terms satisfactohatwllord. Upon receipt of such Offer, Tenant shalWe seven (7) days in whict
accept or reject said Offer (a failure to respoirithiv said period shall be deemed a rejecti

Should Tenant reject said Offer, Landlord shaltddeeved of any further rights of first offer; sHdurenant accept said Offer,
Landlord will within five (5) business days, prepan amendment to the Lease (the “Amendment”)atifig the third partys terms
and Tenant will execute the Amendment within teB) @ays following the receipt of such Amendment.

The commencement date of the ROFR space shalebeattier of (i) the third party’s commencemeniedat (i) thirty (30) days
after the execution of the Amendment.

This ROFR shall (a) be subject to the Landlord’grapal of Tenant’s current financial conditionsTa&hant being that of the same
or better quality as of the date of the signinghef Lease and (b) shall not be valid if Tenantshdseased or assigned any portiol
the Leased Premises. Landlord agrees to offer @eRRpremises on the first floor at the same rath@asutlined herein with a
tenant improvement allowance of $15.00 per squaot The allowance shall be pro-rated based onetfmaining term of the lease
at the time of Tenant’s exercise of said right.

LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS . Landlord shall tender and Tenant shall accepCiimbined Leased Premises “AS-1S”
CONDITION, with all FAULTS, and without any warrantexpress, implied, or statutory (including impliwarranties of
habitability, suitability, condition, and fitnessrfa particular purpose, all of which are herelscldiimed).

Landlord agrees to provide Tenant with an allowasfc®10.00 per square foot which shall be usednfiprovements to the
Combined Premises. Tenant shall have the rightilieeuthe $10.00 per RSF at any time during thenT.dn the event Tenant
utilizes the $10.00 per RSF allowance within thistfeighteen (18) months of the Term and then €kecterminate the lease, Ten
shall reimburse the Landlord the unamortized portibthe allowance. In addition, Tenant shall htheeright to cross-utilize the
allowance for the Combined Leased Premises tovarg&xpansion space Tenant may elect to leasenwiftiBuilding at its
option. Landlord and Tenant mutual agree the Telmptovement Allowance may not be applied to Teation Penalty Fee.

TERMINATION OPTION : Tenant shall have a one-time option to termitia¢el ease with a penalty consisting of unamortized
tenant improvement and leasing commissions plusmgh of Base Rent (“Termination Penalty Fee”}tlumlast day of the
eighteenth (18th) month of the term (“Terminatioat®). Tenant will have the right to terminate thease with respect to the entire
Premises (“Termination Option”) upon not less thare (9) months prior written notice to LandlorfiTEnant does not exercise its
option to terminate upon the Termination Date, thenant will have waived its right to terminate ahd Lease will remain in full
force and effect. Payment of the penalty shall loe &hd payable simultaneously with Tenant’s writtetice of intent to terminate
or Tenar's termination rights shall be null and vc

CONFIDENTIALITY. Tenant shall not, at any time either during or sgjpent to the negotiations of a Lease and/or Lease
Amendment between Landlord and Tenant, discloseygoerson or entity any of the contents of theotiaions between Landlord
and Tenant, if a Lease and/or Lease Amendmentéseshinto between Landlord and Tenant, any terfiiseolease

BROKERS. Tenant warrants that it has had no dealings withraal estate broker or agent in connection withrtbgotiation of
this Amendment except MRIO, Inc. (on behalf of tamdlord) and Cushman & Wakefield (on behalf of Tremant), and that it
knows of no other real este
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brokers or agents who are or might be entitledd¢oramission in connection with this Amendment. Treregrees to indemnify and
hold harmless Landlord from and against any ligbdr claim arising in respect to any other brol@ragents claiming a
commission in connection with this Amendment thiodgnant. Landlord agrees to pay Tenant's brol@mamission based on a
separate agreeme

(9) AUTHORITY . Tenant and each person signing this Amendment balbef Tenant represent to Landlord as followsTgnant is
a duly formed and validly existing corporation unthe laws of the State of Delaware, (ii) Tenarg had is qualified to do busine
in Texas, (iii) Tenant has the full right and authoto enter into this Amendment, and (iv) eachspa signing on behalf of Tenant
was and continues to be authorized to dc

(10) DEFINED TERMS . All terms not otherwise defined herein shall hawe $ame meaning assigned to them in the Lease.

(11) RATIFICATION OF LEASE . Except as amended hereby, the Lease shall reméill force and effect in accordance with the
terms and is hereby ratified. In the event of afladrbetween the Lease and this Amendment, thissAdment shall contrc

(12) NO REPRESENTATIONS. Landlord and Landlord’s agents have made no reptasens or promises, express or implied, in
connection with this Amendment except as expresstyorth herein

(13) ENTIRE AGREEMENT . This Amendment together with the Lease contalinsf éhe agreements of the parties hereto witipees
to any matter covered or mentioned in this Amendmethe Lease, and no prior agreement, undersigrati representation pertaining to
any such matter shall be effective for any purpose.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedAlmendment as of the date first above written. Exespspecifically herein
amended, all other terms and conditions of the &shsll remain in full force and effect.

LANDLORD: TENANT :

KWI Ashford Westchase Buildings, L.P., a Delawaneited Rignet, Inc.
partnershif

By: KWI Ashford Westchase General Partner, L.L.Qedaware
limited liability company, Its general partr

By: Kennedy Wilson Austin, Inc., Its Agent By: /s/ Marty Jimmerson

/sl Stephen A Pyhrr Marty Jimmerson SVP & CFO

Stephen A. Pyht
Vice Presiden

Date: 1/12/2015 Date: 1/12/2015
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EXHIBIT A

Lease Premises — 29,174 NRA-Level 3
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Lease Premises — 5437 NRA-Level 2

1880 DAIRY ASHFORD
LEVEL D2




ComPetro Communications Holdings, L.L.C.
ComPetro Communications, L.L.C.

Competro Comunicacdes Holdings do Brasil Ltda
Countryflow Limited

LandTel Communications, L.L.C.

LandTel, Inc.

Munaicom Limited Liability Partnership

Nessco Invsat Limite
Nessco Group Holding
OilCamp UK Limited

RigNet Australia Pty Ltd

RigNet BRN Sdn Bhd.

RigNet (CA), Inc.

RigNet Company for Communications
RigNet E. H. Holding Company AS
RigNet EIS, Inc.

RigNet Global Holdings

RigNet Holdings L.L.C.

RigNet Luxembourg Holdings S. ar.l.
RigNet de Mexico S de R.L.
RigNet Middle East LLC

RigNet Mobile Solutions Limited
RigNet Newco, Inc.

RigNet Pte Ltd

RigNet Qatar W.L.L.

RigNet Satcom, Inc.

RigNet Sdn Bhd.

RigNet Servicos de Telecoming¢dcacoes Brasil Ltda.

RigNet Scotland Limited

RigNet UK Holdings Limited

RigNet UK Limited

RNet Properties, L.L.C.

RNSAT Servicos de Mexico S de R.L.

Shabakat Rafedain Al Iraq Al Jadeed for Trade in
Communication Equipment and Devices LLC.

RigNet, Inc. Subsidiaries

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-171278 on Form S-8Registration Statement No. 333-
178506 on Form S-3, of our report dated March 252@elating to the consolidated financial statetmef RigNet, Inc. and subsidiaries (the

“Company”), and the effectiveness of the Compaimtsrnal control over financial reporting, appearin the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
RigNet, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 2, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark Slaughter, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of RigNet, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or enéttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieding with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andli@ periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (a:
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and hay

a. designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b. designed such internal control over financigbréing, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

C. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisclosure controls and procedures and presentiaisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. disclosed in this report any change in the Remi§s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regyigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuyadrig that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyea, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetazaimmittee of the Registrant’s Board of Directws persons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizeé report financial
information; anc

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

By: /sl MARK SLAUGHTER
Mark Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Date: March 2, 2015



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Martin Jimmerson, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of RigNet, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or enéttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieding with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andli@ periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (a:
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and hay

a. designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

b. designed such internal control over financigbréing, or caused such internal control over faiakhreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataace with generally accepted accounting princij

C. evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisclosure controls and procedures and presentiaisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period coumyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. disclosed in this report any change in the Remi§s internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regyigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuyadrig that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyea, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetazaimmittee of the Registrant’s Board of Directws persons performing the
equivalent functions)

a. all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizeé report financial
information; anc

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

By: /s/ MARTIN JIMMERSON
Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office

Date: March 2, 2015



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual ReparForm 10-K for the period ended December 31, Z04d with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8&ptrMark Slaughter, Chief Executive Officer ofdhet, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby

certify, to my knowledge, that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of 1
Company.

Date: March 2, 2015 /sl MARK SLAUGHTER
Mark Slaughte
Chief Executive Officer and Preside




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
OF RIGNET, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the accompanying Annual ReparForm 10-K for the period ended December 31, Z04d with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8parMartin Jimmerson, Chief Financial Officer BigNet, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby

certify, to my knowledge, that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of 1
Company.

Date: March 2, 2015 /s MARTIN JIMMERSON
Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 99.1

RigNet, Inc.

R ! | .,,[ ot 1880 S. Dairy Ashford
g L A" N Suite 300

: 3 Houston, TX 77077
Www.rig.net

February 14, 2015

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL

Spears & Associates, Inc.
8908 S. Yale, Suite 440
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74137

Re: Consent to Use of Data
Dear Sir or Madam:

RigNet, Inc. (“RigNet”) requests your consent tedn its annual report on form ¥0and any amendments thereto, certain data cort
in the December 201B3rilling and Production Outlook Furthermore, we also request to cite Spears &eéiages, Inc. as the source of such
data.

If this is acceptable, please indicate your conseour use of the data by countersigning thiete®lease email or fax the executed
consent to Martin Jimmerson at (281) 674-0101 atyrjanmerson@rig.net, and return the original axed consent to Martin Jimmerson at
1880 S. Dairy Ashford, Suite 300, Houston, Texa3777 Please call the undersigned at (281) 674-@idttBany questions you may have.
Given the urgency of this request, your prompt attien to this matter is greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,
RigNet, Inc.
/s/ Martin Jimmerson

Martin Jimmersor
Chief Financial Office

CONSENT GRANTEL
SPEARS & ASSOCIATES, INC

By: /s/ John Spears
Name: John Spear

Title:  Presiden
Date: February 28, 201

1880 SOUTH DAIRY ASHFORD, SUITE 300, HOUSTON, TEXA3077 PHONE 281.674.0100 FAX 281.674.0101
http://www.rig.net



